O
S
€23

Leicester
City Council

MEETING OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMISSION

DATE: TUESDAY, 12 NOVEMBER 2024

TIME: 5:30 pm

PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles
Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ

Members of the Committee

Councillor O'Neill (Chair)
Councillor Zaman (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Bajaj, Gopal, Gregg, Halford, Modhwadia and Waddington

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider
the items of business listed overleaf.

For Monitoring Officer

Officer contacts:

Georgia Humby (Senior Governance Officer) and Kirsty Wootton (Governance Officer),
e-mail: committees@leicester.gov.uk
Leicester City Council, 3rd Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ



Information for members of the public
Attending meetings and access to information

You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, City Mayor &
Executive Public Briefing and Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes. On
occasion however, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in private.

Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’s website
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, from the Council’'s Customer Service Centre or by contacting us
using the details below.

Making meetings accessible to all

Wheelchair access — Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically.

Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Governance Services Officer
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability).

Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms. Please speak to the
Governance Services Officer using the details below.

Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including
social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Governance Services.

If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant
Governance Services Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public
gallery etc..

The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’'s policy is to encourage public interest and
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked:

to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption;

to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided;

where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting;

where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they
may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed.

AN NN

Further information

If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact:
Georgia.Humby@leicester.gov.uk and Kirsty.Wootton@leicester.gov.uk of Governance
Services. Alternatively, email committees@leicester.gov.uk, or call in at City Hall.

For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151.


http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/

PUBLIC SESSION

AGENDA

FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION

If the emergency alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building immediately by the
nearest available fire exit and proceed to the area outside the Ramada Encore Hotel
on Charles Street as directed by Governance Services staff. Further instructions will
then be given.

1.  WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To issue a welcome to those present, and to confirm if there are any apologies
for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

Members will be asked to declare any interests they may have in the business
to be discussed.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING Appendix A

The minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Commission held on 27
August 2024 have been circulated, and Members will be asked to confirm them
as a correct record.

4. CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chair is invited to make any announcements as they see fit.

5. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND
STATEMENTS OF CASE

Any questions, representations and statements of case submitted in
accordance with the Council’s procedures will be reported.

6. PETITIONS
Any petitions received in accordance with Council procedures will be reported.

7. HOMELESSNESS AND COMPLEX NEEDS INQUIRY Appendix B
DAY FINDINGS

The Chair submits a report to present the findings of the Joint Task Group of
the Housing Scrutiny Commission and Public Health & Health Integration
Scrutiny Commission’s work in examining services surrounding homelessness
and complex needs in Leicester.



10.

11.

SELECTIVE LICENSING Appendix C

The Director of Neighbourhoods and Environmental Services submits a
presentation to update the Commission on the selective licensing scheme.

HOUSING SAFETY Appendix D

The Director of Housing submits a report to update the Commission on how the
division manage building safety in high-risk blocks that are in scope of the
Building Safety Act.

WORK PROGRAMME Appendix E

Members of the Commission will be asked to consider the work programme
and make suggestions for additional items as it considers necessary.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS



O ltem 3

Coo

o

Leicester
City Council

Minutes of the Meeting of the
HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held: TUESDAY, 27 AUGUST 2024 at 5:30 pm

PRESENT:

Councillor O'Neill (Chair)
Councillor Zaman (Vice Chair)

Councillor Bajaj Councillor Gregg
Councillor Gopal Councillor Halford
Councillor Modhwadia
Councillor Waddington

In Attendance

Deputy City Mayor, Councillor Cutkelvin — Housing and Neighbourhoods

* % % * * * % %

85. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
It was noted that were no apologies for absence.

86. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The Chair asked members of the commission to declare any interests for which there
were none.

87. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Chair highlighted that most additional information requested at the previous
meeting had been circulated and further information would follow and the formal

recommendation was being considered by officers.

It was further noted that the minutes for the meeting on 11 July 2024 were included
within the papers and the Chair asked Members for comments.

AGREED:

e |t was agreed that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2024 were a true
and accurate record.



88.

89.

90.

91.

CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chair highlighted that following discussions at the previous meeting about the
Council’s acquisition and new build programme, a site visit had been arranged for the
Commission to attend the Zip building and members were reminded to confirm if they
were able to attend.

It was further highlighted by the Chair that information regarding the proposed inquiry
day had been circulated to Members across the Housing and Public Health & Health
Integration Scrutiny Commissions and volunteers were being sought to from a task
group to look in more detail at health services for homeless individuals, particularly
with complex needs.

QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND STATEMENTS OF CASE
It was noted that none had been received.

PETITIONS

It was noted that none had been received.

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE SERVICE PERFORMANCE UPDATE
The Head of Service presented the item in which it was noted that:

e Work has been focussed over recent years to improve voids performance to
ensure properties are available for let with significant improvements realised
and a reduction in the number of voids held at any one time.

e Resources are being prioritised to respond to ongoing issues around damp and
mould given the heightened awareness following the tragic death of Awaab
Ishak. A damp and mould policy has been developed with cross divisional
working and a commitment as a landlord to deal swiftly with mould. Greater
allocation of resource to ensure inspections are undertaken quicker to assess
and identify any works has resulted in some increased work in other areas.
Measures to tackle damp and mould include humidity tracking, dehumidifiers
and mould resistant paint.

e Repairs were completed within target time for 85% of cases, although key
performance indicators of day-to-day responsive repairs are not meeting set
targets. There has been an increase in repairs and issues with resource to
undertake works has been a challenge. Recruitment in craft and trade
industries can be seen nationally and across public and private sectors. The
service have also struggled with the backlog that was created during the
pandemic where only emergency repairs were permitted, and a further spike
was caused by the cyber attack that prevented access to systems to undertake
day-to-day repairs.

¢ Improvements have continued with emergency repairs. Tenants are more
educated on what constitutes a genuine emergency repair to ensure a better
service is provided and responding quicker where necessary.

e The gas servicing team continue to work to ensure almost 100% compliance
with meeting legal requirements for gas safety checks. The team have
supported the district heating meter programme, assisting with ensuring
systems are operating as efficiently as possible for tenants to pay for what is



needed. Three new gas engineers have been appointed through the internal
apprenticeship programme and have also been successful in external
recruitment.

Recruitment continues to be a challenge with twenty vacancies. Issues also
persist that when individuals are recruited, other officers may be promoted or
moving within the division creating vacant posts again. The service is working
with Human Resources to identify how to broaden and attract talent. The
apprenticeship programme has been expanded from 30 to 40, with an intention
of training, recruiting and retaining individuals.

Materials are required to fulfil repairs and the service have advertised a tender
for an inventory management system to modernise stores. Also tendering for
materials framework for core items to be delivered and provide better
assurance that stock will be available in aa shorter timeframe to allow
appointments to be booked to complete repairs and provide a more efficient
service.

A project group is working across the repairs service to identify improvements,
including better van stock to enable repair completion on first time visit and
grouping works together to prevent multiple visits etc.

In response to questions and comments from Members, it was noted that:

Housing stock affected by damp and mould is a small proportion at around 3-
5%. The team have reviewed information and advice available on our website
and work with public health and neighbourhoods to ensure tenants and those
in the private rented sector are educated. The service is also working
proactively to ensure officer are able to identify and report early signs of damp
and mould when undertaking work to better understand our housing stock and
intervene earlier. It was agreed that information can be shared with the
commission on update communication and options for when assessing a
property.

The pandemic had an impact on the performance of the repairs service, but the
main challenge continues to be recruitment issues. All roles are job evaluated
and governed by the local authority pay structure, but additional council
employee benefits are promoted to incentivise and attract candidates. The
Council have simplified the recruitment process as it was recognised that
trades may not follow the traditional recruitment route of completing forms. The
service work with colleges and attend job fairs to attract talent but skill
shortages can be seen nationally across construction and trade sectors, with
contractors also highlighting they are unable to complete additional requested
due to limited resource.

The service work with adult social care and tenancy management as well as
liaising directly with tenants to identify and prioritise those who are vulnerable.
If tenants are known to be vulnerable, they will be allocated priority one for
works to be completed within fourteen day whereas priority two requires works
to be completed within eight weeks. Timeframes are defined by the policy but
cases can be escalated and often completed quicker where concerns are
raised and vulnerabilities known.

A service improvement plan was created to address performance for voids
which includes various factors for efficiencies. This includes undertaking better
surveys initially to identify works needed, working with tenancy management to
ensure tenants are aware of their responsibilities before handing the keys
back, strengthening cross service working and capital investment. The repairs
pledge also allow tenants the opportunity to move into a void quicker by
completing works to ensure safe and other works within six weeks at a



92.

convenient time for the tenants.

e Repairs are categorised when raised for timeframe to be completed, such as
within 24hours, 14working days and a year etc. Key performance indicators are
measured for whether repairs are completed in their allocated category
timeframe.

e Various determinants can impact whether a repair is deemed an emergency or
not. Call agents are able to provide advice to tenants and discuss solutions for
cases.

e A supply of core radiator stock that is regularly used is stored by the service
but there are so many different types and sizes of radiators that it would not be
possible to store all types fitted across the housing stock. It would not be
feasible to replace all radiators with a standard solution as they would have
been determined for appropriateness of room size, type of building etc.

e The service has around 300 craft staff and management support. There are
currently 20 vacancies and therefore a significant shortage of skills to be able
to undertake work per day, week, year etc.

e The centralised planning team work more efficiently to be able to respond to
damp and mould or complex repair cases. Previously, teams would work in silo
to complete repairs but now work together to ensure teams are aligned and
multiple tasks booked together to provide a streamlined process and better
service.

It was highlighted that the repairs and maintenance service is for council owned
housing stock although the private rented sector strategy includes standards that can
be enforced, and an item is listed on the work programme for further discussion at a
future meeting.

AGREED:

e The Commission noted the report.
e Additional information to be circulated.

HOMELESSNESS SERVICES UPDATE

The Chair noted that the report covers aspects that will be the focus for further
discussed as part of the task group inquiry day and therefore enables an introductory
discussion on the matter.

The report was presented by the Heads of Service in which it was noted that:

e |tis an extremely challenging time with rising levels of homelessness seen
locally and nationally. The Council declared a housing crisis in November 2022
due to the lack of affordable homes in the city which impacts homelessness as
well as other factors such as the cost-of-living crisis.

e The report sets out data and financial pressures on the service. An addition
£1m funding was allocated in 2023/24 and further £10m for 2024/25 to help
with the additional demand but consequently puts greater pressure on
balancing the budget.

e The number of households approaching services due to risk of becoming
homeless is at unprecedented levels with an 11% increase from 2022/23 to
2023/24, equating to around an extra 500 contacts. This is often a result of
being asked to leave private rented sector accommodation or family homes.
The fast-track national asylum support service is also impacting homelessness
services where individuals are granted the right to remain and required to leave

4



Home Office accommodation.

e Pressures on homelessness services has resulted in increased numbers of
individuals and families in temporary accommodation. This includes 520
families, of which 262 were in bed and breakfast or hotel accommodation, and
many exceeding six weeks as well as 552 individuals. Hotel or bed and
breakfast accommodation is seen as a last resort option as it is acknowledged
not to be ideal but increasing demand sometimes requires this provision. Full
Council approved £45m funding to purchase 224 properties to alleviate
pressures in temporary accommaodation.

e Partnership working is ongoing with a range of agencies working internally and
externally to provide a multi-agency approach to services to support individuals
and families at risk of homelessness and/or when homeless.

e A homelessness and rough sleeping action plan was produced in conjunction
with partners and published in December 2023. It is an agile action plan to
respond to emerging issues with four main areas, including prevention,
intervention, recovery and partnership working. The aim is to work collectively
to enhance service provision to prevent rough sleeping and homelessness.

Members noted the difficulties and pressures services are enduring and thanked
officers for their ongoing work and report. In response to questions and comments
from Members, it was noted that:

e Leicester's Homelessness Charter is working to bring organisations and
individuals together to address homelessness in the city. Successful events
have been hosted to inform officers and share resources on how service users
can navigate available services. Coffee mornings are also hosted at John
Lewis to share information and resources.

e Communication is a priority within the action plan for the first year to support
the delivery of the homelessness and rough sleeper strategy. It is intended to
improve communication to ensure service users know how to access services
and share information with partners by working with the Homelessness
Charter.

¢ Following the implementation of the streamlined asylum process, around 670
households received a discontinuation notice and sought services from the
Council until April 2024. A further 109 households, equating to around 8 cases
per week, have sought services since May 2024. The Deputy City Mayor for
Housing and Neighbourhoods along with the Deputy City Mayor for Social
Care, Health and Community Safety continue to engage with the Home Office
and seek settlement funding, particularly due to the disparity in schemes.

e Full Council approved £45m funding to acquire additional properties to improve
pathways for more suitable accommodation for households facing
homelessness and prevent use of bed and breakfast accommodation. The
aspiration is to return to a situation where no families are in temporary
accommodation, but economic pressures and housing crisis are likely to
require additional investment into temporary accommodation.

e The service is always keen to learn and liaise with homeless advisors on good
practice in other areas. Data for Leeds indicated 53 rough sleeper and 2,000
families currently in temporary accommodation and officers requested Clir
Waddington share details of recent meetings to speak about their approach to
avoid use of bed and breakfast accommodation.

e Individuals may rough sleep in the city if they are homeless but there are also
individuals who are entrenched in street lifestyles and choose to rough sleep. A
range of services are available, and teams go out 7 days a week and early
mornings to offer support. Services will ensure the appropriate support is



93.

provided to individuals to stabilise recovery and engage relevant organisations.
Accommodation is available for individuals who choose to come and go if they
are not ready to move to settled accommodation and officers will continue to
work and support tenants and if alterations are required ensure the most
appropriate support is in place to meet needs. It was agreed that further
information would be provided regarding the impact of services.

Occupation of properties to ensure best use of stock has been reviewed but
tenants cannot be forced to downsize. Consideration has also been given
previously to use of spare room in properties but this would require further
thought, particularly surrounding safeguarding.

The service has a bed and breakfast elimination plan that is monitored weekly
and officers work with children services and public health to ensure families
with children are receiving the right support. It is a government target for
families to not reside in temporary accommodation for longer than six weeks
but many local authorities across the country are unable to find suitable
alternative accommodation with many families waiting months. It was agreed
that further information would be provided on current figures.

The Department for Work and Pensions pay eligible individuals in the private
rented sector a set amount determined by the local housing allowance which is
set by government. The private rented sector team work to sustain tenancies
and schemes are available for landlords to continue with tenancies. It was
agreed that details of the schemes would be circulated.

The Director of Housing provided assurance that the City Mayor had written to
Ministers on two occasions regarding the additional pressures of asylum seekers
needing support for accommodation when the outcome of their case is positive and
agreed that a further letter could be written to new Ministers. It was also noted that the
Chief Operating Officer is the East Midlands representative and meets directly with
Ministers to raise issues.

AGREED:

The Commission noted the report.

Additional information to be circulated to Members.

The Commission request that a letter be sent to Ministers regarding asylum
cases.

The Commission request that officers explore and consider the Leeds
temporary accommodation model in relation to bed and breakfast.

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT & ADAPTATIONS UPDATE

The Head of Service presented the report, and it was noted that:

The process to determine the need for adaptations is carried out by
occupational therapist in the social care and education division. They will
conduct an assessment of the individuals needs to identify the level of support
and required adaptations.

Adaptions required for council tenants and under £1k will be completed by the
housing division on equal priority. Adaptations over £1k, such as stair lifts and
shower rooms etc. will be completed in priority order. The occupational
therapist will allocate points depending on circumstances, but end of life and
life limiting cases are often highest priority.

The order to complete adaptations is continuously changing dependent on
priority and therefore not determined by a waiting list. The service aims to work

6



as quickly as possible to ensure all adaptations are met and those with least
priority also have work completed to meet their needs.

The Council is committed to delivering adaptations to meet the needs or
tenants and has allocated £1.2m-£1.3m each year from the Housing Revenue
Account over recent years. This includes funding provision for the adapt-to-let
scheme where properties are identified to be able to be reconfigured to be
adapted or where they are currently partially adapted and can be made fully
adapted.

The housing build programme commits to deliver 10% of new builds that meet
full wheelchair standards and planning gain also requires adapted properties to
be delivered through private sector developments.

The disabled facilities grant is available to deliver adaptations for non-council
tenants although this is a means tested fund and government limit contributions
with a cap of £30k. For individuals who live in private rented accommodation,
housing association properties or owner-occupied homes, the social care and
education division will commission minor adaptations to be completed directly
and major works can be self-fund or applications can be made to the disabled
facilities grant.

The government have allocated £1.861m million in recent years and the
Council have contributed to increase the budget to enable more people to
receive financial support to adaptations.

Customer feedback is usually positive when adaptations are completed but the
benefits and impacts have not always been identified. A feedback
questionnaire has therefore recently been implemented to gather data and
further information can be shared with the Commission on the impact in future.
An Adaptation Strategy is being developed and key themes have been
identified. It is intended to share for consultation in the coming months and
further information will be shared with the Commission.

In response to questions and comments from Members, it was noted that:

Prior to adaptations taking place, tenants are required to sign to acknowledge
the works to be completed to meet their needs. Work will be assessed by
housing officers from a technical perspective to ensure it meets the required
specification and the occupation therapist is required to assess and agree to
sign off the adaptation to ensure if meets the tenants’ requirements. If a tenant
is not satisfied with the completed work, the occupational therapist will deal
with the complaint and can be escalated to the Ombudsman.

Adaptions for council tenants will be undertaken by in-house craft teams or a
council procured contractor. For adaptions utilising the disabled facilities grant,
the council can act as an agency service to appoint a contractor, or an
individual can identify and appoint an independent contractor that meet
conditions.

An extension to a property is usually determined as necessary where an
individual requires ground floor living and where the occupational therapist has
determined the current footprint of the property cannot be reconfigured to meet
the individuals needs.

The Housing Revenue Account budget is monitored and reviewed periodically.
On current analysis it is likely that actual spend for 2024/25 will be similar to
recent years.

A breakdown of total wheelchair accessible new build properties as part of the
councils housing acquisition and new build programme is available and was
agreed to be shared.

A dashboard is used to highlight properties that have been adapted and



94.

therefore ineligible for the right to buy scheme. It was agreed that further
information would be provided to the number of properties and consideration
on how to ensure tenants are informed when adaptions are being considered.

Members were reminded to share casework with officers directly to investigate.
AGREED:

e The Commission noted the report.

e Additional information be circulated.

e Further update to be provided on feedback of the impact adaptations have and
the development of the adaptations strategy.

WHO GETS SOCIAL HOUSING?
The Head of Service presented the report, and it was noted that:

e The report covers the period 2023-24, and the snapshot provided was accurate
on 1 April 2024. The number of households on the register at that time was
6682 which was an 11% increase compared to the previous year.

e Overcrowding remained the biggest cause for joining the register.
Overcrowded households account for 58% of the applications on the register,
which was consistent with the previous year. The number of statutory and
critically overcrowded households has increased by 24% from 197 to 245 in the
last 12 months.

e The Easymove scheme was introduced in May 2023 to help address
overcrowding. This has worked well, successfully managing 9 mutual
exchanges and saved £63,000 in associated costs. The target this year is 10
mutual exchanges and by the end of July 2024, 4 mutual exchanges had
occurred so it is hoped that the target will be surpassed.

e The need for all type of housing is high and demand outstrips supply. The
highest need is for 2-bedroom accommodation — 33% of those on the register
require this housing. Demand for houses is higher than that for flats or
maisonettes so there was a lower wait for this type of accommodation.

¢ Housing need in all areas of the city is high, but needs are highest in Abbey
Ward, Wycliffe Ward and Castle Ward where the highest proportion of people
on the housing register are awarded the highest priority (Band 1). The lowest
need is in Knighton Ward and Aylestone Wards, with the lowest proportion of
people on the housing register awarded Band 1.

e Housing demand differs to housing need. This is where people want to live and
the bidding patterns show that Western, Braunstone Park & Rowley Fields and
Eyres Monsell have highest demand, but the housing needs in the area are
lower. It was highlighted that further information on breakdown within wards
could be provided.

e The service would like to increase stock of adapted accommodation and is
working on this. The need for wheelchair adapted accommodation vastly
outstripped the supply. Waiting times have reduced for this type of
accommodation however there is a disparity between the number of Fully
Wheelchair Accessible need applicants on the register achieving lets compared
to those requiring other types of accommodation.

e Of all lettings achieved in the 2023/24 period — 74% went to Band 1, 20% to
Band 2 and 6% to Band 3. 53% of all lettings were to households who were
homeless or at risk of being homeless. The figures are proportionate to
previous years and reflects the support given to homeless households to

8



95.

secure settled accommodation.

e Compared to 2022/23, there was a 4 month increase in waiting times for a 1
bedroom flat, a 5 month increase for a 2 bedroom flat and an 8 month increase
for a 3 bedroom house.

e Lettings to Housing Association and HomeCome accounts for 23% of all
lettings in this period. This was proportionate to corresponding lettings in the
previous year. PA Housing was the largest provider with 39% of lets.

e The Housing Allocation Policy allows housing allocation priority based on
circumstances that merit rehousing such as risk or emergency or best use of
the housing stock. The number of direct lettings was 32%, an increase of 6%
since last year, predominantly as a result of homelessness issues. Direct lets to
homeless households accounted for 76% of the total direct lettings.

e There is significant need for social housing in the city and the service is actively
working to identify suitable accommodation. This has required a flexible
approach due to changing demand and a proactive acquisition and new build
programme to help meet rising demand.

The Commission expressed their concerns of the ongoing difficulties and increasing
waiting times for residents on the housing register and in response to questions and
comments it was noted that:

e A cross service approach is taken and performance is monitored to ensure
voids are turned around quickly to be re-let. There may be occasions where it
is more difficult to let quickly as additional works may be needed or constraints
on services.

e The Council permit Housing Associations to utilise the IT system to advertise
and allocate available properties to let at no charge, so whilst it is not a formal
requirement it is assumed likely that much of their stock is let through
HomeCome. The Local Authority have around 19k properties and let around
900 per year, whilst Housing Association have around 11k properties in the city
and around 250 are let through HomeCome.

e Succession of tenancies is governed by the Housing Act. Services liaise with
tenants and review regularly to identify alternative options and will work
proactively and give priority to those who may seek to find a more suitable size
accommodation if their current property is larger than needed to allow others
on the housing register to utilise the space, however this cannot be compelled
and whilst smaller social housing may have financial benefits to relocate, a
larger property may continue to be more financially viable than the private
sector.

The Director of Housing highlighted that further information regarding details of the
formal scheme to enable tenants to move to more suitable accommodation could be
shared with the Commission.

AGREED:

e The Commission noted the report.
e Additional information on the to be circulated.

WORK PROGRAMME

The Chair reminded Members to raise items to be considered for the work programme
and noted that the next meeting would take place on 12 November, although a site
visit and inquiry day would take place in between.



96. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

There being no further business, the meeting closed at 19.30.

10



ltem 7/

Leicester City Council

Scrutiny Inquiry

AU1INIDS

<20

."If]rllI

Examining services surrounding
homelessness and complex needs in Leicester

A Report for the Joint Task Group of the
Housing Scrutiny Commission and
Public Health & Health Integration

Scrutiny Commission

October 2024

&

Leicester
City Council

11



Contents

Page

Foreword 2
Summary 3
Recommendations 4
Report 5

o Scrutiny Rationale

o Scrutiny Approach

o Overview

o Evidence Gathering

o Joint Specific Needs Assessment

o Benchmarking

o Summary of Task Group Conclusions
Financial, Legal and Equalities Implications 12
Appendices list 16
Officers to contact 15

Appendices

@)

Appendix A - Housing Context

Appendix B - Dear Albert Overview
Appendix C - Inclusion Healthcare Overview
Appendix D - The Bridge Overview
Appendix E - Turning Point Overview

Appendix F - Leicestershire Partnership Trust - Homelessness
Mental Health Team

Appendix G - Homelessness Joint Specific Needs Assessment
Presentation

Appendix H - Homelessness Joint Specific Needs Assessment

12




A Joint Task Group of the Housing Scrutiny Commission
and Public Health & Health Integration Scrutiny
Commission

Participating Commission Members

Councillor Molly O'Neill (Chair of Housing)
Councillor Karen Pickering (Chair of Health)
Councillor Syed Zaman

Councillor Liz Sahu

Evidence to the Task Group was provided by:

Caroline Carpendale - Head of Service, Housing, Leicester City Council
Joanne Russell - Head of Service, Housing, Leicester City Council
Zenab Valli - Head of Service, Housing, Leicester City Council

Laura French - Consultant in Public Health, Leicester City Council
Gurjinder Bans - Programme Manager, Public Health, Leicester City Council
Mark Pierce - Integrated Care Board

Rebecca Deaville - University Hospitals of Leicester

Simon Pizzey - University Hospitals of Leicester

Phil Johnson - Leicestershire Partnership Trust

Suzanne Elliot - Leicestershire Partnership Trust

Wayne Henderson - Director, Inclusion Healthcare

Dr Sarah Styles - Inclusion Healthcare

Selena Jackson - Turning Point

Andrea Knowles - Turning Point

Jon Roberts - Dear Albert

Keith Neville - The Bridge

Rebecca Pawley - Homeless Charter

1|Page

13



FOREWORD

We are delighted to present this report on the findings of the Joint Task Group of the
Housing Scrutiny Commission and Public Health & Health Integration Scrutiny
Commission’s work in examining services surrounding homelessness and complex
needs in Leicester.

In light of many challenges that are posed to our residents, including the lack of
affordable housing that resulted in a housing crisis being declared locally, the
ongoing cost-of-living crisis and the disparities of health equity amongst our
communities, we felt that it was important to undertake a joint scrutiny investigation
to examine the services that provide support to residents, often at a time they are
most vulnerable.

The Task Group explored a different method of scrutiny investigation, with a number
of sessions and a site visit incorporated into a single inquiry day. Our work generally
sought assurance and a deeper understanding in respect of current homelessness
service provision and access to health services for those with complex needs, as
well as reviewing the joint specific needs assessment for homelessness.

We are very thankful to those who facilitated and participated in providing their
knowledge and expertise to the Task Group, bettering our understanding of services
for individuals who are homeless and have complex needs. We would like to express
our particular thanks to those who presented to the Task Group, including officers
within the city council’s housing and public health department, the local health sector
- Leicestershire Partnership Trust, the Integrated Care Board and University
Hospitals of Leicester - as well as Dear Albert, Inclusion Health, Leicester’s
Homeless Charter, The Bridge and Turning Point. We are also grateful to our elected
colleagues who formed the Task Group and contributed to the discussions and
findings.

We hope that our joint work and recommendations will enable further discussion and
collaborative working across our local government services, the health sector and
VCS organisations to strengthen the services and support for homeless individuals
and improving health equity.

Councillor Molly O’Neill Councillor Karen Pickering
Chair of Housing Scrutiny Commission Chair of Public Health & Health
Integration Scrutiny Commission

2|Page

14



1.

1.1

1.1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

1.1.5

1.1.6

SUMMARY

Background to the Scrutiny Investigation

Local authorities have a statutory duty to take reasonable steps to prevent
or relieve homelessness and to this end, Leicester City Council work with
partner agencies, including health and the VCS to deliver a range of
services for individuals who are homeless, and those with particular
complex needs.

Given the increasing pressures on homeless services, particularly with the
housing crisis and cost-of-living crisis, and the impact of homelessness on
an individual’s health, the Chair of the Housing Scrutiny Commission along
with the Chair of the Public Health and Health Integration Scrutiny
Commission sought to better understand the services surrounding
homelessness and complex needs in Leicester.

To enable the level of examination deemed necessary, a Joint Task Group
was established to gather evidence and identify recommendations. The

work of the Task Group took place in the form of a single inquiry day with a
conclusion session a week later to reflect on findings and form conclusions.

A number of sessions took place throughout the single inquiry day. This
enabled the Task Group to gain a more in-depth understanding of the
current service provision and gather evidence. This included witnesses
from council departments, including housing and public health, local health
services and the voluntary and community sector. The Task Group also
had an opportunity to visit Inclusion Healthcare as part of the inquiry day.

The inquiry day provided the Task Group the opportunity to probe, question
and ultimately form conclusions to make several recommendations which
generally support council policies whilst seeking some further work and
improvement.

This scrutiny investigation served as an alternative method for
consideration by scrutiny commissions. It was a short, focused piece of
work enabling joint discussion in one day. The report sets out more detail
of the evidence gathered and summarises conclusions reached.

3|Page

15



1.2

1.2.1

a)

b)

f)

¢)]

h)

j)

k)

4|Page

CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

Following the inquiry day, the following findings and set of proposed
recommendations:

Further work to be undertaken to better understand the impact of
temporary accommodation on families, particularly children, including
health provision.

Further work to be undertaken to better understand the impact of
homelessness and health services for individuals being released from
prison.

Services should continue to work collaboratively and in partnership to
provide residents in the city with ‘help beyond housing'’.

That the proposed ‘multi-disciplinary hub’ provides additional services to
promote a safe space and environment fit for inviting residents to attend
and seek support.

To enhance communication and review processes to ensure individuals
and families in need of mental health support are being identified and
referred to the homeless mental health team.

Processes to be reviewed to enable partner agencies to refer individuals
for homelessness service support to prevent rough sleeping and promote
safety.

Funding for the rough sleeping initiative and rough sleeper drug and
alcohol treatment fund to be continued as much as possible noting the
financial pressures and spending review.

To lobby central government to allow local authorities to retain 100% of
right to buy receipts whilst the scheme exists in order to replenish housing
stock but with a view to also lobby to abolish the scheme.

Proactively continue to identify opportunities for building and acquiring new
council housing stock.

Support the acquisition of additional temporary accommodation to ensure
residents have their own front door and move away from the use of hotel
and bed and breakfast accommodation.

To enhance communication with partner agencies on withdrawal of
services.

Support the recommendations contained within the Joint Specific Needs
Assessment for Homelessness to be implemented.

16



2. REPORT

21 Scrutiny Rationale

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7.1

2.7.2

5|Page

The Council has a statutory duty to take reasonable steps to prevent or
relieve homelessness and to this end works with partner agencies to
deliver a range of services. Leicester is one of only a few cities which
implements specialised healthcare services for homeless individuals
through Inclusion Healthcare. The Council is also a member of the
Homelessness Charter, which aims to improve the way organisations
and individuals work together to tackle homelessness in the city.

The Public Health team work to improve the city's public health and
reduce premature mortality. Leicester is a deprived city with a lower life
expectancy and healthy life expectancy than the national average.
Other social determinants can also impact life expectancy and
collaborative working is ongoing to address inequities.

The Housing Scrutiny Commission had received reports regarding the
growing demand and pressures on homelessness services and the
Public Health and Health Integration Scrutiny Commission had
discussed the disproportionate health equities and access to health
services.

Concerns had also been raised regarding the impact of homelessness
on health, particularly for those with complex needs. Given the
economic climate and wider determinants that pose further risks to
homelessness and health conditions, the joint Task Group was
established with the intention of better understanding homelessness
services and access to health provision, as well as reviewing the joint
specific needs assessment for homelessness.

The Chair of Housing Scrutiny, Councillor O’Neill, and Chair of Public
Health & Health Integration Scrutiny, Councillor Pickering, therefore
initiated a Joint Task Group to examine the role and effectiveness of
services surrounding homelessness, health and complex needs.

Scrutiny Approach

It is relatively commonplace for scrutiny commissions to request further
detail on particular topics and can result in additional information being
provided to subsequent commission meetings or through informal
scrutiny meetings.

In this case, the Chair of Housing and the Chair of Health sought to
undertake a scrutiny investigation in the form of a single inquiry day.
The concept of this model is one that operates at other local authorities
and allows a deeper examination of a topic and for the Task Group to
gather evidence on a particular day.

17



2.7.3

274

2.7.5

6|Page

The inquiry day sought assurance and a deeper understanding in
respect of current homelessness service provision and access to health
services for those with complex needs, particularly substance misuse. It
also sought to examine the process for identifying needs and solutions
through the joint specific needs assessment.

The scrutiny investigation was extremely short in comparison to other
reviews performed previously and used an alternative approach that
could be considered by other scrutiny commissions.

The inquiry day took place on Thursday 3 October, with a number of
sessions and a site visit to obtain evidence from council divisions, the
local health sector and VCS organisations. The Police were also invited
but unfortunately were unable to attend. The Task Group was able to
form conclusions and recommendations from the findings that were
finalised at a session that took place following a week to reflect. A
summary of the sessions are outlined below and further details are
contained within subsequent sections of the report:

A detailed overview session took place throughout the morning to gather
evidence from the councils housing division as well as hearing from
identified witnesses, including the local health services such as
Leicestershire Partnership Trust, the Integrated Care Board and
University Hospitals of Leicester, as well as VCS organisations, including
Dear Albert, Leicester’'s Homeless Charter, The Bridge and Turning
Point. The Police were unable to attend the session.

A further session took place with the public health team to better
understand the process and findings of the joint specific needs
assessment for homelessness.

A site visit took place to Inclusion Healthcare where the Task Group
were able to gather further evidence through witnessing the facilities and
speaking with clinicians and management.

A benchmarking session provided members with an opportunity to
compare the evidence they had received against other cities.

An initial findings session took place at the end of the day for the Task
Group to reflect and share their thoughts on the evidence that had been
gathered throughout the day.

A final session took place remotely following the inquiry day to draw

conclusions from the evidence heard and witnessed to form
recommendations.

18



2.8

2.8.1

2.8.2

2.8.3

2.8.4

2.8.5

2.8.6

7|Page

Overview

In compiling evidence, the Task Group gathered information through a
variety of discussions and sessions throughout the day, including a site
visit. The Task Group also considered desktop research to examine and
compare the role and effectiveness of services for homeless individuals,
particularly with complex needs in Leicester.

An overview session was arranged to enable the Task Group to receive
in depth information to form a better understanding of homelessness
services, including health provision, as well as the demands and
pressures. This included an overview from Heads of Services within the
Housing Division, local health partners and the voluntary and
community sector. The session provided the Task Group an opportunity
to question and probe witnesses to identify where areas work well and
where challenges and gaps exist.

The Task Group were informed of the various definitions of
homelessness and that the cost-of-living crisis had driven a rise in all
areas with increasing levels of households presenting to the authority
for help, including a rise in individuals with complex needs seeking
support. The statutory annual count of rough sleeping had reduced in
Leicester, but it was recognised that this was a snapshot on that
particular night. It was also recognised that there is a population of
homeless individuals who are hidden as all households do not present
for support.

The increasing pressures on homelessness services and lack of
affordable housing had resulted in a significant increase of individuals
and families in temporary accommodation. Most local authorities are in
breach of the national target of six weeks in bed and breakfast. In
Leicester there is a priority to ensure people have their own front door
with 50% of families in suitable temporary accommodation and a recent
council approval for £45m investment to purchase additional temporary
accommodation units.

The local authority commission a range of services to provide temporary
accommodation and support services including for individuals with
complex needs. The Task Group were made aware that various
commissioned services are funded through the rough sleeping initiative
fund which is in its last year of funding and the future of the offer was
uncertain.

Additional support services for individuals in temporary accommodation
is predominantly for singles with complex needs, particularly supporting
mental health, drug and alcohol issues. Many individuals remain in
temporary accommodation for more than four months, illustrating the
support needed for recovery and stabilisation before moving on to next
step accommodation. The pathway of support is flexible and individuals,

19



2.8.7

2.8.8

2.8.9

2.8.10

2.8.11

2.8.12

2.8.13

8|Page

particularly with complex needs can move between the level of support
and intervention needed.

The majority of individuals requiring support services whilst homeless
receive support from a range of organisations through a strong
partnership approach in the city. This is evidenced in the Homelessness
and Rough Sleeping Strategy and commitment of the Leicester
Homelessness Charter.

Evidence Gathering

The Chairs identified and invited witnesses to participate in the inquiry
day recognising the partnership approach to tackling homelessness.
The Task Group heard from the ICB, UHL, LPT’s homelessness mental
health team, Dear Albert, The Bridge and Turning Point. These
organisations were able to share their knowledge and expertise of
supporting homeless individuals, often with complex needs. The Police
were also invited but unable to attend.

Members heard of the range of services organisations provide, including
day centres, forums, outreach work, treatment and vaccinations
amongst much more. It was evident that most individuals being
supported are rough sleeping or residing in temporary accommodation
in which there had been a noticeable increase.

Providing individuals with a safe place and open-door approach to seek
support was highlighted as important to engage with homeless
individuals, particularly with complex needs. Strong collaborative
working to provide services with different organisations and at
alternative locations had proven successful and this was made clear to
the Task Group throughout discussions.

Organisations also expressed the importance of providing a platform for
individuals to share their lived experience that should be considered to
identify needs and shape suitable services.

Outreach work was highlighted as a success in Leicester with a
collaborative approach across local government, health and the VCS.
Concerns were raised however around the risk and ability for
organisations to continue to support individuals, particularly outreach
support for rough sleepers with substance issues, if current grant
funding was not to continue. Risks were also identified in current
processes where individuals known to be rough sleeping could be better
referred to appropriate services to enable access and promote safety.

The risk of withdrawal of services was discussed, in which the Task
Group heard about the high tolerance of services to support individuals
with complex needs. It was acknowledged that in some incidents access
to services are withdrawn for a period of time for individuals and

20



2.8.14

2.8.15

2.8.16

2.8.17

2.8.18

2.8.19

9|Page

improved communications amongst organisations for better awareness
and understanding was identified.

The increasing demand on homelessness services also raised
questions around the ability to identify and refer individuals and families
for appropriate health services such as mental health support, with no
referrals in the last four years. Access to specialised health services and
referrals were deemed important to provide earlier support and prevent
additional pressures on the hospital emergency department.

Health colleagues recognised the complexities of some homeless
patients and highlighted the ongoing work for educating the workforce,
particularly international workers. Risks were identified for patients
presenting at the emergency department when released from prison
without suitable substance misuse plans and asylum seekers. The
disparity between medication in prison and community prescriptions was
also discussed and recognised during the site visit.

As part of the inquiry day, the Task Group visited Inclusion Healthcare, a
commissioned healthcare provider with specialised services for homeless
individuals. Members were able to witness primary care facilities and
additional support services provided to better understand the offer and
patient journey.

The Task Group were also able to speak directly with members of staff,
including clinicians, administrators, management and other organisations
based at the premises to gain further evidence. The visit illustrated the
importance of specialist services enabling access to support and forming
positive relationships with individuals often with complex needs. The
collaborative approach which had become evident during the overview
session was brought to life with services working together to ensure
individuals can access and improve attendance for healthcare
appointments.

The discussions allowed the Task Group to hear about the often complex
and multiple needs of homeless individuals that usually require specialist
support beyond housing. This was noted to be in limited supply given the
rising demand and increasing pressures on services and budgets. There
was also particular concern and discussion around the vulnerability of
homeless individuals with complex needs when they are ready to move
to suitable permanent accommodation around the risk of cuckooing.

Joint Specific Needs Assessment

A session was dedicated as part of the inquiry day on the Joint Specific
Needs Assessment for Homelessness. It was highlighted that the last
assessment had been completed in 2016. Following the pandemic and
ongoing cost-of-living crisis, the housing division and Integrated Care
Board had therefore sought a revised assessment.

21



2.8.20

2.8.21

2.8.22

2.8.23

2.8.24

2.8.25

2.8.26

2.8.27

10|Page

A comprehensive overview was provided by public health officers to
provide the Task Group with a better understanding of the process,
including the organisations that had participated in the assessment and
the findings that formed 32 recommendations.

The Task Group commended the work and importance of the joint
specific needs assessment and sought assurances that the
recommendations would be implemented by the relevant organisations.
Further support for the recommendations were provided by the Task
Group.

Benchmarking

The Task Group discussed other local authorities and policy to compare
the approach taken in Leicester in which it was recognised that there
had been an increase in homelessness across the country.

Legislation provides the statutory framework and duties on local
authorities regarding homelessness, including the duty to develop a
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy. The Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 also placed a duty on local authorities to intervene
at an earlier stage to prevent homelessness and extend services to
every household who is homeless or threatened with homelessness.

The statutory nature of homelessness services found similarities in the
themes and priorities when looking at Birmingham, Bristol, Coventry,
Manchester, Nottingham and Salford. Access to services and sourcing
additional affordable accommodation were highlights which is consistent
with the approach in Leicester.

A collaborative approach to tackling homelessness was also identified
as important, with Homeless Charter’s or at least a commitment to work
in partnership with health services and the voluntary and community
sector. The strong partnership working, commitment of Leicester’'s
Homelessness Charter and the positive impact of dedicated health
services to support the homeless was evident throughout the inquiry
day.

The increasing use of temporary accommodation and longer waits to
find a permanent solution for individuals and families was not unique to
the city but a national trend. The impact of homelessness on health
were discussed by the Task Group, with consideration to the impact on
mental health, educational attainment and employment as well as
access to sufficient cooking facilities.

The Housing First model was also considered — an evidenced based
approach on ending homelessness by providing housing and other
support to individuals with multiple and complex needs. This model has
been successful in Finland and UK pilots in Greater Manchester,
Liverpool City Region and West Midlands Combines Authorities have

22



2.8.28

2.8.29

29

2.9.1

29.2

293

294

2.9.5

2.9.6

2.9.7

MM|Page

been extended to further evaluate the impact to potentially inform future
investment.

The Task Group reflected on the local model and importance of
providing ‘help beyond housing’ to ensure there is additional support to
individuals that are homeless, particularly with complex needs.

The different sessions throughout the inquiry day allowed the Task
group to seek clarity and ask questions on various matters surrounding
homelessness policy and services. This level of investigation allowed
sufficient evidence to be gathered to enable a set of recommendations
to be established as outlined in paragraph 1.2.

Summary of Task Group Conclusions

As a result of the evidence received and the ability for members to
question and engage with officers and witnesses as part of this work, the
Task Group reflected on the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and
threats to formulate findings and recommendations as set out in
paragraph 1.2.

Drawing on the evidence, the Task Group identified that further
consideration should be explored to seek a better understanding of the
impact of families, particularly children, residing in temporary
accommodation. This would include wider determinants impacting health
and access to health provision.

Similarly, gaps and risks were identified for individuals being released
from prison and the Task Group expressed a desire to further consider
the impact of homelessness and health services, particularly where
individuals are being released from prison early.

The inquiry day enabled the Task Group to witness the strong working
partnerships that exists in Leicester and commended the approach to
provide wraparound support beyond housing. Concerns were
acknowledged regarding the impact on service and offer to individuals as
the current funding is due to come to an end next year.

The importance of a multi-agency approach to reaching individuals with
complex needs and successfully delivering services was evident and
therefore recommended continued partnership working and that the
proposed multi-disciplinary hub include additional service to promote a
safe space and inviting environment.

Some areas were identified by the Task Group for potential improvement,
primarily in regard to communication and transparency for enabling further
positive working and supporting residents with appropriate referrals.

Overall, the Task Group resonated with the housing crisis and lack of
affordable housing as a significant contributory factor along with the

23



2.9.8

ongoing cost of living crisis impacting the increasing pressures on
homelessness services and in turn having a consequential impact on
residents’ health. There was therefore a consensus of support of the
council’s policies to increasing affordable housing, temporary
accommodation, and the need to retain and replace housing stock
through lobbying central Government to allow local authorities to keep
100% of right to buy receipts and to abolish the scheme.

The Task Group also commended the work of the joint specific needs
assessment for homelessness and reiterated the importance of each
responsible organisation implementing the identified recommendations by
formalising support.

3 Financial, Legal and Other Implications

1.3

Financial Implications

The financial implications associated with the recommendations within this
report are limited. To the extent that the report recommends reviewing
existing processes and enhancing communication, these will have limited
costs beyond staff time.

Funding through the Rough Sleeping Initiative has been significant in
recent years for Leicester and the service has been effective in its bidding
into this fund. This is grant funded and its continuance is within the gift of
central government.

In relation to the Right to Buy scheme, the Chancellor, in her budget of
30th October, announced changes to the scheme including a reduction in
the level of discount being offered and making permanent the retention of
100% of receipts by Councils. Whilst 100% retention has been in place
temporarily since 22/23 the continuation of this is welcome and will mean
£1.7m more being retained locally for affordable housing each year. The
reduction in the scale of discounts will result in greater retention of housing
stock by the Council and support a more financially sustainable Housing
Revenue Account; it will, however, mean that overall receipts from sales
(which form a key part of the affordable housing programme) will be lower.

The acquisition of property forms a significant part of the current capital
programme. Any further additions to the programme will require full
financial appraisal of the revenue impact.

Signed: Stuart McAvoy

Date: 30 October 2024

12|Page

24




1.4 Legal Implications

There are no direct legal implications arising from this Scrutiny Review.
The Legal Division provide regular advice and representation to the
Housing Division on individual homelessness cases, and on policy.

Signed: Kamal Adatia

Date:28/10/2024

1.1 Equality Implications

When carrying out its functions (including decision making, policy and
service development, projects and service delivery) the Council must
comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) (Equality Act 2010)
by paying due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people
who share a ‘protected characteristic’ and those who do not. In doing so,
the council/ decision makers must consider the possible impact on those
who are likely to be affected by the recommendation and their protected
characteristics. Protected groups under the Equality Act are age,
disability (including mental health as well as physical disabilities), gender
re-assignment, pregnancy/maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. The report shares the findings and recommendations
of the Joint Task Group of the Housing Scrutiny Commission and Public
Health & Health Integration Scrutiny Commission’s work in examining
services surrounding homelessness and complex needs in Leicester.

This is against the backdrop of the challenges, nationally and locally of
rising levels of homelessness. The lack of affordable, quality housing
drives homelessness, as well as pressures arising from the cost-of-living
crisis and many other national factors. This has impacted on households
being able to sustain their tenancies and, in many cases, leading to
homelessness. Housing is a human right and the impacts of
homelessness can be devastating for individuals and families. It can
affect both physical and mental health, educational and employment
opportunities (for both adults and children) and has long term
consequences for those affected. The local authority has a statutory duty
to secure accommodation for unintentionally homeless households who
fall into a ‘priority need’ category. The Council also provides advice and
other assistance to help prevent homelessness and has an enhanced
offer to help more households than its statutory duty. Certain categories
of household, such as pregnant women, families with children, young
care leavers and households that are homeless due to an emergency
such as a fire or flood, have priority need if homeless. Other groups may
be assessed as having priority need because they are vulnerable if
homeless due to, for example, old age, or physical or mental ill health, or
because they are vulnerable as a result of being in prison, or care or as a
result of becoming homeless due to domestic abuse. Those affected by

13|Page

25



homelessness are likely to include individuals from across various
protected characteristics. Support provided to homeless people and
those facing homelessness helps to develop skills to live independently in
their own homes. This includes integration into the community, taking
part in leisure activities and support to find education, training or
employment. Continued partnership work that strengthens ways of
working together across agencies, disciplines and sectors, should lead to
positive impacts for people from across all protected characteristics.

Signed: Surinder Singh

Date: 24/10/2024

1.2 Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Implications

Housing is one of the largest sources of carbon emissions in Leicester
and, following the council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency,
addressing these emissions is vital to meeting our ambition to reach net
zero carbon emissions, particularly where the council has a higher level
of influence and control. As such, work to address homelessness in the
city should include consideration of opportunities to reduce the carbon
emissions of housing, as appropriate and relevant to projects.

Opportunities to ensure that any development or acquisition of properties
will provide energy efficient and low carbon housing should be
investigated and taken forward as new projects are proposed and
developed. Potential measures could include improved insulation, the
use of low energy lighting and appliances and the installation of low
carbon heating and renewables. Preventative work could also include
opportunities for the signposting of projects which address fuel poverty to
service users, where appropriate. As well as reducing carbon emissions,
improving the energy efficiency of housing could provide further benefits,
such as reducing energy bills and making housing healthier and more
comfortable for occupants.

Additionally, the provision of services contributes to carbon emissions, for
example from the use of buildings, equipment and transport. To minimise
these impacts staff and partners should be encouraged to reduce energy
use, use sustainable transport and procure low carbon equipment and
materials as appropriate and relevant to projects.

Signed: Aidan Davis

Date: 28/10/2024

14|Page

26



2 Summary of Appendices
Appendix A - Housing Context
Appendix B - Dear Albert Overview
Appendix C - Inclusion Healthcare Overview
Appendix D - The Bridge Overview
Appendix E - Turning Point Overview

Appendix F — Leicestershire Parntership Trust — Homelessness Mental
Health Team

Appendix G - Homelessness Joint Specific Needs Assessment
Presentation

Appendix H - Homelessness Joint Specific Needs Assessment

3 Officers to Contact

Georgia Humby

Senior Governance Officer
Georgia.Humby@leicester.gov.uk
0116 454 2971

Kirsty Wootton

Governance Officer
Kirsty.Wootton@leicester.gov.uk
0116 454 1021

15|Page

27


mailto:Georgia.Humby@leicester.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsty.Wootton@leicester.gov.uk




Households contacting homelessness services for help

6¢

4869
4559

7N\

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 %CQ

Leicester
City Council



o€

Increasing numbers in TA

End of May/ start of June

Families
520 552 In TA
262 159 In B&B

oo

Leicester
City Council



1€

Homelessness Services Commissioned Temporary

Accommodation & Support Services

Client Group Number of units __|Support ____

Singles

Singles

Singles

Offender

Offender

Young People

Dawn Centre

Rough sleepers
Rough sleepers
Rough sleepers
Restricted eligibility
Rough sleepers (WIP)
Rough sleepers (WIP)

Action Homeless
Housing Network
Adullam
Adullam

YMCA

LCC

emh

Action Homeless
Action Homeless
One Roof

emh

Action Homeless

12
43
14
13
72
44
7/

18
10
10
4

14

2 hrs per week
6 hrs per week
3 hrs per week
4-6 hrs per week
2-3 hrs per week
6 hrs per week
Emergency 24/7
Complex needs
Complex needs
Complex needs
Targeted support
Complex needs

Complex needs



ce

Support needs of clients in TA

Support need % clients who have this

support need

Mental health problems 56.2%
Drug problems 32.0%
Alcohol problems 22.6%
Physical or sensory disability 14.2%
Learning disabilities 3.6%
People with HIV/AIDS 0.7%

Based on over 800 clients provided with temporary accommodation between 2015 to 2022%}?

Leicester
City Council



Hoiming Dptors, Bl Jeoniy Sreel

Liscaatid, LEV BFE

j. o e insing RamsisuLne
Ehas you

m-nmmm Linas ore

opeen Monday bo Fridary. Bom o Gpm

'Ilimbﬂﬂrl-q!lﬁfﬂ

;Hﬂw 1h.--hy-whu-ﬂh
0 30om ond 4 30pm.

< O 352 00

B b 0 o oL Tl ol BT PRI
e iook com

n L it 4 P el ik o L s Dt
W romweiesscharter

B yyoad O BhEpArGg) ITHAGN S Ends
BN Feial e VTl . O Fell i bl BOiTieleel

2

Troe ¥ Adwico ared Suppart Corre (YASC]
54 Granbey 5 et Lescosber, LIT 6FT

morrnasle s, [pricaty ghven 1o thoso
rough sapng
Tha gandicd OffeE Dreokioet, drink
P TR, PO o B,
SR O BnpOdting,
Drogin ond I opportmasts,
- o Waarcl Hecih ACOMS worker
and o rangs of panirEr SpErciar
G Tha

Menbal Heokh senacs, Tumeng Posnt
and 5 Wunga s
(#) ymoolsion.ong ui four-weork fyasc|
o OTE Jod 8223

Barm = 3pm
(T Ban - Wam

Dropr-in bor 4t oswn Dneciioais

el PROCTCG Pl

Wam = ipm

Pre-Bocked ond diggr-in

G B0 Gr QDEGAnETENtY

000
3

Tres Bridges - Homels 1170 10 Hops
o Corden, &3 MaSsn Slrel,
[Tt
Tirid ESiiged i & SO, Wi P v
Evncirions, nch, Shevens o ioundry
BoCal, SASETre, SOk Wodlon S 1oF Brcle
Wi One hornakins ond aged o 18
< omé 222 el
o Tl P B D b 4187 T
S il B irabrribe of B Risdrm,
Wi wall b happy o oller advae

oy & Frisiay

B e ~ 230
Sorurday
200 am - ipm

000000

oo E (Lobied1er B owery Hub)

# bl Strowl, Lscestor, (L1 JPT
Caervir foer Siroet Orinkoses nchucing
il Chhvial, 0 LR, Coliod
Do o Sossal i Iociliten wach o

0000000

Halp s Hamalsny

0 Aoy S, LisCadted, LI ITE
Hinlpy tha Homaloss BupEort have o
ronge of promcts S0 support people
W O0G POimaskns in Lecaster. Thay
[Pt Deheoooey DN Bgnpoaing 1o
OO, O Vool O CCCeEE 1000 BROCk
B arad calturig

10n Thasrpabry, thetey D 0 Cpen
Space iroems Epm urtl 4pm sening
et f0aec], kO, CPOOtRD and
e B A L.

(@) www irlsicetter.co.uk | contaet
o O A4S T

nlil~)

7

Higenaplea 3 e tal Heolth Team

165 Oranitny St Liscadlod LET B0T
Whay Hecsrmapbayia idarbol HeRR senice
otien mantol haaith JeEsrmant ond
ol wnrol 10 iR Frasnbol et
O BRI - fof peope o
16+ el O Vel [ Mg SOUN
nhnhh]nrﬂqrqni
accomimadation [oda suring e
Ll -tifertol Dy Cfny0ne whi i Poaresons
O Sy el BN i SRS With
ST WS e

4

wetiunion Healtheors Skl
Enterprise ChC

Chadirbed BTy Hotd, 45 Lo Bona Sire-a,
Liscsrgtnr, 1E] 45x

Inchusion Feolfoone ore o wpeciolsl
Frabhoore b oo Wi work with
paopie whio one homaeless omd
ulne=oly housed

el

iy gLy Porsi
AR ity Fon s i, | e by T
e ]

.Jm:uu;u

Ta book o OF appordmand.
beleepdecenay UM 121 ITBO

() Monday to Friday Bam = 6.30pm

000

0 e
o OT6 205 8442
o ot hormaleu mba @nha nel

60

Tha Derrs Centre

T iy e, Corchul FErael,
Lot I DM

Tirais Doty Saring pRogest pioeaicdiinn
DRI Oy GO,
Exhvicl Ol SERbancE SN housing
Pt e kil Gl Sdudolion ko
azamasben 5 pamobe.

Tt cartrg Jd hours o Oy, 385

dayt of tha year = a iefernal i feeded
lo adcwie IFe Canlra

@#ﬁpmwﬂ
s \f P L

o= chowr - cerire |
< 008 23T

9

O Rl
% Regent Bood. Lexerer, LD §FF
O Rool provioks halp for sngls pecpie
i of hofmekies [Rciuding deititute
reduguers ond nrhabed Styhum ke
iR ey Irewn & ool o rasched 1o
ooty this perace
(T wwaonarool.ong.uk
< OPE 443 3007

of pirail Info@anensol g uk

00
10

Dear LIDart
B8 HLFTMEse R0 e, Ll LE] 3PL

Cusor At gllars st s
wrwmmwﬂm
probism, Seivaning B et o
O 0 Byl 9 e i Tl DO,

{T) Mendary be Frigary
e - S

‘Sunday
Barn - NL30pen [oreakian)
< 0B0G BI0A8AE
O T PO O L0 0L

Li 1=
n

Turnirg Peim

32 Frior Lona, Llcester, L1 Sas
1““Hmlmmﬂﬂ.
Efpsted by dnugl oF Glookdl and wanbi
B i moks change. We offer a
vty of treatrnent options and wil

Bpprt Yo o e Tha right reobmend

Tor youL Regorcieus of your Oge, we Fave
O BV I Wl TVt R L

For g pesopsie upe 1o T, e dedoobed
YORRG PaORk's barm will wor with you
i vy oo otion Eat E satobis

(F) wewre D e - pOANLE G i

o 0330 123 B0

Li 1)

ey =~ Epen

00

13

i Mk k

e

COiTEE RN S,
L AR Sirent. Lscoshe. LTI P

Fivded P il ©ollisct o
Wecknasckry Dam -
(1oL I azed St VibiazPeiet |
+ Dwop=In (Emargency Clot
& Mounshold ema ) S
Tussdioyt and Trasiooys
10 = [2pm (with Referrcl)
= P Might
Tusesdicrys Tpn

Ipm = Spm.
Pt koik O GUF SSRGS B b2 fird
St e el e i Feied il

o haanilsbcoston sog i |
amﬂ

S O 326 1Me7

14

L L Ryl wnlirmrary

nfrrngry Rpeore, Lescesion, LETHAW
Drrar gy Dapartrnant Open
24 Mgy 19% Dayw

o G000 J0NETI

000

o omg 2 H?

McwudCry b Frickay,
WCrmy = dpemy

ATty D
S o T.onhg uk

00

Leicester's

Homelessness

Charter

P AR TS EUREET B T i

" Homelessness
resources
Leicester

16

Thish C#rvire PP ool

| LBrpd Piooe, O Grargry Sireet.
Lecoghos, LIV IER

Trep Cantre Profect i o loool chaniny
i i Libseiiler Cily it thit
HADOE

Meals for People
Affected by
Homelessness







DearAlbert

‘Dear Albert and Homelessness: Support, Voice, Reach’
October 3rd 2024

GE

Jon Roberts

Joint Homelessness & Health Task Group

Dear Albert - A Lived Experience Recovery Organisation (LERO) 1 DearAlbert



DA Sunday Breakfast Club for the Harm Reduction & Outreach
Homeless - a snapshot

|Q1 & Q2 - Apr 24 - Sept 24 |

Q1 & Q2 - Apr 24 - Sept 24 Interventions 469
No. of Sundays
Distribution of Naloxone 143
25
Distribution of One Hit Kits 16
Breakfast Served ITurning Point Referrals 16
2333

WIQUE Service Users

609

Collaborations and contributions...

@ Turning Point Outreach Team
e Changing Futures Leicester

e Uni of Leicester / ‘Project Light’
e Hep C Trust

e Local business donations

e Together Leicester

Dear Albert - A Lived Experience Recovery Organisation (LERO) 2 DearAlbert



HOPE Forums - Feb’22 to date

Forums 30
Attendance 285
Unique attendees 104
Average per 9
forum

Snapshot from survey...

How easy was it for you to find homeless services? Do you think more drink/drug free temporary Do you agree that having your voice heard
accommodation should be available? is important?
I Very Easy M Easy [ Difficult [l Very Difficult

Yes 52 (92.9%) Yes 54 (96.49

No 4(7.1%) No 2(3.6%)

a 20 40 80

Dear Albert - A Lived Experience Recovery Organisation (LERO) 3 DearAIbegt



Leicester’s
‘ Homelessness TURNING ‘
Charter Elyl“ 1“‘.

TACKLING NOMELESSNESS TOGETNER

O

Leicester
City Council

Cl

w "
0 ety
== =" ESS.
¥ UK / L T |
il Parliament ==§E :g=;!i.f_
R it
NCSCT TR TT R ET

Dear Albert - A Lived Experience Recovery Organisation (LERO) 4

DearAlbert



| J rlnspected and rated
s (i Outstanding Yy

ealthcare ;
CareQuality
Commission

o e
INCLUSION Practice
& ASSIST Practice




INTRODUCTION

inclusion:

healthcare
. . . . responding to need

* Inclusion Healthcare is a Community Interest Company in improving health
Leicester with a focus on providing primary care to a o useq

marginalised groups

e Qur vision:

“To improve the health and wellbeing of homeless and other
marginalised groups of people by the delivery of responsive and
high quality healthcare services.” and “To be a national leader in

the delivery of responsive, high quality healthcare with a
demonstrable record of improving the health and wellbeing of

the marginalised groups we serve.”1
T——

.y . - the inclusion |
NS practice |
INCIuSION - _

are ;
haw the assist -
peer practice H{ R







Motivation

Excluded groups often share some common
adverse life experiences such as poverty or
childhood trauma...

...this leads to poor health, multi-morbidity
and early mortality...

...but all of this is then compoung



1474

APMS practices ,

o~ : . P :
) the inclusion 4 ) the assist

\ / \ /

N

Outstanding 17

inclusion _
7 healthcare Qoncus

We are celebrating our 10" Anniversary
Thank you for your support

N

'
s
inclusion

Staff Entronce
& Goods Delivery

RIVATE PARKING
.




INCLUSION PRACTICE

® Primary Health Care Providers for Homeless since 2000
® Two GP’s, One Nurse, a Practice Manager & a receptionist

D
) ® Providing clinic sessions from Hostels & day centres




vy
Husion

e fo meet

fesponding to ngeg,
Meteving hea,

0

-

Staff Entrance
& Goods Defvery.

EIVATE PARKING

inclusion
healthcare Qe

We are celebrating our 10" Anniversary
Thank you for your support




,

What we provide
today...

Appointments with —
- GP’s
= Advanced Nurse Practitioner
= Practice Nurse
& |- Health Care Support Workers
- Mental Health Nurse
- Midwives
- Physiotherapist
- Hep C Nurse
- Turning Point Recovery Worker
ocial Prescriber




DearAlbert <O Leicester

T —E— TR e,

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP

E——

TURNING

Off|ce for Health {
POINT
roeammaney - SAN_ Improvement

& Disparities

Department

HELP THE HOMELESS
for Work & Wters .
Pensions =IOl ER ?
// A Ay : |



NCY MEETING'S

e Street Lifestyles (FSLM)
gh Sleeper Initiative (RSI)
anging Futures Programme
gency Care Collaborative (MACC)
Homelessness and Health Network Meeting

grant Health Leads Network



¢} inclusion
¢ healthoore
-~

6V

Charles Berry House
Patient Entrance




Patient Journey

Practice provides two GP sessions daily, am & pm

Patient rings or comes to the surgery door at 8am/8.30am

¥

On the day appointment booked, if none available then reception triage and
signpost or speak to GP if urgent

A

GP or ANP appointment offered

¥

Offered F2F or telephone appointment, patient choice

actice Nurse, HCSW and other clinician sessions available throughou
day




Patient Journey




>
Q
C
| -
-
O
—_
<+
-
.E
-+
(O
al




IO0U!
1YY M’f

I !\

& n

THE LIGHTHOUSE PROJECT

Delivered by The Bridge - homelessness to hope

THE BRIDGE

homelessness to hope

°° A

A




145]

The Bridge Homelessness to Hope has a set of values and objectives that aim to promote the
mental health and well-being of our guests (homeless) in Leicester so that they feel valued and

socially integrated.

Vision

That everyone in Leicester
has a place to call home
and hope for the future.

Mission

To provide support to and
opportunities for those
trapped in poverty or
homelessness.

Values

KO
WY

W

Our operating principles
are Compassion, Respect,
Hope and Every Individual

Matters.




o1
9327

Through our support
services, our 327 guests
have had an
improvement in their
income.

OUR IMPACT

4718

Our work has helped to
improve the wellbeing of
people 4718 times.

SINCE JANUARY 2020

Figures correct as of 1 October 2024

13680

Our Hub services have
been accessed 13680
times so far in 2024.

This is 52% up on 2023’s
figures — a huge increase
in need!

We have successfully
housed 317 people in
temporary or permanent
accommodation.



9%

WHAT WE DO

Monday

1.30pm

OPEN for Guests from 9.30am

Creative Session 11am-

Turning Point
-.

@

Wednesday

City of Sanctuary Use
Building — referral-only
service for asylum seekers

and refugees

Friday
OPEN for Guests from 9.30 am

Music Session 12pm-2pm

Turning Point

>

®

OPEN for Guests from 9.30am

ESOL 11am —12.30pm

Homelessness Mental Health Team
Music Tuition 12.30pm — 2.30pm

DWP Presence
Tuesday

®

OPEN for Guests from 9.30am OPEN for Guests 9am — 1pm

Homelessness Mental Health Team Turning Point

Thursday Saturday

Also happening: Reflective practice, mental health training & inductions.



THE PICTURE IN LEICEST

A HUGE rise in the number of people facing homelessness
in Leicester means the city council is facing extra
budgetary pressures of up to £54million.

- Housing crisis declared in 2022.

« Since then, there has been an 87% increase in numbers of
people facing homelessness.

« There are 1,072 households in temporary
accommodation, which the council describe as ‘the
highest in decades’.

« In September 2024, our service was accessed 1,814
times. This reflect a broader increase of 52% of visits to
the service since 2023.

icester Mercury, Leicestershire Live, our records



89

WHAT WE DO

Case Work

Support for those needing housing, benefits,
access to medical care and work advice.

* Must be 18+ years

* Be homeless in Leicester City (not County)
* Be willing to engage with our Case workers
and take relevant advice

* Can’t provide legal, benefit or medical
advice.

The Lighthouse Project

121 Face to Face and Telephone Mentoring
for 6 months to encourage social
engagement and reduce isolation

* Must be 18+ years

* Experiencing some housing related
difficulty

* Able to engage with 6 months of 1-2-1
mentoring and to benefit from it.

Referral Process for Case Work Support: Referral Process for Mentoring:

Call the office on: 0116 222 1161
Email: keith@bridgeleicester.org

Call me: 07376365672

Email me: mentoring@bridgeleicester.org



mailto:keith@bridgeleicester.org
mailto:jojo@bridgeleicester.org

6G

WHAT WE DO

Medical Support — Health Clinics

Once per month we have 2 GPs and 2 Psychiatrists on site to provide medical and psychiatric care.
* Must be 18+ years

* Be homeless/facing housing issue in Leicester City

* Be willing to engage with our Case workers and take relevant advice once medical advice is
provided

* Not at present engaging with their GP or receiving psychiatric support.

Regular Emergency Dental Clinics

Regular Free Eye tests and Glasses




)

THE BRIDGE

The Lighthouse Project

&

\l7
[
/IN

]

+ X

The Lighthouse Project aims to provide light, direction
and hope to the lives of people who have experienced or
are at risk of homelessness.

Mentoring is mentee led, our aim is to enable mentees
to explore their situation and empower them to make
changes.

This non-judgemental, professional relationship with a
mentor increases mentees’ confidence, reduces social
isolation, improves mental and physical health and
provides access to practical help.

The Mentor Coordinator will signpost for additional help
where necessary.



K’S STORY

K had sought asylum in the UK due to their sexuality being considered
a crime in their country of origin. K was referred to us by their GP as
they were depressed, anxious and isolated. K spoke basic English, lived
in temporary shared accommodation and had no family or friends.

Paired K with a mentor after an assessment

Donated a bike — learned their surroundings, had transport, bike rides
for mental wellbeing

Provided food and clothing donations when necessary

Crisis support when mental health took a dip — psychological
education

Encouraged engagement with ESOL classes, maths and English and St
Mungoes work experience course, engagement with LGBT+ charities

Referred to a STAR worker when they were finally awarded a flat after
2 years in temp accommodation

Provided with referrals and donations to make the flat liveable
Attended first ever Pride with mentor and friends
Successful in volunteer application to local LGBT+ charity

Mentor is now a Trustee for same charity

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-SA


https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/User:Admrboltz
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/

THE LIGHTHOUSE PROJECT OUTCOMES

2023

100% of mentees said they have gained a ‘new perspective or direction in life’ at their exit interview
100% of mentees reported an improvement in physical or mental health at their exit interview

5x mentees have gained voluntary or paid work

All mentees have maintained their tenancy or moved into better accommodation

25x mentees have reported higher levels of confidence and self-esteem

25x mentees have reported reduced levels of loneliness

20x Mentees have engaged with medical services

Mentees have received donations in periods of crisis around 40 times



Receive up to 6 hours
training in PIE, Conflict
Management and Mental
Health Awareness and are
all DBS checked

Mentors also have access
to at least 1 hour a month
extra training and 2 hours
a month supportin a
reflective space.

OUR VOLUNTEERS

General volunteers are
supervised and supported
by our Volunteer
Coordinator

Mentors are supervised
and supported by the
mentor coordinators JoJo
or Loki

Mentors receive an
additional 2-4 hours
induction training

We have a Peer Volunteer
pathway carefully created
to support people with
lived experience to gain
volunteering opportunities



PSYCHOLOGICALLY
INFORMED
ENVIRONMENT

It’s an approach to supporting
people out of homelessness, in
particular those who have
experienced complex trauma...

Here at The Bridge we work within a Psychologically
Informed Environment (PIE)

(With expert support and guidance from Dr Suzanne Elliott, clinical
psychologist with Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust)

This is because research has found that:

e Experiencing trauma can lead to homelessness,
losing your home can be traumatic and being

homeless can be traumatic.
Goodman et al (1991)

e There is a strong link between homelessness and

complex trauma (trauma in early childhood).
Nick Maguire et al (Southampton Uni)

e 85% of those in touch with criminal justice,
substance misuse and homelessness services have

experienced trauma as children.
Lankelly Chase Foundation, (2015)



Many of our guests may:

*Find it difficult to manage their emotions

AT WTTA R o movisive not consideringthe consequences of ther
AND MENTEES “Be withdrawn
18+

“Feel Isolated
=Be reluctant to engage or to change

=Exhibit anti-social behaviour




AIMS OF A
PSYCHOLOGICALLY
INFORMED ENVIRONMENT

" Increase safety

" Increase control
S

" Increase understanding
" Increase empathy

= Enable recovery to begin

= Decrease risk of secondary trauma

= Decrease likelihood of re-traumatisation



VOLUNTEERING OPPORTUNITIES

OPEN TO PEOPLE WITH LIVED EXPERIENCE OF HOMELESSNES

\)
N\

Community cafe volunteer

&) 9-2.30

e Support kitchen lead

L9

* Keep area hygienic
and tidy

e Serving food and
supporting guests

= N
m—r 1 @
e 2 N ™
Store room support Film club Reception volunteer Telephone or F2F Mentor
O Flexible ® 2-4.30 Thursday ) 9.30-2.30 ® Flexible

Organising donations * Facilitating a *  Welcoming * Supporting a mentee
of clothes and food in welf:oming *  Helping guests with by meetir\g gr .
the store room. environment small queries communicating with

«  Joining in and . them once a week.

_ Helping with referrals
supporting guests

Contact our Volunteer Coordinator: volunteering@bridgeleicester.org



mailto:volunteering@bridgeleicester.org

THANKS

Q@ AN
- , L LISTENING
>

&



About

Turning Point

e @

Turning Point is a leading social enterprise providing health
and social care services across England supporting people to
improve their health and wellbeing whether that is at home,
within the workplace or through specialist services.



0L

Rough Sleepers Team POINT._ Q

* Leicester was one of the 20 areas to receive funding as part of a rough sleeper’s drug and alcohol

treatment grant (RSDATG). This was linked to the governments manifesto pledge to eradicate
rough sleeping by the end of parliament. Funding was to support work with people who are rough
sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping who have substance problems.

* The team currently comprises of a Coordinator, Team Leader, 7 Recovery Workers, 3 Advanced

Practitioners, a Peer Support Worker and an Independent Nurse Prescriber.

* The average Rough Sleeper caseload in the city is around 200 active Service Users, comprised of
those who are rough sleeping or at risk of homelessness. The average Recovery Worker caseload

is 25



1.

TURNING

What this means in practical termseen.

* More Recovery Workers were recruited to work within the team.
* Anincrease in the availability of street -based support/treatment (Outreach)

* Recovery Workers were assigned to different in reach settings in order to build up familiarity and
relationships. The main purpose being to encourage people into treatment and maintain them in
treatment.

* Link people to other healthcare services — Hep C treatment, fibro scanning for liver problems
* Support people to get into and stay in suitable accommodation

* Quicker access into treatment, including rapid prescribing. Our clinical team have the same
approach and work from in reach venues.

* Closer working with partners and programmes that support this cohort, including Changing
Futures, Inclusion Healthcare, No 5, LCC, HTH, The Bridge, Action Homeless and LPT.

* We are open for drop ins
* Responsive to on the day support. Can do attitude. Not based on appointments.

d

,~\



¢l

. TURNING
People who rough sleep are more likely 2.

to exhibit:

e Impulsivity and difficulty managing emotions .

e Higher rates of physical and mental health issues.

e Higher suicidality and self harm rates.

e Using substances in ways that increase risk to self and others.
e Appearing withdrawn or socially isolated.

e Behaving in ways that trigger rejection or judgment.

e Lacking a structure or daily routine.

e Having not been in employment or education for a long time.
e Being known to Criminal Justice services.

e Disengaging from substance use and housing services .

e Mistrust of authorities (often in the context of previous institutionalisation), or services they deem to be
representative of authorities.

F |
”~

e




Assertive

Outreach

TURNING
POINT

e

Due to the complexity that many homeless people exhibit
services need to be based on assertive outreach. Going to the
places where they are appointment-based services an
expectations on individuals to travel to services can be a barrier
to entering treatment.

Conversely many homeless people do engage with support
services including homeless centres and taith-based support-
and it is incumbent on Turning Point to reach out to them in
those locations rather than expect them to engage with
statutory and more mainstream provision.



HEALTH

Harm reduction. Our aim to reduce health and safety related risks. This is done by educating Service Users. Interventions will
include discussions around high-risk situations, overdose awareness, levels of tolerance, relapse prevention and a person’s
recovery capital. We also have a needle exchange programme.

We work to facilitate change and take every opportunity to engage with people

TP’s recent response to the local Nitazine’s concern

Naloxone campaign.

Well-Being Clinics. Hep C treatment, Fibro scanning

Opiate Substitute Medication. Evidence shows if you are prescribed you are 50% less likely to suffer a fatal overdose.

Also worth mentioning....by using our expertise we support local partners with consultancy, advice and training. This includes,
drug and alcohol awareness sessions, overdose awareness sessions which includes vital training on the administering of
Naloxone.




G

TURNING ‘
lPlodIbN Ti bili ,'~\

Partnership Work is vital to Turning Points work and particularly the work of the Rough
Sleepers Team. Our ability to support and manage the risks of Service Users relies on
working with key partners. Some examples;

* Inclusion Healthcare/Shared Care. Service Users prescribed via shared care arrangement
and a Recovery Worker based at Charles Berry House

* Recovery Worker seconded to Changing Futures

Daily outreach with Help the Homeless, Leicester City Council

Recovery Workers based in other homeless support services
Sunday Breakfast Club at Dear Albert
Recovery Workers based in Temporary Accommodation premises



9/

Thank You

W
e @

Selena.Jackson@turning-point.co.uk __. -
Andrea.Knowles@turning-point.co.uk \

\



https://www.facebook.com/TurningPointSocialEnterprise/
https://twitter.com/TurningPointUK
https://www.linkedin.com/company/turning_point/
https://www.turning-point.co.uk/
mailto:Selena.Jackson@turningpoint.co.uk
mailto:Andrea.Knowles@turning-point.co.uk

Leicestershire Partnership
NHS Trust

# helle my nameiis...
o’

Homeless Mental

AreLPT

compassion respect

selon respect ghnson, Senior Practitioner and
uzanne Elliott, Clinical Psychologist
October 2024

0116 2958442
Homeless.mhs@nhs.net

www.leicspart.nhs.uk




8L

Mental Health and Homelessness

High incidence of mental
health / substance misuse
problems.

Low level of registration with
GP’s and often no contact
address

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust

P

K

Complex systems to be
negotiated to gain access to
mental health services and
difficulty maintaining contact /
unpredictable daily life

Health care — low priority for
homeless people




HMHS are commissioned to
provide

1. a service for the population of Leicester City with aim of
facilitating access for those people with SMI into secondary
care MH services.

2. Provide accessible assessment & short term interventions to
facilitate engagement with these services.

3. Supporting CPA process by ensuring service users do not
‘fall through the net’

4. Provide additional MH support to those people not requiring
secondary care input & signposting to other support services
(inc housing)

6.

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust



Team Members

0.25 wte Team Manager
1 wte Senior MH Practitioner (Nurse)

3.8 wte Mental Health Practitioners (1.8 Nurses, 1 OT & 1

additional Nurse from DATG monies.)

1 wte Support Time and Recovery worker
1 wte Team secretary & part-time medical secretary.

0.8 wte Psychologist & 1 psychologist DATG

4

0.1 wte Consultant Psychiatrist

Additional input from trainee psychologist & rotational junior
psychiatrists

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust



Areas covered

« ‘Outreach’ service to cover approx 1000
homeless people (inc hidden homeless) in the
city & people within 3 months of new tenancy
commencement from homelessness.

« Vol and statutory sector hostels, refuges, day
centres, street outreach, visits to other venues
by arrangement

 Mental Health self —referral ‘drop-in’ 9.30-12.30
every weekday morning at Y, Tue/Thur @ The
bridge & 10-1, Wed / fri at No 5 9.30-12.30

18

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




Flexible access to the service

 Broad definition Of ‘Homelessness’

Rough sleeping, hostel, refuges, supported housing,
sofa surfing / temporary accommodation, within 3
months of tenancy commencement from homelessness.

 Broad definition of ‘Mental Health’

Anxiety, Depression, Psychosis, Personality Disorder,
Learning Disabilities, Acquired Brain In ua/ / Cognitive
Impairment, PTSD, Drug & Alcohol, Self Harm /"Suicidal
Thoughts, Reaction to life events

« Sources of ‘Referral’

Self or anyone in contact with someone who is
homeless

8

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




What do you get?

* Quick, flexible response to referrals
« Assessment by a qualified mental health professional

« All professionals working within NHS secondary care so
easy access to all other mental health services offered
by Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust

 Psychological therapies offered by a qualified clinical
psychologist

 Psychiatric diagnosis and aftercare by a qualified
psychiatrist

* Support that follows the person, rather than only being

available while they are in specific venues / sites.

€8

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust



¥8

What Do We Do?

Assertively Engage & promote / assist engagement with health services
(inc Street Outreach with LCC)

Screening / Assessment & Diagnosis
Counselling / Supportive listening
Information / Advice / Health Promotion
Life / social skills training & support
Practical assistance (housing, benefits etc)

Signposting: referral & link to support services
Escort to hospital & other appointments

Individual /group clinical psychological interventions
Risk Assessment & Management
Crisis prevention (not intervention — this is via CRT/CAP)

Liaison with mainstream services / Advocacy

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




G8

What Do We Do?

Consultation: varied pool of expertise for other services

Follow-up & Transitional Resettlement Support in tenancies (for those
engaged with service)

Repeat Homelessness Prevention (for people placed in new tenancies
from homelessness)

Training, including PIE training

Teaching / Training of nursing, clinical psychology & psychiatry
trainees

Formulation, Risk & Care planning as part of Frontline Multi Agency
Care Collaborative meeting.

Development & support of Multi-agency Homeless Services (locally
and nationally)

Service development work: Local Authority / Trust - Strategies &
Policy

Research & Service evaluation

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




Approaches:
Informal vs Formal

Short Duration Longer Duration
Adverse response to Problems interfere with ability
everyday stress / life events significantly and contribute
& homelessness towards homelessness
oVIHP Assessment / Short MHP Assessment / Short term
Gterm support / advice / support / Psychiatric Diagnosis /
psychological interventions Psychological assessment /

formulation / Intervention
‘Drop-in’ support on request

Planned follow-up sessions
Referral to other support

services if required Transfer to mainstream services
for long term treatment & follow

up

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust



Activity Data snapshot

« minimal referrals for families from LCC since March 20
« Minimal contacts at Dawn Centre since March 20

« Majority of contacts by drop-in (contacts have increased
overall)

 Previous demographics

52% history of rough sleeping

« 60% Male

« 81% White British

 50% age 25 - 44, 33% age 16 - 24, 17% age 45+
» 48% prior contact with local MH services

* 13% prior MH contact elsewhere

.8

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust



LPT CAP and Hub

 The Central Access Point (CAP) provides a single number,
operating 24 hours a day, seven days a week, which service
users, health and social care professionals and referrers and
use to access our mental health services directly.

 The team undertakes triaging of all referrals to establish the
urgency and level of need and the appropriate service for the
service user.

« As well as self-referrals they also deal with non-urgent calls
from GPs and other referrers

88

Contact LPT CAP & Crisis line: 0808 800 3302
CAPreferrals@leicspart.nhs.uk

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




LPT Mental Health Hub

* ‘mental health urgent care hub’ for people of all ages set up
during COVID19 crisis in just 11 days.

 Based on the Glenfield Hospital site, the hub is part of the
system-wide COVID-19 response for Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland, providing urgent mental health assessments and
support, and reducing Emergency Department attendances,
allowing hospital staff to focus on COVID-19 patients.

« Individuals are referred to the hub by a range of agencies
including police, NHS 111, GPs, Emergency Department staff
and other LPT services, and Centralised Access Point.

68

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust




How to refer

« Talk to service user about referral-
offer our team leaflet

« Call us to talk over any queries
Complete a referral form

 email it to us (using a secure email
account!)

« We will be in touch with an

aﬁﬁointment within a few days

émre_ LP'!'

integrity trust

06
[




Any questions?

O
=

Philip.Johnson@nhs.net

Suzanne.Elliott13@nhs.net

AreLPT

compassion respect
integrity trust


mailto:Philip.Johnson@nhs.net
mailto:Suzanne.Elliott13@nhs.net




€6

Homelessness in Leicester City: A
Health Needs Assessment

Gurjinder Bans, Programme Manager in Public Health
Laura French, Consultant in Public Health

<&

Leicester
City Council



v6

What is a Health Needs Assessment!

A systematic approach to reviewing the specific health needs
of a population and whether or not they are met

Can be condition specific (e.g. diabetes, CVD), population

specific (e.g. care-leavers, older people) or service-based (e.g.
sexual health service)

Can be epidemiological, corporate or comparative (though
generally a mixture of all three methods)



G6

Why do we need an HNA?

Public Health: Last version was published in 2016 - needed updating

Housing: Homelessness review has a health and wellbeing chapter -
recognised the need for the evidence base to be refreshed

NHS Integrated Care Board: Initial request to inform commissioning of
primary care services. Timescale was too short for this, and it was
decided that a more in depth needs assessment considering changes
since pandemic and impact of cost-of-living crisis would be more helpful



96

Why is homelessness important to our work in Public
Health?

Dahlgren and Whitehead, 1991. The Health Determinants ‘Rainbow’ Mod



L6

ot everyone experiences health equally

Life expectancy at birth for Leice
by mid-layer super output area (MS

Life expectanc
by middle super ou
= 85 087
B0 83 w085
Bl 5171083
o Bl g0 1081
Sattronll ; 7750080

Compared to Leit
T Better (1

| Similar (2
2 Worse

Leicester Female |

ision
uncil
ier 2022

s reserved Lecester City Councd. 100019264, 2022

Rushey Mead

West “South
Knighton SKnighlon
g

1
Qe

vision
ouncil
ber 2022
s reserved Leicastor ity Couns. 100019264, 2022

fingertips: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health

Life expectancy at birth for Leices!
by mid-layer super output area (MSOA

Life expectancy
by middle super outp
I 81 10818
1 79 w1
BN 7691073
R 75 769
Bl 67075
NiA
Compared o Leicest
71 Beter (0
| simiar (22)
7 worse (8

Leicester Male life e:



86

The Kings Fund specifically highlights people experiencing
homelessness as a group at risk of inequalities:

Inequalities between who?

Differences in health status and the things that determine it can be experienced by

people grouped by a range of factors. In England, health inequalities are often
analysed and addressed by policy across four types of factors:

socio-economic factors, for example, income

geography, for example, region or whether urban or rural

specific characteristics including those protected in law, such as sex, ethnicity or
disability

socially excluded groups, for example, people experiencing homelessness.




Content of the document

Intro

Who is at risk and why?
Level of need

Local Stakeholder enge
Local services
Projected,'

Unmet r 4

1)
2)
3)
4)
S)
6)
7)
)

o




Who is at risk?

* Visible homeless and hidden homeless

* Homelessness is a complex issue that can be influenced by various factors, including individual
circumstances, structural challenges, and systemic issues.

« Groups at higher risk for homelessness include:

* Those with financial issues
Those with mental health issues

00T

* Those with substance misuse

* Those with experience of trauma, abuse or violence

* Those with experience of the criminal justice system

* Those with multiple and complex needs

« Gypsies and travellers, sex workers, migrant workers, refugees and asylum seekers

« Individuals are also more likely to experience homelessness on more than one occasion in their
lifetime, as homelessness itself is a risk factor for another period of homelessness



10T

Who is at risk? - Leicester

Leicester is one of the fastest growing cities in England, with the population having increased by
11.8% since 2011.

There are higher levels of income deprivation than the national average with 40% of Leicester’s
population residing in the 20% most income deprived areas nationally.

It has a relatively low wage economy, with higher levels of unemployment than the national
average.

The city is ethnically diverse, with residents from over 50 countries across the world. In 2020, over
1/3 of the City's residents were born outside of the UK.

It is also a City of Sanctuary; a place of safety and welcome for people who have fled situations of
extreme danger in their own countries. As a designated National Asylum Seeker dispersal city,
Leicester is home to a community of asylum seekers. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been
a noted increase in the number of cases being referred to the Local Authority.



Why homeless individuals are at risk of poor health outcomes

Social gradient in health Figure 2. Average life expectancy for homeless individuals
and that of the general population (Eng & Wales)
Lower Life Expectancy: Figure 2.

| %4 Public Health England Health Matters
In 2021, the Office for National Statistics (ONS) found the leading
causes of death were: Average age of death
> d rug-poisoning, accounted for 35% Q People who sleep rough over a long period of time face a
.. higher likelihood of dying prematurely and dying from injury,
I—\> suicides accounted for 13% . . . poisoning and suicide, compared to the general population

% alcohol-specific deaths accounted for 10%

Average age at death of In comparison, in the general
Poorer health: respiratory diseases, skin issues, mental health BRRREIG experience populationithe aye e,
. . homelessness was: death was:
problems, substance misuse issues, dental problems etc
244 242 276 281
Life course: cyclical nature of homelessness years years years years
for men for women for men for women

Children in temporary accommodation face challenges in
accessing healthcare, leading to increased vulnerability to
infections and accidents. They are also more likely to experience Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS)
stress, anxiety, depression, and behavioural issues. Homelessness

also impacts educational attainment, with higher school

absenteeism, bullying, and isolation more likely. This negative

impact on health and development is not limited to the time spent

in homelessness but also extends beyond the homelessness period

Source: Office for National Statistics (2018) —figures for deaths registered in England and Wales, 2013 to 2017



Level of Need: Prevalence

National and local statistics provided where available for:

Rough sleeping

Knclmén to local authority through Homeless Prevention and Support services. Demograp i
including:

— Families

Single and childless couples
Repeat homelessness
Young people :
Persons from abroad with restrictec
Offenders/ ex-offenders

Known to Local Authority thr

Known to Primary --"'

Overcrowding ;

Concealed House

Known thro ugt




Level of need: Health Needs/Prevalence

Patient experience at GP/ access to healthcare

* There is limited data available on all of the
wider determinants of health

» 92% of patients had a positive experience at
Inclusion. This compares to 64.2% for the rest
of the GP’s in LLR

* F®ver three quarters of Inclusion patients
ere satisfied with appointment times (86.5%
of patients) compared to less than half of the
national average (48.6%) and all other GP’s in
LLR (47.1%)

* Inclusion Healthcare patients face greater
challenges in accessing paid work or full-time
education - significantly worse than the
national and local average (6.4%, 63% and
65.5% respectively)

Figure 3. Patient experience at GP & Wider Determinants of Health

Indicator

Time period

Count

Inclusion England LLR ICB

Healthcare

% who have a positive
experience of their GP
practice

2023

92% 71.3% 64.2%

% satisfied with practice
appointment times

2023

48.6% 47.1%

86.5%

% patients enabled to
book and cancel
appointments online

March 2024

64

45.8% 37.3%

% satisfied with phone
access

2023

77.7% 49.8% 44.5%

% with caring
responsibility

2022

9.4% 18.9% N/A

% reported to be in paid
work or in full time
education

2022

63.0% 65.5%

Source: Fingertips

Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the

likelihood that the observed differences or

relationships are not due to chance. Where there is
a large difference, but this finding is not significant,
this can be related to small sample sizes leading to
uncertainty in the estimate.

Significantly worse than national average
Significantly better than national average
Not significantly different to the national average

Significantly lower than national average



Level of Need: Health Needs/Prevalence

Mental ill health is significantly higher in IH patients

Mental Health

Figure 4. Patient experience at GP & Wider Determinants of Health

compa red to LLR and England (’] ']‘6%1 1.07% and Indicator Time period Count Inclusion England LLR ICB (04C)
o . . . Healthcare
1 é.respec.tlvely). Slnce 201 8/1 91 .the prop(?rtlon Of Depression: QOF prevalence (18+ yrs) (%) 2022/23 377 44.4% 13.2% 10.9%
patients with mental health conditions registered Depression: QOF incidence (18+ yrs) - new diagnosis 2022/23 22 2.6% 1.4%
with IH has increased. It is now approximately %)
double what it was 5 years ago with 51 individuals — - — — - L
. - Newly diagnosed patients with depression who had a 2022/23 7 65.9% 58.6%
recorded in 2018/19 compared to 99 in 2022/23, OF | eyiew 10.56 days after diagnosis (%)
proportions of 5% and 11.65% respectively.
Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) (%) 2022/23 56 6.6% 0.7% 0.5%
. . . ] Alzheimer's disease or dementia (%) 2021 - 5.0% 0.6% 0.6%
. ression d|ag noses h|gher amongst IH patients Mental health: QOF prevalence all ages) (%) 2022/23 99 11.65% 1.0% 1.07%
( 4% Compared to 1 3 2% in Eng|and |ncreaSing % reporting a long-term mental health problem 2023 - 43.2% 12.7% 12.8%
o Patients with severe mental health issues having a 2022/23 53 57.0% 68.5% 83.4%
over the last 5 years. There are now 377 patients :
X . comprehensive care plan
recorded with depression, compared to 233 (or
24.8%) when re porting began in 2012/13. The Record of a BP check in the last 12 months for patients 2022/23 65 69.9% 79.0% 88.4%
2022/23 figures are also significantly higher than all | on the mental heath register
figures preceding 2020/21. Record of BMI in the last 12 months for patients on 2022/23 72 77.4% 77.1% 87.6%
the mental health register
° Thesg flndlngs SUppOFt eXIStlng |Ite rature WhICh Patients with psychosis who have a current record of 2022/23 64 68.8% 76.4% 89.1%
highlights the mental health of people who are alcohol consumption
homeless ISR than the general populatlon. Patients with psychosis who have a current record of a 2021/22 37 70.6% 81.2%
lipid profile

Not significantly different to the national average

Source: Fingertips

Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the likelihood that the observed differences or
relationships are not due to chance. Where there is a large difference, but this finding is not
significant, this can be related to small sample sizes leading to uncertainty in the estimate.

Significantly lower than national average

Significantly higher than national average



Level of need: Health Needs/Prevalence

Literature indicates the physical health of people
who are homeless is worse than the general
population with lower rates of vaccinations, oral
health problems, women-specific health problems,
and poorer nutritional health. It also indicates multi-
morbidity in this cohort, referring to the presence of
two or more long-term conditions.

=
P%jortion of those with long term conditions is
reported to be higher in those who are homeless
compared to the national and local average (70.5%,
54.6% and 48.2% respectively)

Smoking prevalence is significantly higher compared
to the general population (67.1% compared to
14.7% nationally and 15.5% in LLR). This accounts for
570 individuals. Smoking is a known risk factor for
heart disease, lung cancer and strokes.

Between April 2022 and March 2023, over 200
individuals engaged in drugs and alcohol treatment
were either at risk of rough sleeping, or rough
sleeping.

Physical Health

Figure 5. Physical Health Indicators

Indicator Time period Count Inclusion England | Leicester City ICB
Healthcare (04C)
% with a long-standing health condition 2023 - 70.5% 54.6% 48.2%
Hypertension: QOF prevalence (all ages) 2022/23 38 4.5% 14.4% 12.3%
Smoking: QOF prevalence (15+ yrs) 2022/23 570 14.7% 15.5%
% Active smokers (GPPS) 2023 - 54.2% 13.6% 15.7%
% Former smokers (GPPS) 2023 - 26.3% 15.9%
Record of offer of support and treatment 2022/23 419 91.9% 92.3%
in the last 24 months for smokers aged 15+
yrs: QOF
Epilepsy: QOF Prevalence (18+ yrs) 2022/23 16 1.9% 0.8% 0.7%
Diabetes: QOF Prevalence (17+ yrs) 2022/23 34 4.0% 7.5% 10%
COPD: QOF Prevalence (18+yrs) 2022/23 20 2.4% 1.8% 1.3%
Asthma: QOF Prevalence (6+ yrs) 2022/23 79 9.3% 6.5% 5.1%
Cancer: QOF Prevalence (all ages) 2022/23 8 3.5% 1.7%
New Cancer Cases (crude incidence rate) 2021/22 N/A 223 540 331

Source: Fingertips

Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the

Significantly worse than national average

Significantly better than national average

likelihood that the observed differences or relationships

are not due to chance. Where there is a large difference,
but this finding is not significant, this can be related to

small sample sizes leading to uncertainty in the estimate.

Not significantly different to the national averag

Significantly lower than national average

Significantlv higcher than national average



Level of need: Support needs of accommodation

service users

From 2018/19 to 2021/22, 6,951 people presented to Leicester City Council (LCC) funded
accommodation services (not including domestic abuse safe accommodation).

3,722 customers presented with no support needs, accounting for over 53% of
presentations.

For the remaining cohort, the top 3 support needs in each year were mental health issues,
physical health issues and those with an offending history.

The number of individuals with mental health problems was the highest bf; some margin,
showing mental health to be the most prevalent health issue for people who are
homeless or at risk of homelessness in Leicester.

Many customers present with more than one support need. About 25% of clients have
mental health support needs and over 20% have many/complex needs (two or more
support needs).



Level of Need: Healthcare Services

Growing recognition of tri-morbidity, and a need for holistic care which spans mental and physical
health and wellbeing, as well as the recognition that the wider determinants of health have on health
status

Compared to the general population, street homeless individuals are over six times more likely to
present at A&E and four times more likely to be admitted to hospital. They are also more likely to be
admitted for emergency episodes and have three times longer hospital stays (20). This is due to
Ocomplex healthcare needs, characterised by multiple co-morbidities, later presentation, and
complications with discharge. Together, these factors can make the cost of treatment of this vulnerable
population more expensive.

Bespoke, specialised services (e.g., GPs) exclusively serving homeless patients are one way of
overcoming barriers improving access to healthcare for individuals who are homeless. Studies show
these services were rated more favourably by the homeless than mainstream services, with improved
patient management and continuity of care, reduced hospital admissions, including emergency
admissions, reduced outpatient DNAs , and a considerable reduction in healthcare spend,
demonstrating cost-effectiveness.



Stakeholder Engagement

Methodology:

* Between April-June 2023: 13 semi-structured interviews undertaken with service providers (including
5, The Bridge, Action Homeless, Inclusion Health, Prison services, YMCA, Addiction services, Street O
focus group with roughly 30 people who are homeless

Service providers include: Thematic analysis
I@themes

Serwce provision and quality
+ Attitudes and feelings

Service barriers and gaps

Individual, structural and/

Challenges




Stakeholder Engagement

Service provision and quality

OTT

High satisfaction with Inclusion Healthcare's service operations, provision, staff commitment,
competency and a clear preference for IH over mainstream GP’s

Positive attitudes expressed towards Turning Point and No. 5, with staff reported to go above
expectations

Attitudes and feelings

Homeless individuals expressed gratitude for bespoke services - forming relationships with
healthcare providers is important to them.

Homeless individuals were often fatalistic when thinking about authority figures, and they were
guided by previous experiences of being let down by the system.

A lot of homeless individuals are used to being failed by authorities - healthcare professionals feel
they need to work hard to disprove this.



Stakeholder Engagement

Service barriers and gaps

* Homeless individuals expressed dissatisfaction with A&E
« Limited provision for basic needs e.g. shelter, warmth, and food, resulting in homeless individuals “dreading” weekends

«  The majority of providers expressed concerns re services due to gaps and barriers. Felt the system was failing to protect and cater to all
homeless individuals, including those who are banned and those with learning difficulties.

*  Reduction of drop-in services following the COVID-19 pandemic considered disruptive and limits access - emphasised that many
F=dividuals prefer drop-in services over fixed appointment, with appointments increasing risk of late arrivals and being turned away.

=

* [B®oking appointments via phone - barrier to access

Individual, structural and/or systemic factors

+  Concerns around: Housing stock shortage and decline over the last decade, lack of council-owned properties and abundance of private
landlords, and bed shortages

* Individuals housed in temporary accommodation for protracted periods of time - disruptive and causes sense of instability
*  Bureaucratic nature of the system difficult to understand, particularly for those with complex needs or poorer literary skills
* Inadequate healthcare pathways - basic healthcare needs not met

+  Stigmatisation - homeless individuals viewed as ‘too difficult’ and felt rejection from A&E due to perception that they were there for
shelter rather than legitimate reasons.

+  Discrimination against LGBTQ+ individuals akin to ‘a prison mentality’



AN

Stakeholder Engagement

Challenges

Challenges in breaking the homelessness cycle and the complexity of cases

'‘Cuckooing’ (when the home of a vulnerable person is taken over by a criminal in order to
use it to deal, store or take drugs, facilitate sex work, as a place for them to live, or to
financially abuse the tenant) - a major challenge in Leicester. Often cuckooing occurs due to
“friends of friends” who were invited to stay at an individual’s new flat. Feelings of isolation
when suddenly moving into a flat on their own can exacerbate the risk of cuckooing
resulting in vulnerable individuals being abused by others in the community. Cuckooing
can sometimes result in individuals finding it difficult to regain any housing support.

Substance use

Many using drugs and alcohol as coping mechanisms, despite wanting and trying to
abstain.

Many individuals wanted to avoid The Dawn Centre due to its perceived drug culture.



Stakeholder Engagement

Policy changes

+  COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted longstanding services.

*  Other changes included the loss and lack of outreach, loss of day centres, and the shortage of community psychiatric
nurses (CPNs) to support with the mental health of the homeless.

* ltwas implied that provision was not what it used to be in Leicester; service provision and quality had decreased.

=
w
Integrated care

*  Multi-partnership, co-ordinated working was identified as important to support homeless individuals.

«  Stakeholder buy-in from the police and pharmacies were noted as very useful; with police bringing heavily intoxicated
individuals to No. 5, and pharmacy staff passing on messages for patients. It was suggested that a liaison nurse between
Inclusion Healthcare and the hospital would also be valuable.

« Several participants commented that communication between partners could be improved.

*  More could be done, especially integration between primary care, mental health, and housing.



vit

Projected housing needs
* Housing stock - shortages locally and nationally

« Home ownership - growing difficulty for those in a lower income
bracket to afford homes

* Private rented sector - rise

 Social housing - demand outstrips supply



Unmet Needs, Gaps and Recommendations
30+ recommendations under the following key themes:

* Housing

« Understanding prevalence / knowledge gaps

* Health care service provision

« Wider determinants of health/ wrap around and support services
 System working

* Local authority recommendations to be included in next revision of
Homelessness Strategy Action Plan






LEICESTER HOMELESSNESS:
JOINT SPECIFIC NEEDS
ASSESSMENT

A Joint Specific Needs Assessment (JSpNA) is a statutory process by which local authorities and
commissioning groups assess the current and future health, care and wellbeing needs of the local
community to inform decision making.

The JSpNA:

e |s concerned with wider social factors that have an impact on people’s health and wellbeing such as
poverty and employment.

e Looks at the health of the population with a focus on behaviours which affect health, such as
smoking, diet and exercise.

e Provides a view of health and care needs in the local community

e |dentifies health inequalities

e Indicates current service provision

e |dentifies gaps in health and care services, documenting unmet needs

N
<hH
3

Completed: September 2024 Leicester

City Council
117



CONTENTS ettt ettt ettt ettt et h e bt et s a e s bt e b e et e ea b e sb e e s b e e b e eaeesaeesh e e bt ea et saeeehe e b e e m et eaeeeh e e b e emt e ea b e eb e e b e ea b e eabeebbe b e et e emnesaeenbeebeensesnnenaie 2
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st s e bt e a e s e sae e s et e e st e s et e s et e aa e eae e e bt e st e an e eaaesa s e s b e e bt sanesanesreenesanesanes 6
AIMS OF THE JOINT SPECIFIC NEEDS ASSESSIMENT (JSPINA) ....cteitietieieeiteitet et sttt sttt sie sttt ettt et sae bt bt sbeebe et e e b e s e nbesneseeanes 8
1.0 INTRODUGCTION ...ttt et ettt ettt ettt et et eeu e e s bt e beeabesatesheeabeeabesaeesaeesb e e et eabeeaeenbeeaeeeaeeea e e bt eabeeubeehte bt enbeeabesabesbeebeensesaeas 9
1.1 DETINING HOMEIESSNESS. ... .veiieeiei ettt ettt e st e e e sttt e e et e e e sbeeeeasseeeseasaeeeassaeeeassseeeansseesansseeeasseeesnsseessnsseaeennseesnnnnns 9
1.2 Legislation, Policy, Guidance, and [0Cal Strat@IES .....c.uuviiieiee it ere e s e e e st e e e e nre e e snaeeens 10
2.0 WHO'S AT RISK AND WHY 2.ttt ettt ettt ettt h ettt s at e s ae e bt e et saeesbe e bt eateeateebe e beea b e eabeeb e e b e embeeabesheenbeenbeensesaeesaes 12
21 WHhO is at RiSk Of HOMEIESSNESS ......c.eeiruiiiiiiiiieiiet ettt e st st a e e s esreeneens 12
2.2 Why Homeless individuals are at Risk of Poor Health OULCOMES .......ccccvviiieiiiiiceee e 12
3.0 THE LEVEL OF NEED IN THE POPULATION ..cuttittetieitestteteetesttesttes e etesitesbeesbeestesstesieesbeenbesneesseesbeenseenseeneesseenseensesssenseensenns 15
31 PrEVAIENCE ...ttt a e st s ae e a e e a e st a e e a e e a e e e e a e r e r e e aaesraenreeas 15
3.2 HEAITN NS/ PreValENCE ..coeeeeee ettt ettt e e et e e e eaeeesanateeeaseeesaaaeesaseaesaseeesanseeesaasaeessaseeesannseeesasseeesaaeeeans 27
3.3 HEAITN Care SEIVICE USE ...ttt ettt st b ettt e bt e s bt et e st s bt e b e e b e s et e sbe e be e beeabesaeesbee bt emtesaeenbeenseentene 31
4.0 LOCAL STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT ..ottt ittt ettt et st s s et e sae s ne st e saeeneemnesneesneenneens 33
4.1 Study Design and MEthOAOIOZY ......coueiiieiiie et e e e e st e e e sttt e eeasee e e sataeeaassteseensaeeesnsaeesansseeeannens 33
4.2 RECTUITMENT OFf PartiCiPaNntsS. ... .vvii e e et e e et e e et e e e e ataeeesabeaeeeabaeeeesbaesesasaeesensseseastesesssaeessseeaans 33
4.3 SUMMATY OF KEY TREIMES ...ttt e e st e e sttt e s ateee s bt eeeeasteeesaseeeessseeeesseeessseaeesseeeennseeesnnsenns 33
5.0 LOCAL SERVICES ... iuteitterttett ettt ettt sttt ettt st s b e r et s e s b e s b e et s ane s et s bt e a e e e e s ot e sre e st e ma e e ae e emee s e e st enseene e s e e resanesnnenrnens 37
5.1 [ Lo TU T T Y= U] o] o o] o OSSP P PP PRPRPPPPPPPPRE 37
5.2 HEAITNCAIE SEIVICES ...ttt ettt ettt st s bttt at e s bt e bt et e e ateeh e et e e abeeatesb e e beeabeeabesaeenbeeabesatesaeesbeeneesatene 43
53 Integrating the Approach ACross OrganiSatiONS........ccuviiiciieeiiiieeeiee e eree e e eeeeeeeeessateeeessteeeesnsaeesssseeeesnsseesansseeesnseeennns 46
6.0 PROJECTED HOUSING NEED AND OUTCOMIES .......ooitiiiieiientientteteette st et et sitesbee e stesieesatesbeeseesmeesbee bt enseeneenseensesnsesnnenseens 48
6.1 HOUSING LANOSCAPE ....eiuetieiieitie ettt sttt ettt ettt st e et esa bt e s ab e e b et e bt e s b et s bt e sabeesabeeabe e e sbbeeabeeeabeeeabeesabeesnneesaneennneans 48
6.2 (070 1 o B AV T Y= 1 T LSS 52
7.0 UNMET NEEDS AND GAPS ....cetieitetteteetestte st et st st e sbeeste s et saeesbee bt eaeeebeesbe e st e eabeebeesbeea b e eabesbeeabeeabeembesheesbeenseeneesmeenseenseensenne 54
8.0 RECOMIMENDATIONS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st s bttt e te st e s he e s bt e et sateshe e bt e abeeaeeebeem ke ea b e eateeb e e beeabeeabesheebeembesatesaeenbeensesatanne 57
9.0 REFERENCES ... ot ieeiteittete ettt sttt ettt st e et ettt e b e bt e e e et e s b e e s b e e s e e st s ane s b e e s bt e st s aeesbe e s Rt e et emeesaeesme e st eanteseeene e s e enresnnesneenreas 61

118



ABBREVATIONS

JSpNA Joint Specific Needs Assessment

GP General Practitioner

A&E Accident and Emergency

DNA Did Not Attend

EU European Union

PRS Private Rented Sector

LCC Leicester City Council

PNG Patient Needs Groups

ACG Adjusted Clinical Groups

ICS Integrated Care Systems

ICB Integrated Care Board

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NHS National Health Service

ONS Office National Statistics

STI Sexually Transmitted Infection

DLUHC Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
UK United Kingdom

B&B Bed and Breakfast

NRPF No Recourse to Public Funds

EEA European Economic Area

ARE Appeal Rights Exhausted

HMP His Majesty’s Prison

OHID Office for Health improvement and Disparities
LSOA Lower Super Output Area

LAD Local Authority District

EHS English Housing Survey

LLR Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

QOF Quality Outcomes Framework

BP Blood Pressure

BMI Body Mass Index

GPPS General Practitioner Patient Survey

COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
PNG Patient Needs Group

NIHR National Institute for Health and Care Research
YMCA Young Men’s Christian Association

LD Learning Disability

LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay Bisexual, Transgender, Queer +
CPN Community Psychiatric Nurse

STAR Supporting Tenants and Residents

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour

AST Assured Shorthold Tenancy

PIE Psychologically Informed Environment

cv Curriculum Vitae

119



IT Information Technology

YASC The Y Advice and Support Centre

EMH East Midlands Housing

VCSE Voluntary and Community Sector Enterprise
DA Domestic Abuse

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls

IFF Industrial Facts and Forecasting Limited
ADHD Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
HCSW Health Care Support Workers

cQc Care Quality Commissioning

UHL University Hospitals of Leicester

DTR Duty To Refer

HHET Hospital Housing Enablement Service
LPT Leicester Partnership Trust

MAFs Mutual Aid Facilitation Sessions

PiH Psychology in Hostels

LIGHT Leicester Initiative Good Health Team
LHA Local Housing Allowance

DHP Discretionary Housing Payments

IMD Indices of Multiple Deprivation

ASHE Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings
ICS Integrated Care System

120




GLOSSARY

Definition

Arrears

An overdue debt, liability or obligation. An account is said to be 'in arrears' if one or more
payments have been missed in transactions where regular payments are contractually
required.

Asylum Seeker

A person who has fled their home country and applied for protection as a refugee.

Benefits

Financial reimbursement and other services provided to insureds by insurers under the terms
of an insurance contract.

Care Leaver

An individual who has been in the care of a local authority, such as a foster home, and who
receives continued support after leaving care up to a certain age.

Cuckooing

When a criminal takes over the home of a vulnerable person to use it for criminal activities.

Duty to Refer

A legal requirement for public bodies to refer individuals who are homeless or at risk of
homelessness to local housing authorities.

IMD

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a measure of relative deprivation. Seven domains
of deprivation are considered: Income, Employment, Education, Health, Crime, Barriers to
Housing and Services and Living Environment.

Local Housing Authority

The local government body responsible for providing housing services, including homelessness
prevention and support.

Morbidity

Refers to having a disease or a symptom of disease, or to the amount of disease within a
population.

No Recourse to Public Funds
(NRPF)

An immigration condition preventing certain individuals from accessing public benefits and
housing assistance.

Relief Duty

A legal obligation to help those already homeless find secure accommodation.

Statutory

Required by or having to do with law or statute.

Statutory Homelessness

Individuals or families who meet the legal criteria for homelessness and are eligible for
housing assistance from local authorities.

Substance Use

Refers to the use of drugs or alcohol.

Temporary Accommodation

Short-term housing provided by local authorities to homeless individuals or families while
longer-term housing solutions are sought.

Tri-Morbidity

A combination of physical health issues, mental health issues, and substance misuse problems
that is prevalent among homeless populations.

121




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Health inequalities are underpinned by the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age. The broad social,
economic and environmental circumstances which together influence health are known as the wider determinants of health.
The mechanisms by which both mental and physical health are impacted are complex and inter-related, often acting over a long
period of time. Having a place to call home is one of the determinants of health, with housing playing a critical role in health and
wellbeing outcomes. With reference to the Marmot Review ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’, an improvement in health inequalities
requires action across all wider determinants of health. Therefore, a joined-up, holistic approach is required for individuals who
are homeless— incorporating not only stable housing, but also simultaneous action across all other wider determinants of health.

Homelessness encompasses people living in the open air, such as on streets, as well as those living with a roof over their head.
Many are known to local authorities and therefore considered the ‘visible homeless.” Others, who are not known to authorities
as they have not sought support, do not know how to access it, or are not eligible, are considered the ‘hidden homeless.” This
report attempts to provide an assessment of all types of homelessness as far as possible.

The ‘social gradient in health’ describes the phenomenon whereby people who are less advantaged in socioeconomic position
have worse health and shorter lives than those who are more advantaged. It is unsurprising therefore, that the mental and
physical health of people experiencing homelessness is significantly worse than the general population, as is their life
expectancy. Literature suggests these individuals experience greater healthcare needs but also have greater barriers in accessing
services, resulting in them bypassing primary care (e.g. GP’s) and later presenting at secondary care services, particularly A&E.
Later presentation means they are more likely to be admitted into hospital and have longer healthcare stays, resulting in an
increased cost of treatment. Research also indicates that bespoke, specialised services exclusively serving homeless patients
helps to overcome such barriers.

Leicester is one of the few places to implement specialised healthcare services for the homeless (Inclusion Healthcare). Research
suggests specialised services are rated more favourably by the homeless than mainstream services, with improved continuity of
care, reduced hospital admissions and emergency admissions, reduced outpatient DNAs (did not attend), and a considerable
reduction in healthcare spend. More recently, a large-scale study found regular GP services struggle to provide levels of care
seen at specialist health services, with significantly higher rates of access in specialist services compared to regular practices.
Regular GP practices were less likely to provide continuity of care for substance use and had lower satisfaction rates with
homeless individuals compared to specialist GP’s and health centres.

This is further supported by focus groups with individuals experiencing homelessness which were facilitated as part of this JSSpNA
—virtually all homeless individuals reported being very satisfied with Inclusion Healthcare’s service operations and provision in
Leicester, with positive statements made on staff commitment and competency and a preference for Inclusion Healthcare over
mainstream GP’s. The large majority also expressed a positive attitude towards the substance use service, Turning Point, and No.
5 Day centre, with some individuals reporting staff members going above and beyond expectations. Many homeless individuals
reported feeling grateful for bespoke services with a valued social element, as individuals deem it important to form
relationships with their healthcare providers. Dissatisfaction with A&E was also expressed, and much of the dissatisfaction
attributed to long wait times.

Prevalence of one aspect of homelessness in Leicester can be estimated through rough sleeper counts. From 2021 to 2022,
Leicester experienced one of the highest percentage increases in rough sleeping estimates among English local authorities, and
also the highest rate of rough sleepers compared to adult comparator authorities in autumn 2022. Factors contributing to the
increase include the return of street activity post-pandemic, individuals returning to homelessness, an influx of rough sleepers
from the EU, and challenges in finding appropriate accommodation pathways for support. Changes in estimation methodology
and a record-low rate in 2021 may also influence the figures. The hidden homeless population is difficult to enumerate; proxy
measures are therefore used to gauge prevalence. Other estimates include those counted during the COVID-19 pandemic, as
part of the ‘Everyone In’ initiative where immediate accommodation was arranged for rough sleepers and other at-risk homeless
individuals. In Leicester, over 1000 individuals were accommodated. This figure is close to the number of patients registered at
Inclusion Healthcare.

The current economic climate and cost of living crisis are likely to further increase the number of individuals at risk of
homelessness both nationally and locally. Slow economic growth and uncertain forecasts for upcoming years, coupled with
welfare reforms impacting households on benefits, presents significant risks to the ongoing success of homelessness prevention
efforts. The economic disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have had a lasting impact on employment and income

122



stability; this means individuals are and will find it increasingly difficult to bridge the gap between their income and expenses,
with many spending a disproportionate amount of income on housing. Leicester has over a third of residents living in the most
deprived 20% of areas nationally. With a lower median annual pay compared to comparator authorities and the national
average, and over a quarter of residents in low paying jobs, Leicester residents are more likely to experience the impact of the
cost-of-living crisis than many other local authority areas.

An adequate supply of affordable housing is a preventative factor for people from being at risk of or experiencing homelessness.
Housing shortages reduce accessibility through price increases and can result in overcrowding and habitation in unsuitable
accommodation. Leicester has not been able to meet affordable housing targets over the last 5 years. This is not an isolated
issue, with national housing stock falling consistently below its target new homes annually over the past decade. The demand
for affordable housing and support services is outpacing supply, in turn increasing reliance on the private rented sector (PRS).
PRS rents have also been increasing in recent years, and on average are unaffordable for people on low incomes or in receipt of
benefits. This was supported by focus group and interview findings (with homeless individuals and service providers) where
there was considerable mention of the shortage of housing stock, and the decline over the past decade. The lack of council-
owned properties and an abundance of private landlords was considered a major issue -Individuals expressed being housed in
temporary accommodation for protracted periods of time resulted in severe disruption to their life; including struggling to get
back to work and always wondering when they are going to be moved, causing a sense of instability.

The local authority has several initiatives to help improve the circumstances of households who are living in the PRS or struggling
to access private rented housing. LCC (Leicester City Council) have also introduced supporting initiatives for those in council
housing considering the current economic climate and rising numbers presenting with complex needs. Furthermore, policies and
processes which consider type, severity and urgency of housing need result in homeless households achieving a significant
proportion of lettings compared to their proportionate presence on the housing register.

Individuals who are homeless in Leicester experience poorer mental health, higher rates of long-term conditions and face
greater challenges in accessing paid work or full-time education compared to the general (national) population. The clinical
segmentation tool Patient Needs Groups (PNGs) within the Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) risk stratification system revealed a
significantly worse health profile for Inclusion Healthcare patients than is seen in any other practice’s age/sex-matched cohort.
These findings support the existing literature which emphasises the significant health needs commonly experienced by homeless
individuals. Around half of individuals presenting to LCC funded accommodation services between 2018/19 to 2021/22 had
support needs, including a large proportion with mental health support needs and multiple support needs. Between April 2022
and March 2023, over 200 individuals engaged in drugs and alcohol treatment were either rough sleeping or at risk of rough
sleeping.

Focus groups and interviews indicated a generally negative view of current service provision, mainly due to perceived service
gaps and barriers, and lack of weekend provision. It was implied that provision was not what it used to be in Leicester; service
provision and quality had decreased. The bureaucratic nature of the system was deemed difficult to understand, and not
equipped to support those with poor literary skills or complex needs. Certain healthcare pathways were said to not be adequate
for the homeless community and basic healthcare needs were not always met. Additional systemic issues that were identified by
service providers were the stigmatisation that homeless individuals faced, often being viewed as ‘too difficult’. When attending
A&E, some felt rejection was due to the generalisation that they are only there for shelter, rather than for legitimate reasons.
Further integration between primary care, mental health, and housing was considered necessary, and multi-partnership, co-
ordinated working was identified as important to support homeless individuals.

These findings have informed some of the recommendations from this JSpNA and also form the basis of further exploration into
views to better understand whether there are gaps in service provision or a need for greater visibility of services themselves as
they adjust post the covid-19 pandemic. The wide array of service provision is also detailed, and includes housing support and
specialised, tailored healthcare as well as an incredibly strong voluntary sector and Leicester’s Homeless Charter that brings
business, and voluntary and statutory organisations together across the city. With consideration of all findings, unmet needs and
gaps have informed recommendations in relation to housing, understanding prevalence, healthcare service provision, the wider
determinants of health and wrap around/support services and system working.

123



AIMS OF THE JOINT SPECIFIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSPNA)

This JSpNA will provide evidence on homelessness within Leicester city to support and guide strategic decision-making to reduce
and prevent the impacts of homelessness on health. This includes commissioning service provision and resource allocation,
through identifying health inequalities and inequities, unmet needs and gaps. (1)

This work will:

e Provide a summary of available data to present need in Leicester

e Present insights gained from engagement with service users and providers
e Qutline support and service provision

¢ Identify effective interventions outlined in literature

e Make recommendations as appropriate

More information on homelessness in Leicester is also available in the Leicester Homelessness Review 2022.

124



1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 DEFINING HOMELESSNESS

The Housing Act 1996 defines a person as homeless if they:

e have no accommodation available to occupy, or are living in very transient accommodation sometimes described as
‘sofa surfing’

e are at risk of violence or domestic abuse in their current accommodation

e have accommodation but it is not reasonable for them to continue to occupy, for example because it is not affordable,
or not safe

e have accommodation but cannot secure entry to it

e have no legal right to occupy their accommodation

e live in a mobile home or houseboat but have no place to put/moor it

Figure 1 depicts homelessness as an iceberg, with individuals living on the street being the most visible, representing the tip of
the iceberg. This includes people sleeping in the open air, such as on streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or other
types of encampments. It also includes people sleeping in buildings or other places not designed for habitation such as
stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or ‘bashes,” which are makeshift shelters and can be made of
unsubstantial materials such as cardboard. It is this group that many people think of when discussing homelessness. (1)

There are many more homeless people however, that includes those engaged with local authorities. They are provided with
advice and assistance which can include temporary accommodation provision. These are demonstrated in the second tier of the
iceberg model.

The third tier represents a combination of households who may not yet be homeless, but are at risk of becoming homeless, or
those who live in unreasonable accommodation and who are not known to authorities as they have not asked for support or do
not know how to access it, and people who are not eligible for housing support. The latter group are often referred to as the
‘hidden homeless.’ This often includes those individuals living in conditions listed above.

Figure 1: The Iceberg Model, illustrating the complex picture of homelessness nationally, 2020

The housing 4,266

emergency. people sleep on the

streets on any given night

Rough sleeping
is just the tip of
the iceberg households live in temporary

accommodation - lacking a
decent, permanent home

are at risk of homelessness,
denied a safe home, or are

threatened with losing it She":er

Source: Shelter, 2020

125



1.2 LEGISLATION, POLICY, GUIDANCE, AND LOCAL STRATEGIES

1.2.1 LEGISLATION

HOUSING (HOMELESS PERSONS) ACT 1977:

Defined homelessness for the first time and placed duties on local housing departments to house people with
dependent children and other vulnerable people.

(PART 7) HOUSING ACT 1996:

Provided the statutory under-pinning for action to prevent homelessness and assistance to people threatened with or
experiencing homelessness.

HOMELESSNESS ACT 2002 AND THE HOMELESSNESS (PRIORITY NEED FOR ACCOMMODATION) (ENGLAND) ORDER

2002:

Defined a more strategic approach to tackling and preventing homelessness, in particular by requiring a homelessness
strategy for every housing authority district.

Strengthened the assistance available to people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness by extending the
priority need categories to homeless 16 and 17 year olds; care leavers aged 18, 19 and 20; people who are vulnerable
as a result of time spent in care, the armed forces, prison or custody, and people who are vulnerable because they have
fled their home because of violence.

HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 (AND DUTY TO REFER)

Amending the 1996 act

Places an enhanced prevention duty meaning that housing authorities are required to work with people to prevent
homelessness at an earlier stage. The prevention duty requires an authority to 'take reasonable steps to help the
applicant to secure that accommodation does not cease to be available'. 'Helping to secure' does not mean that the
authority has a duty to directly source and provide accommaodation for the applicant. Instead, authorities should
provide 'support and advice to applicants who are taking some responsibility for securing their own accommodation.’
This is done via development of personalised housing plans. (2)

Outlines that everyone in a local housing authority’s district should be able to access free information on preventing
homelessness; secure accommodation when they are homeless; and access free information on the help that is
available locally (2)

Requires housing authorities to provide homelessness services to all those affected, not just those who have ‘priority
need’. The degree of services provided is dependent on ‘priority need’ and other factors.

Introduced the ‘Duty to Refer’ onto specified public bodies to refer service users who they think may be homeless or
threatened with homelessness to local authority homelessness/housing options teams. The duty to refer is intended to
help to ensure that services are working together effectively to prevent homelessness by ensuring that peoples’
housing needs are considered when they come into contact with public authorities.

Local authorities are required to help where people are not yet homeless but are at risk of becoming homeless in the
next 56 days

DOMESTIC ABUSE ACT 2021

Amends Part 7 of the 1996 Act to strengthen the support available to victims of domestic abuse.

Extends priority need to all eligible victims of domestic abuse who are homeless as a result of being a victim of
domestic abuse.

Brings in a new definition of domestic abuse which housing authorities must follow to assess whether an applicant is
homeless as a result of being a victim of domestic abuse.

Brings in new responsibilities around provision of safe accommodation with an explicit statement noting Bed and
Breakfast accommodation is not to be classed as safe accommodation.

HEALTH AND CARE ACT 2022

126



e Formalises Integrated Care Systems (ICS) as commissioners of local NHS services.

e Each ICS has an Integrated Care Board (ICB), a statutory organisation to improve population health and establish shared
strategic priorities.

¢ The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ICB replaces Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG's)

e Through the ICB, partners will deliver a health and care system that tackles inequalities in health, delivers improvements
to the health, wellbeing and experience of local people and provides value for money.

Further detail on homelessness legislation, including a summary of key benefits from changes over the last 5 years is available
through the homelessness review.

1.2.2 POLICY

e Department for Health and Social Care, People at the Heart of Care: Adult Social Care Reform White Paper, 2021

e From Harm to Hope: A 10 year Drugs Plan to Cut Crime and Save Lives, Policy Paper, 2021

e Department for Health and Social Care, Health and Social Care Integration: Joining up care for people, places and
populations, Policy Paper, 2022

e Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Ending Rough Sleeping for Good, Policy Paper, 2022

e Department for Health and Social Care, Adult social care reform: Next Steps to put People at the Heart of Care, 2023

1.2.3 GUIDANCE

e Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Homelessness code of guidance for local authorities, 2018

e Department for Health and Social Care, Guidance on the Preparation of Integrated Care Strategies, 2022

¢ Department of Health and Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Board Guidance, Overview, 2022

¢ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Advocacy services for adults with health and social care needs, 2022

¢ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Integrated Health and Social Care for People Experiencing Homeless,
2022

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) provides guidance and evidence-based recommendations
developed by independent committees including professionals and lay members and consulted on by stakeholders. By
combining legal framework provided by the legislation with the evidence-based recommendations from NICE, local authorities
can enhance their approaches to homelessness prevention, support, and intervention. The most recently published guidance for
People Experiencing Homeless also includes an audit and service improvement baseline assessment tool which can be used to
evaluate whether practice is in line with the recommendations in the guideline and help to plan activity to meet
recommendations.

Recommendations from the most recent publication on ‘Integrated Health and Social Care for People Experiencing Homeless’ is
available here: Recommendations | Integrated health and social care for people experiencing homelessness | Guidance | NICE

1.2.4 LOCAL STRATEGIES

e Leicester Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022-2027

e Leicester Homelessness Review 2022

e Leicester Drugs Strategy 2023-2027

e Leicester Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2022-2027

e Domestic Abuse Strategy 2022-2025

e NHS Core20PLUSS5 (adults) — an approach to reducing healthcare inequalities.

127


https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng214/chapter/Recommendations

2.0 WHO’S AT RISK AND WHY?

2.1 WHO IS AT RISK OF HOMELESSNESS

Homelessness disproportionately affects populations that experience wider inequalities stemming from structural and/or
systemic issues, for example, those who leave the care system or criminal justice system. It often results from a combination of
events such as relationship breakdown, debt, adverse experiences such as trauma in childhood or adulthood, and ill health.
Higher risk groups include the following:

¢ Those with financial issues

e Those with mental health issues

e Those with substance use problems

¢ Those with experience of trauma, abuse or violence

e Those with experience of the criminal justice system

e Those with multiple and complex needs

e Gypsies and travellers, sex workers, migrant workers, refugees and asylum seekers. (3)

After a period of homelessness, individuals are vulnerable to further housing instability, with an increased likelihood of
experiencing homelessness on more than one occasion in their lifetime. Several ‘systems’ often need to be navigated to meet
their needs. The interconnectedness of structural and environmental risk factors plays a significant role in keeping individuals
‘stuck’ in a cycle of homelessness.

There are several upstream and downstream systemic factors that increase the risk of homelessness. Upstream causes refer to
systemic barriers and burdens that contribute to the root causes of homelessness. These factors exist at a broader societal level
and can include issues such as poverty, trauma throughout the life course, lack of affordable housing, inadequate social support
systems, systemic discrimination, and economic inequality. These upstream causes create a foundation for homelessness and
leads to individuals experiencing housing instability. (4)

Downstream causes, in this context, represent the consequences and effects that result from homelessness, particularly in
terms of medical causes leading to higher morbidity (disease or illness) and mortality (death) rates among homeless individuals.
Downstream causes can include exposure to harsh living conditions, limited access to healthcare, untreated physical and mental
health conditions, substance abuse, violence, and other adverse experiences associated with homelessness. (4)

Upstream systemic barriers and burdens contribute to downstream medical causes of high morbidity and mortality of homeless
people. Downstream causes then feedback and magnify the negative effects of upstream causes. (4) This is illustrated in
Appendix 1. These causes have been considered in informing this JSpNA.

Leicester is one of the fastest growing cities in England, with the population having increased by 11.8% since 2011. There are
higher levels of income deprivation than the national average with 40% of Leicester’s population residing in the 20% most
income deprived areas nationally. It has a relatively low wage economy, with higher levels of unemployment than the national
average. The city is ethnically diverse, with residents from over 50 countries across the world. In 2020, over 1/3 of the City’s
residents were born outside of the UK. It is also a City of Sanctuary; a place of safety and welcome for people who have fled
situations of extreme danger in their own countries. As a designated National Asylum Seeker dispersal city, Leicester is home to
a community of asylum seekers. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been a noted increase in the number of cases being
referred to the Local Authority to manage Home Office backlogs. (2)

2.2 WHY HOMELESS INDIVIDUALS ARE AT RISK OF POOR HEALTH OUTCOMES

Health inequalities are underpinned by the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age. The broad social and
economic circumstances which together influence health are known as the social (or wider) determinants of health. The
mechanisms by which these determinants impact on both mental and physical health are complex and inter-related, often
acting over a long period of time. Having a place to call home is one of the fundamental wider determinants of health outlined
by Dahlgren and Whitehead, with housing playing a critical role in health and wellbeing outcomes. (Figure 2) With reference to
the Marmot Review ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’, an improvement in health inequalities requires action across all social
determinants of health. This therefore requires a joined-up, holistic approach for a homeless individual — incorporating not only
stable housing, but also simultaneous action across all wider determinants of health.

128



There is a social gradient across many of these wider determinants — the lower an individual’s social position, the poorer the
individual’s health is likely to be. It is unsurprising therefore, that the health of people experiencing homelessness is significantly
worse than the general population.

Figure 2: The Dahlgren and Whitehead model of health determinants

Living and working

A conditions T,

Health
care
services

Age, sex, and
constitutional
factors

Source: Dahlgren and Whitehead (1991)

The average life expectancy of a homeless person is significantly below that of the general population. It is also below those who
are living in the highest deprivation decile as per the Index of Multiple Deprivation, for those who are sleeping rough, with a
shortened lifespan of around three decades less than the national average (Figure 3). (3)

Figure 3: Differences in Life Expectancy between the street homeless and the general population

| % Public Health England Health Matters

Average age of death

People who sleep rough over a long period of time face a
higher likelihood of dying prematurely and dying from injury,
. . . poisoning and suicide, compared to the general population

EEE—
Average age at death of In comparison, in the general

people who experience population the average age at
homelessness was: death was:

(]
years years years years
for men for women for men for women

Source: Office for National Statistics (2018) —figures for deaths registered in England and Wales, 2013 to 2017

Source: Public Health England, 2017

129



In 2021, the Office for National Statistics (ONS) found the leading causes of death amongst street homeless individuals was as
follows:

e drug-poisoning accounted for 35%
¢ suicides accounted for 13%
¢ alcohol-specific deaths accounted for 10% (5)

Street homeless individuals are often living in unsanitary, unsafe environments, with exposure to harsh weather and limited
access to health care services. These individuals are more at risk of respiratory diseases such as pneumonia and tuberculosis,
skin issues, infestations, wounds, and gastrointestinal problems such as dyspepsia, ulcers, diarrhoea, and vomiting. (6) They also
face a higher risk of exploitation, abuse, trafficking, and involvement in criminal activities. Transactional sex for survival purposes
also increases the risk of sexually transmitted infections (STI’s) and unwanted pregnancies. The mental health of these
individuals is also profoundly affected, with around 70% of homeless service users in England having mental health issues, and
deliberate self-harm, including suicide, being 7 times higher than that of the general population (7). This complex interplay of
physical and mental health issues is further compounded by the presence of drug and alcohol use. (6)

The complex risks faced by street homeless individuals result in barriers to accessing essential services, further impacting their
mental and physical well-being. For instance, difficulty in accessing dental care can result in chronic pain due to poor dentition,
leading to increased alcohol consumption for pain relief. This, in turn, can exacerbate mental health issues and increase the risk
of relationship breakdowns, making it harder to break the cycle of homelessness. One study showed that around 90% of street
homeless individuals experience dental problems, and among this group, 27% used alcohol to alleviate the pain (8). The
Inequalities in Oral Health in England paper published by Public Health England reported that available evidence suggests high
levels of need among the street homeless population with homeless individuals having higher levels of untreated decay and
periodontal disease, and poorer oral health related quality of life compared to the general population. (9) (10)

There is limited data available on the health impacts of those living in temporary accommodation and the hidden homeless.
However, more broadly beyond street homelessness, homelessness, and the fear of becoming homeless, can result in ill health
and/or exacerbate existing health conditions, including mental health conditions that rely on stability as a form of recovery. This
stability is particularly important in early life. Children in temporary accommodation face challenges in accessing healthcare,
leading to increased vulnerability to infections and accidents. They are also more likely to experience stress, anxiety, depression,
and behavioural issues. Homelessness also impacts educational attainment, with higher school absenteeism, bullying, and
isolation more likely. This negative impact on health and development is not limited to the time spent in homelessness but also
extends beyond the homelessness period (3).

130



3.0 THE LEVEL OF NEED IN THE POPULATION

3.1 PREVALENCE

Research published by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) outlines that an often-overlooked
aspect of homelessness is the journey through homelessness. Many individuals experience multiple types of homelessness and
accommodation while experiencing insecure housing. The average number of homeless accommodation types experienced by
those surveyed as part of the research was 3.5 over the course of a single year. This included rough sleeping, staying in refuges,
hostels, emergency accommodation and other non-permanent accommodation including sofa surfing. Therefore, it is difficult to
accurately enumerate the homeless population with one indicator or data source. Instead, proxy measures or estimates are
calculated to cover the different forms, as below. Where possible, national and local estimates are provided. (11)

3.1.1 ROUGH SLEEPING

All local authorities must submit an annual figure to The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to indicate the
number of people sleeping rough in their area on a typical night (in the Autumn). This can be an estimate or a count. Rough
sleeping counts have inherent limitations, as they provide a single snapshot on a specific night, potentially missing individuals
intentionally staying hidden for safety reasons. Estimates can also be influenced by variable factors such as weather, events, and
accommodation availability, making them less representative of year-round homelessness.

In 2022, most local authorities (80%) used evidence-based estimates, while fewer (20%) relied on counts. Since 2017 Leicester
has undertaken a street count rather than an estimate, except during the pandemic. In 2022, Leicester’s count involved
stakeholders including the City Council, volunteers, police, faith groups, outreach workers, and local residents.

In the autumn of 2022, 3,069 individuals were estimated to be sleeping rough on a given night in England, a 26% increase from
2021, and a 74% increase since 2010. However, this is a marked decrease from the time-period 2016-2019, where rough
sleeping had reached a record high level (Figure 4).

Figure 4: The number of people sleeping rough on a single night in England

The number of people sleeping rough on a single night in England

5,000 4,677

4134 4,266
4,000 3,569
3,069
2,744 2,688
3,000 5181 2,309 2,414 2,443
2000 L1768
1,000 I

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Rough sleepers

o

Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2023

While rough sleeping increased in every region of England in 2022 compared to 2021, increases have largely been driven by a
small number of areas. Over half the increase in the number of people sleeping rough on a single night is driven by 15 local
authority areas (5% of all areas), including Leicester (15th highest). In just under half of all areas (46%), the number of people
sleeping rough decreased or stayed the same compared to 2021.

Leicester experienced one of the highest percentage increases in rough sleeping estimates among English local authorities, rising
from 8 in 2021 to 34 in 2022, a 325% change. (Table 1) The 2022 count however is closer to the numbers counted in pre-covid-
19 pandemic years, albeit slightly higher. Factors contributing to the increase include the return of street activity post-pandemic,
individuals returning to homelessness, an influx of rough sleepers from the EU, and challenges in finding appropriate
accommodation pathways for support. Changes in estimation methodology and a record-low rate in 2021 may also influence the

131

figures.



Table 1: Count of rough sleepers on a ‘typical’ night in Autumn in Leicester, 2017-2022

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

31

31

22

12 8 34

Source: Homelessness Review, 2022

Figure 5 shows Leicester had the highest rate of rough sleepers compared to ONS comparator authorities in autumn 2022, with
a rate of 9.3 per 100,000. ONS comparator authorities serve as reference points for measuring similarities in demographics,
population size, socio-economic indicators, and other characteristics.

Figure 5: Rates of rough sleepers by adult comparator authorities

Rate of people sleeping rough per 100,000 people, by local authority

10
9
9.3

8 8.4

7
o
S 6
d 900000000000 00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
o 5
—
5 4 4.9 eeeeefngland:5.4
o
o 3 3.8
2 2

1

0

Leicester Nottingham Luton Coventry Birmingham Bradford

Local Authority comparators
Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2023

Note: Different methodologies were employed in Leicester (and comparator authorities) over the course of this time period for
capturing an estimate of rough sleepers (estimates, estimate including spotlight and counts). The ‘count’ based estimate
employed by Leicester in the most recent year is more likely to derive a higher estimate on rough sleepers as it involves a direct
and observable headcount of individuals sleeping rough. This may contribute to the higher rate for Leicester.

Figure 6 shows the trend in the rate of rough sleeping by local authority between 2010 and 2022. The rate of rough sleepers has
fluctuated in Leicester with the highest on record being in 2011. (15.2 per 1,000). Rates were very low during pandemic years
(2020- 2021) and have increased again for 2022.

Figure 6: Rates of rough sleeping by local authority comparators, 2010-2022

Rate of people sleeping rough per 100,000 people, by local authority

50 2010- 2022
40
o
S
O\
8 30
i
@
Q 20
(O]
©
o
10
0
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Leicester Nottingham = Bradford Coventry
Luton = Birmingham e+« England

132




Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2023

Note: Different methodologies were employed in Leicester (and comparator authorities) over the course of this time period for
capturing an estimate of rough sleepers (estimates, estimate including spotlight and counts).

While the data above is based on a snapshot of one night, many more individuals are assisted by services during the year, with
basic needs, support and advice and housing so they do not need to sleep rough. See Table 2 for the number of unique
individuals in a financial year found sleeping rough. Analysis done in conjunction with the Department of Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities concluded that there is evidence of a strong ‘off-the-street’ offer in Leicester. However, it is important to
acknowledge the rising number of rough sleepers encountered during outreach work, approximately 40% of which are not
known to LCC and ‘new’ to rough sleeping in the city. There is a recognised need to improve early interventions and access to
advice so individuals do not go on to rough sleep, as well as recognition that those who do rough sleep often have complex
support needs beyond housing needs alone.?

Table 2: Number of unique individuals in a year found sleeping rough in Leicester, 2017/18-2021/22

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
186 179 139 293 362

Source: Homelessness Review, 2022

In 2022, the majority (83%) of individuals sleeping rough on a single night in England were male. This is similar in Leicester where
73% were male. However, females’ experience of rough sleeping is more often transient, intermittent, and hidden, and
therefore they are less likely to be captured in counts and hence underestimated. Research indicates this is due to the perceived
higher risk of harm as a woman when rough sleeping within sight, and with the increased likelihood of caregiving
responsibilities, females are more likely to exhaust all other avenues first. (12)

Both in England and locally, the majority of rough sleepers were aged 26 years and over (82% and 59% respectively) although a
significant proportion locally (35.3%) did not disclose their age. Nationally, about two-thirds (64%) of rough sleepers were from
the UK (Figure 7). (13) In Leicester, half (50%) of the rough sleepers are from the UK, while nearly a third (32%) did not disclose
their nationality. The high proportion of rough sleepers not disclosing nationality and age increases the paucity of data around

rough sleepers in Leicester.

Figure 7: Demographic breakdown of rough sleepers, England

Basic demographic breakdown of rough sleepers, England
2022
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Female |IIEEE 15.1%

Male [ 82.7%
Gender not known [} 2.2%

Under18  0.1%
18-25 R 6.3%
26+ [ —— 21.7%
Age not known [IIIE 12.0%

UK e 64.1%
e I 20.6%
Non-EU/UK [ 5.8%
Nationality not... | I 9.5%

Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2023

133



3.1.2 KNOWN TO LOCAL AUTHORITY — HOMELESS PREVENTION AND SUPPORT

Some people approach Homeless Prevention and Support Services and receive advice, with no need for further formal
assessment. Of those that are assessed, a proportion will be owed a prevention or relief duty. Prevention duties include any
activities aimed at preventing a household threatened with homelessness within 56 days from becoming homeless. Relief duties
are owed to households that are already homeless and require help to secure settled accommodation. Figure 8 shows
households approaching homelessness, prevention & support for assistance have increased year on year, with the exception of
2021/22 figures, which are considered to have been impacted by covid-19.

Not all approaches result in an assessment of homelessness, as many individuals are provided with free advice on housing
circumstances that do not constitute homelessness or discuss matters that can be resolved in other ways. In 20/21, 21/22, and
22/23, approaches resulted in 2612 (48%), 2729 (53%), and 2764 (49%) homeless assessments respectively. These figures are
not comparable with the homelessness decisions or prevention/relief activity reported prior to April 2018. This is because
amendments to legislation, as introduced by the 2017 HRA, have introduced new duties that mean more people will be eligible
for assistance out of homelessness from local authorities.

The main reasons households become homeless remain similar over the period and match the national picture, with the top
three reasons being private rental sector evictions, family/friends’ exclusion (asked to leave) and domestic abuse. (2)

Figure 8: The number of households approaching Housing Options for Advice and Support, 2014/15 — 2022/23

The number of households approaching Homelessness Prevention and Support
in Leicester, 2014/15- 2022/23

7000

6000

5000

......

4000
3000 et
2000

1000

Number of households
o
N
&
w
N
(o]
~
(e)]
w
()]
o
(V3]
D
o
(9]
w
E IS
~
00
(V2]
_ g
o
o
o0

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

DEMOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN

Family Homelessness

Between (2018/19- 2021/22) the number of families seeking homeless assistance remained fairly consistent, with a decrease
seen in 2020/21 during the pandemic. This is shown in table 3 below. (2)

Table 3: Family homelessness initial assessment applications, 2018/19 -2021/22

Initial duty assessment | 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Applications 1,084 1,170 780 1,116

Source: Leicester Homelessness Review, 2022

Approximately 78% of family presentations are during periods where a threat of homelessness exists (requesting help with
preventing homelessness) whereas the remainder are already homeless. The main reasons why families seek assistance from

134

homeless prevention and support services were:



eend of their private rented tenancy (46% of all cases in 2021/22)
efamily is not willing or able to accommodate them (23% of all cases in 2021/22).

Over the last years domestic violence has been increasing as a reason for homelessness (in 2021/22 this became the third main
reason for families to seek assistance (11.1% of all cases).The service places an emphasis on preventing homelessness and this
has been largely successful as shown in table 4. (2)

Table 4: Proportion of family households provided with solutions to prevent homelessness in Leicester, 2018/19-2021/22

Outcomes for family households with 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
risk/threat of homelessness (Provided with
prevention solution incl. refused suitable
offer)

Leicester’s performance - % of family 72.34% 71.76% 79.90% 72.69%
households provided with solutions to
prevent homelessness

Source: Leicester Homelessness Review, 2022

Unfortunately the prevention of homelessness is not possible in all cases and the homelessness prevention and support service
is the safety net for those who are in crisis and require emergency interventions. Temporary accommodation usage, and in
particular bed and breakfast (B&B) usage, has increased since 2021/22 as has the length of stay. B&B accommodation is only
used when more suitable temporary accommodation is unavailable. B&B accommodation is not suitable for families with
children, and local authorities aim to meet government guidance to ensure B&B accommodation is not used for longer than six
weeks. This is shown in table 5 below. (2)

Table 5: Average length of stay for families accommodated in B&B, 2018/19-2021/22

Year Number of families accommodated Average length of stay - days
(number of occasions)

2018-19 53 19.29

2019-20 19 11.79

2020-21 17 11.88

2021-22 110 14.30

Source: Leicester Homelessness Review, 2022

Since 2021/22 there has been an increasing number of families that have needed to go into temporary accommodation and
external pressures, such as cost of living pressures may lead to more family homelessness.

For those households who are homeless as a result of domestic abuse, Housing work jointly with colleagues in Community
Safety to provide ‘safe temporary accommodation’ as defined within the Domestic Abuse Act. Refuge accommaodation or
accommodation with specialist floating support is the preferred option.

Since the last strategy, for families where homelessness cannot be prevented, there has been a change in the focus of the
provision of temporary accommodation, with the emphasis on providing “homes not hostels”. The aim for family homelessness
is to have self-contained units of temporary accommodation where this is needed across the city. Ideally, for families in need of
no to low accommodation-based support they will, where safe to do so, be accommodated in a unit of accommodation close to
their support networks to allow family life to continue with the minimum disruption. (2)

Single and childless couples’ homelessness

Numbers of homeless singles & couples seeking assistance have been consistent comparing 2018/19 and 2021/22. There was an
increase in 2019/20 & 2020/21 which corresponds with the COVID-19 pandemic. There was a spike in numbers being placed in
temporary accommodation in 2020/21 due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the ‘Everyone In’ initiative. This is shown in table 6
below. (2)

135



Table 6: Single and childless couples seeking homelessness assistance, 2018/19-2021/22

Year Seeking Assistance Owed Relief Duty* % owed relief duty
2018/19 1,618 795 49.13%
2019/20 1,890 1,050 55.56%
2020/21 1,824 1,241 68.04%
2021/22 1,6,19 883 54.54%

Source: Leicester Homelessness Review, 2022
* Owed relief duty as their initial duty assessment or following unsuccessful prevention

The number of unique individuals seeking assistance over the 4-year period was 6,951. Of these, 3,969 were owed a relief duty.
1,743 were placed in temporary accommodation, accounting for just under 44% of all customers owed a relief duty. (2)

The main reasons why singles seek assistance from homeless prevention and support services were:
e family is no willing or able to accommodate them (29% of all cases in 2021/22)

e end of their private rented tenancy (16% of all cases in 2021/22)

« friends no longer willing or able to accommodate (11% of all cases in 2021/22.

B&B accommodation is only used when there is a statutory duty case and there is no other temporary accommodation available.
Since the response to the COVID-19 pandemic was initiated, move-on slowed down significantly, decreasing the fluidity of
bedspaces. Once the ‘Everyone In’ initiative ended, unlike other local authorities, LCC made the commitment to work with the
individuals accommodated to assist them in achieving positive housing solutions. (2)

Average number of days for B&B placements (ended placements)

Placement Start Date Average Number of Days Total Placements
2018-19 7 27

2019-20 25 35

2020-21 51 475

2021-2022 43 155

Source: Leicester Homelessness Review, 2022

Over the past 4 years generic accommodation for singles has been at an average utilisation of 98.6% (LCC Singles & Action
Homeless). Temporary accommaodation is provided to resolve the immediate need for housing but also to provide support for
the individual so that that they will be able to move on into settled accommodation. Many singles stay in temporary
accommodation for more than 4 months. The longer length of stay reflects the complex needs of many individuals in temporary
accommodation services and difficulties with pathways into settled accommodation. (2)

Repeat Homelessness

Over a 4-year period, 850 customers (12% of all presentations) have presented requesting assistance more than once. Although
progress has been made with reducing individuals with a high number of admissions re-entering homelessness services, there
are still significant challenges in further reducing all repeat homelessness. (2)

Young People

Preventing homelessness, and if young people become homeless preventing this from reoccurring, helps break the cycle of
repeat homelessness. Local authorities (housing and children’s services) have statutory duties to provide support, including
support with housing, to some groups of young people including young people aged 16 to 17, care leavers aged 18 to 20 (or until
24 for care leavers studying full time), and people considered vulnerable because they’ve been in care, the armed forces or
prison, or because they’ve experienced violence, or the threat of violence. In Leicester, there is a joint working protocol set up

136



between housing services and children’s services which involves a single point of contact for urgent cases and joint assessments
for 16/17-year-olds. There is also an allocations policy which recognises the need for prioritisation of cases to primarily
safeguard and protect the needs of the most vulnerable children, including those leaving care and those referred by Adult Social
Care and Children’s Services to the housing directorate for urgent consideration. As of April 2022, 32 individuals were prioritised
due to leaving care, compared to 48 individuals in 2021, and 41 in 2020. (2)

The number of customers aged 16-24 who came to homelessness, prevention & support services because they were homeless
or at risk of homelessness has remained consistent over the last 4 years. This is shown in table 7 below. Of the 1,480 approaches
between April 2018- March 2022, 228 (15.4%) were considered eligible for temporary accommodation because they were a
‘vulnerable adult’ and a further 68 (4.6%) were considered eligible for temporary accommodation because they were ‘children
leaving care’. Of these 68, in 8 cases, homelessness was prevented and the remaining 60 were owed a relief duty.?

Table 7: Number of approaches to homelessness, prevention and support services by 16—24-year-olds who were homeless or at
risk of homelessness in Leicester, 2018/19-2021/22

Year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total

No. of approaches 346 397 384 353 1,480

When commissioning services for younger people it was recognised that this group often requires a longer stay in temporary
accommodation. This is due to various reasons including the difficulties in securing independent accommodation, and limited
affordable housing options available. In over 80% of cases, young people are staying in temporary accommodation for more
than 4 months. The percentage of evictions against ceased stays has remained low over the last 4 years, 12.2% in 2018/19 and
10.5% in 2021/22. Eviction rates remain slightly lower compared with generic singles accommodation. (2)

Persons from abroad with restricted eligibility to services

Without a statutory safety net, non-UK nationals with restricted eligibility are more vulnerable to homelessness and destitution.
Key categories of people facing immigration-based restrictions are:

* People with leave to remain who have a no recourse to public funds (NRPF) condition attached
¢ People with no current regularised status

e EEA nationals with pre-settled status and their families if they do not meet certain conditions
* People who have outstanding applications for leave

Some persons from abroad (non-UK nationals) immigration status determines whether they are able to access public funds. This
is relevant to homelessness as it limits the support the local authority can offer. A person will have no recourse to public funds
when they are ‘subject to immigration control’, as defined at section 115 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. This can be
the following types of immigration status:

¢ Leave to enter or remain, which is subject to the NRPF condition, such as:

leave to enter as a visitor, leave to remain as a spouse, leave to remain as a student, leave to remain granted under family or
private life rules

e Leave to enter or remain that is subject to a maintenance undertaking, such as:

-Indefinite leave to remain as the adult dependent relative of a person with settled status (five-year prohibition on claiming
public funds)

e Leave to enter or remain as a result of a pending immigration appeal:
This could apply when a person has section 3C leave whilst an appeal against a refusal of leave to remain is pending
¢ No leave to enter or remain when they are required to have this, such as:

-a visa overstayer, an asylum seeker, an appeal rights exhausted (ARE) asylum seeker

137




A person who is subject to NRPF conditions, or who does not have any current immigration permission, is not eligible for
homelessness assistance or social housing and certain benefits. A person who is found to be ineligible for homelessness
assistance by their local council must be provided with information and advice to help prevent their homelessness. This could
include, for example, signposting to information about local immigration advisers or Home Office asylum support, or a referral
to social services for support if they have children or care needs. (2)

Not all non-UK nationals are excluded from public funds, however there can be other conditions. For example, an EU national
with pre-settled status is eligible for public funds if they are in employment. Homelessness services will signpost clients to access
support from employment services such as St Mungos Recovery College, and organisation which can support individuals into
work. Outreach and Transitions Support workers help individuals apply for settled status and provide other support and advice
(for example support to apply for required identify documents). They will also work with individuals wishing to return home, for
example by supporting with travel expenses. (2)

Homelessness prevention and support staff will refer individuals who are subject to NRPF conditions to relevant support services
in the city (including for Asylum Advice Migrant Help, Red Cross for support, casework and advocacy, Assist Inclusion Healthcare
for health care needs). More information on Asylum Seekers is available through the Asylum Seekers Needs Assessment. (2)

It can take time to establish an individual’s immigration status and there can be fear of disclosure with local authority staff. This
can make it difficult to establish a person’s immigration status and therefore provide appropriate advice and support. As
individuals do not often quality for statutory support from the Council or the Home Office, housing schemes are often provided
by the voluntary and community sector, as in the case in Leicester.?

Offenders/ ex-offenders

The council has statutory duties for re-housing ex-prisoners that are ‘vulnerable’ as a result of serving a custodial sentence or
being on remand. The local probation service, community rehabilitation company and the housing division also work under a
duty to cooperate to ensure those that may be homeless and at risk of reoffending can access homeless services with the aim of
reducing reoffending. (2)

There is one Prison, HMP Leicester, within Leicester City. HMP Leicester is a Category B men's local prison. The prison holds
people on remand to the local courts, as well as sentenced prisoners. This type of prison can present challenges to a planned
response to releases, as people on remand can often be released at short notice, creating a homeless emergency if the person
has nowhere to reside following release. A second prison, HMP Fosse Way, is a Category C resettlement prison based in Blaby
district. (2)

3.1.3 KNOWN TO LOCAL AUTHORITY — DOMESTIC ABUSE SERVICES

Domestic abuse is the 3™ highest reason households became homeless in Leicester from 2018-2022 (in line with the national
picture. (2)

Individuals experiencing domestic abuse are vulnerable to homelessness, and locally a high proportion of those accessing
services reported a housing need. Between July 2022 and June 2023, there were 307 adult intake forms completed by
commissioned domestic abuse service providers — two thirds (66%) of which had a housing need in Leicester, compared to 39%
nationally. Of the 174 people who exited the service from July 2022 to June 2023, 99 people (57%) were supported with housing
in Leicester compared to 26% nationally. Locally, the most common housing interventions were accessing refuge (30%) and
being accepted to housing support services (29%). Housing support resulted in 76% feeling more safe and 78% expressing
improved wellbeing. (14)

Data from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities in table 8 below shows that between 15t April 2022, and
315 March 2023, there were 346 households that were unable to be supported in domestic abuse safe accommodations in
Leicester. The majority of these were unable to be supported due to capacity constraints. (15)

Table 8: Area comparison households unable to be supported at domestic abuse safe accommodations 22/23

Households unable to be supported due to..

138



Total households Capacity Unable to be Did not accept Geographical
unable to be Constraint Contacted [v] referral [v] proximity to
supported perpetrator [v]
Luton 21 1 1 10 [c2]
Nottingham 388 167 [x] [x] 50
Coventry 404 1 0 223 6
Leicester 346 250 24 127 23
Birmingham 209 11 35 53 14
Bradford 950 371 36 127 13

Source: Support in domestic abuse safe accommodation: financial year 2022 to 2023 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

3.1.4

KNOWN TO PRIMARY CARE

Primary care services provide the first point of contact in the healthcare system, acting as the ‘front door’ of the NHS. Primary

care includes general practice, community pharmacy, dental, and optometry (eye health) services. The number of patients

registered at GP’s can also be used for population estimate purposes. In Leicester, GP care for people who are homeless is

provided through a specialist service, delivered by Inclusion Healthcare. In 2023, 896 patients were registered with Inclusion

Healthcare. The majority are males (84%), and the age range is mostly between 20 and 54 years (Figure 9).

Figure 9: Population structure of Inclusion Healthcare in 2022

a0-94
§5-35
a0-34
75-7%
70-74
53-55
60-54
33-3%
30-54
45-49
40-44
35-3%
i0-24
25-29
Z0-24
15-15
10-14

3-3

-4

Population age profile
GP registered population by sex and quinary age band 2022

Source: Fingertips (OHID), 2023

a

% of wotal population

@ Inclusion Healthcare (Male)

Inclusion Healthcare (Female)

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ICB - 04C

=— England

50-94
B3-89
BD-&=2
73-79
T0-7F2
63-69
B0-62
33-39
30-34
43-49
40-42
33-39
30-32
23-29
20-22
13-19
10-14
3-8

o-4

The ethnic distribution shows that 71% of patients are of White ethnicity, with higher proportions of Black and Mixed ethnic

groups compared to the overall population of Leicester, and a lower proportion of Asian patients (Figure 10).

139



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-in-domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-financial-year-2022-to-2023

Figure 10: Patients in Inclusion Healthcare by broad ethnic group

% of patients in Inclusion Healthcare by ethnic group

Asian 7% o
i 35%
e S 71%
9%
Unknown 3% ?
%

Other B 1% P

Black  —— 12%
Mixed
Leicester M Inclusion Healthcare

Source: SystemOne, 2021

Temporary addresses can give an indication of where people live while homeless. Temporary addresses may be a home that
they are living in, for instance sofa surfing, or a place where their mail is forwarded to. Evidence suggests living in temporary
accommodation can have negative impacts on health and wellbeing in the long term, through for example disrupting family life,
relationships and education.

In 2021, the highest concentrations of patients stated their temporary address to be in the City Centre, Southfields, Stoneygate
and Westcotes (as per lower geography areas - lower super output areas (LSOAs)). These remain the areas with the highest
concentrations of patients in 2024. (Figure 11).

Figure 11: Registered patients of Inclusion Healthcare

L - N ’ L b ™
b h' : Cré ton e =L '\ Banty y
i rerle ps * Thurcaston ; { :
¢ |l.r-' — ¥ Inclusion Healthcare I X
- % Ly '} ;
Newtown Linford Vel v T y ! Catchments
e S e e =~ y i
]
s
47 I},

| (@ 837 registerad patients in 125 LSOAs
inc 14 patients outside the commissioning CCG

T i

Numnber of Patients Registered at a GP Practice:
Jan '23. NHS Digital: digital.nhs.uk/../jan-2023

) ) Practice submitted inner catchment area
MHS Digital: Oct "22: digital.nhs.uk
: AN o N 5
Gaulby <
P .

Little Stretton " A

7 fl ’ F lliston on the Hill

! | g
Newton Harcourt |/’

'l____'/ﬁ_'_';"é.\\ : .\.} N

140

Source: SHAPE, 2022



Dispensing of prescriptions is another way of measuring the (temporary) home address for patients at Inclusion Healthcare. In
Leicester, much of the dispensing activity corresponded with pharmacies to the east of the city, close to Victoria Park and
London Road. This is close to the Dawn Centre and other shelters.

3.1.5 OVERCROWDING

Individuals can be considered homeless if they live in severely overcrowded conditions. Whether overcrowding constitutes
homelessness is based on a case-by-case assessment that considers the nature of the accommodation and household, both the
space standard and the room standard, and how it compares to the prevailing circumstances in the local authority’s area. The
local authority must consider overcrowding even if it does not meet the definition of statutory overcrowding. Occupancy ratings
provide a measure of whether a household’s accommodation is overcrowded or under-occupied. An occupancy rating of
negative 1 or less implies that a household has fewer bedrooms than required according to the Bedroom Standard, so it is
overcrowded (for example, negative 1 means one bedroom fewer than required, negative 2 has two fewer than
required).Overcrowding can result in poor ventilation and pose a safety risk. In some instances, where households experience
severe overcrowding, this can be considered a form of homelessness. This is determined on a case-by-case assessment.

Data from the 2021 Census showed 4% of households in England and Wales were overcrowded. Comparatively, Leicester has a
high degree of overcrowding; the Census has shown 12.4% (45,706) of households haveg fewer bedrooms/rooms than required
(occupancy rating of below 0), 9.2% of households with an occupancy rating of negative 1 and 3.2% with an occupancy rating of
negative 2 (Figure 12).

Figure 12: Household overcrowding in Leicester, 2021

Household overcrowding (bedroom occupancy rating; below 0 to indicate
fewer bedrooms than required)

28.40% 35.44%

B Occupancy rating of bedrooms: +2 or more = Occupancy rating of bedrooms: +1
Occupancy rating of bedrooms: 0 B Occupancy rating of bedrooms: -1

B Occupancy rating of bedrooms: -2 or less

Source: Census, 2022
Note: below 0 to indicate fewer bedrooms than required; 0 indicates enough rooms to occupy

Leicester has the highest proportion of overcrowding compared to its comparator authorities (Birmingham, Bradford, Coventry,
Luton and Nottingham) and a higher rating than the national average (16). However, only a small minority of overcrowded
households qualify as homeless — data specifically on this is not available.

Figure 13 shows that overcrowding is more common in the northeast of the city centre, with particularly higher rates in Spinney
Hills, Belgrave, Northfields, St Matthews and Crown Hills. This is an area of the city which is more likely to have
multigenerational households , and housing unaffordability. Not all of these households have overcrowding to a degree that
pertains homelessness. Housing Register data shows that the severity of housing needs generally in the areas highlighted in
Figure 13 is comparatively lower than other areas of the city; only 11-14% of applications from the area being awarded Band 1,
compared to as much as 21.3% in other Wards.

Figure 13: Overcrowding (2 fewer bedrooms than required), 2021

141



3 20 of households in Leicester £ have
il /0 an occupancy rating of -2 of bedrooms

con _
/\ 0.0% 0.5% 2.3% 5.9% 13.6% 54.5%
i \ !

Source: Census, 2021

Overcrowding is a housing need in itself, and although overcrowding rarely constitutes homelessness, it does indirectly impact
on homelessness. Overcrowding can lead to members of the household being excluded from the family home, and this most
commonly affects new parents. Combined with the rising cost-of-living, this is an increasing area of pressure on homelessness
services.

3.1.6 CONCEALED HOUSEHOLDS

A ‘concealed household’ contains an adult who would prefer to buy or rent their own accommodation but cannot afford to do
so. The English Housing Survey (EHS) estimated that between 2018 and 2019, 1.6 million households were living under these
circumstances in England. However, any of these individuals may be living in reasonable conditions, often with family or friends,
so it should not be assumed that homelessness is present for each case.

3.1.7 KNOWN THROUGH “EVERYONE IN” INITIATIVE DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the government launched the 'Everyone In' Initiative, requesting immediate accommodation for
all rough sleepers and those at risk across the UK to reduce COVID-19 transmission among the vulnerable. The Ministry of
Housing Communities and Local Government reported that the scheme accommodated 37,000 people nationwide (17). In

142



Leicester, over 1000 individuals were accommodated. This figure is close to the number of patients registered at Inclusion
Healthcare.

3.1.8 SOFA SURFING

‘Sofa surfing’ is informally staying with friends and/or family, without whom an individual would be homeless. The EHS
estimates from 2019 to 2021, there were 538,000 households with an individual ‘sofa surfing’. Office for National Statistics
(ONS) data indicates between April 2021 to March 2022, 16,070 households owed a relief duty, were living with friends in
England at the time they made their homeless application. (18)

3.2 HEALTH NEEDS/ PREVALENCE

3.2.1 PATIENT EXPERIENCE AT GP & WIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

The health needs of the homeless population are multifaceted and often complex. There is a growing recognition of tri-
morbidity within this population, and a need for holistic care which spans mental and physical health and wellbeing, as well as
the recognition that the wider determinants of health have on health status. There is limited data available on all of the wider
determinants of health for those who are homeless. The information that is available is outlined in Table 9.

The first three indicators in table 9 provide headline indications on patient experience at the GP. It shows that in 2023, 92% of
patients had a positive experience at Inclusion. This compares to 64.2% for the rest of the GP’s in LLR. Over three quarters of
Inclusion patients were satisfied with appointment times (86.5% of patients) compared to less than half of the national average
(48.6%) and all other GP’s in LLR (47.1%). This indicator shows a statistically significant difference in the figures. Only 7.3% of
Inclusion patients were enabled to book and cancel appointments online in March 2024, compared to 37.3% across the rest of
LLR, and 45.8% in England. This may be due to lack of easy access to the internet for homeless individuals.

The remaining four indicators in the table show that a statistically similar proportion of Inclusion Healthcare patients were
satisfied with phone access compared to the rest of LLR and England. There was also no significant difference for the proportion
reporting caring responsibilities. However, a significantly lower proportion (6.4%) of Inclusion Healthcare patients reported
being in paid work or full time education compared to the England average (63%) and LLR average (65.5%)

Table 9: Patient experience at GP and Wider Determinant of Health Indicators

Indicator Time period Count Inclusion England LLR ICB
Healthcare

% who have a positive experience | 2023 - 92% 71.3% 64.2%

of their GP practice

% satisfied with practice 2023 - 86.5% 48.6% 47.1%

appointment times

% patients enabled to book and March 2024 64 45.8% 37.3%

cancel appointments online

% satisfied with phone access 2023 - 77.7% 49.8% 44.5%

% with caring responsibility 2022 - 9.4% 18.9% N/A

% reported to be in paid work or | 2022 - 63.0% 65.5%

in full time education

Source: Fingertips, 2024

143



Significantly worse than national average

Significantly better than national average

Not significantly different to the national average
- Significantly lower than national average

Significantly higher than national average

Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the likelihood that the observed differences or relationships are not due to chance.
Statistically significantly worse/better or no different to England overall illustrated in red, green or yellow, respectively. Where
there is a large difference but this finding is not significant, this can be related to small sample sizes leading to uncertainty in the
estimate.

3.2.2 MENTAL HEALTH

Literature indicates that the mental health and wellbeing of the homeless population is significantly worse than the general
population. Table 10 below outlines indicators in relation to mental health, comparing outcomes for patients at Inclusion
Healthcare as a proxy for homeless individuals, with those across LLR ICB and across England.

The data shows that mental health as recorded on the quality outcomes framework (QOF) (indicators GP’s report on as part of
their contracts) is significantly higher in Inclusion Healthcare patients compared to the general population in LLR and England
(11.6% compared to 1.07% and 1% respectively). Since 2018/19, the proportion of patients with mental health conditions
registered with Inclusion Healthcare has increased. It is now approximately double what it was 5 years ago with51 individuals
recorded in 2018/19 compared to 99 in 2022/23, or proportions of 5% and 11.65% respectively.

Diagnoses of depression are also higher amongst Inclusion Healthcare patients, with 44.4% compared to the national average of
13.2%. This also shows an increasing trend over the last 5 years. There are now 377 patients recorded with depression,
compared to 233 (or 24.8%) when reporting began in 2012/13. This means that over the last 10 years, the proportion with
depression has increased from approximately a quarter to almost half of the patients. The 2022/23 figures are also significantly
higher than all figures preceding 2020/21, which means there is statistical certainty in the observed difference not being due to
chance. These findings support existing literature which highlights the mental health of people who are homeless is worse than
the general population.

Table 10 also shows QOF Dementia prevalence to be higher in Inclusion Healthcare patients compared to the general
population. This has not been the case in prior years, where counts were as low as 1.

Table 10: Mental Health Indicators, 2018/19-2021/22

Indicator Time Count Inclusion England LLR ICB (04C)
period Healthcare

Depression: QOF prevalence (18+ yrs) (%) 2022/23 377 44.4% 13.2% 10.9%
Depression: QOF incidence (18+ yrs) - new 2022/23 22 2.6% 1.4%
diagnosis (%) 1.2%
Newly diagnosed patients with depression 2022/23 7 65.9% 58.6%
who had a review 10-56 days after diagnosis
(%)
Dementia: QOF prevalence (all ages) (%) 2022/23 56 6.6% 0.7% 0.5%
Alzheimer's disease or dementia (%) 2021 - 5.0% 0.6% 0.6%
Mental health: QOF prevalence all ages) (%) 2022/23 99 11.65% 1.0% 1.07%
% reporting a long-term mental health 2023 - 43.2% 12.7% 12.8%
problem
Patients with severe mental health issues 2022/23 53 57.0% 68.5% 83.4%
having a comprehensive care plan

144



Record of a BP check in the last 12 months for 2022/23 65 69.9% 79.0% 88.4%
patients on the mental health register

Record of BMI in the last 12 months for 2022/23 72 77.4% 77.1% 87.6%
patients on the mental health register
Patients with psychosis who have a current 2022/23 64 68.8% 76.4% 89.1%

record of alcohol consumption

Patients with psychosis who have a current 2021/22 37 70.6% 81.2%

record of a lipid profile

Source: Fingertips, 2022

Significantly worse than national average

Significantly better than national average

Not significantly different to the national average
- Significantly lower than national average

Significantly higher than national average
Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the likelihood that the observed differences or relationships are not due to chance.
Statistically significantly worse/better or no different to England overall illustrated in red, green or yellow, respectively. Where

there is a large difference, but this finding is not significant, this can be related to small sample sizes leading to uncertainty in the
estimate.

SUPPORT NEEDS OF ACCOMMODATION SERVICE USERS

From 2018/19 to 2021/22, 6,951 people presented to Leicester City Council (LCC) funded accommodation services (not including
domestic abuse safe accommodation). 3,722 customers presented with no support needs, accounting for over 53% of
presentations. For the remaining cohort, the top 3 support needs in each year were mental health issues, physical health issues
and those with an offending history. The number of individuals with mental health problems was the highest by some margin,
showing mental health to be the most prevalent health issue for people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in
Leicester.

Many customers present with more than one support need. About 25% of clients have mental health support needs and over
20% have many/complex needs (two or more support needs).

Table 11: Support needs of those presenting to Leicester City Council accommodation services, 2018/19-2021/22*

Support needs 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Mental Health 287 454 590 406
Offending History 187 207 290 149
Physical health (including disability) 169 291 311 259

Source: Leicester City Council accommodation services, 2022

*This information has been taken from the Homelessness Review 2022 which states ‘the scope of this review does not include:
domestic abuse and sexual violence services, including refuge provision’.

3.2.3 PHYSICAL HEALTH

Table 12 below shows a summary of physical health conditions in the homeless population, largely which is recorded through
QOF. It is noted that small sample sizes here make it difficult to draw definitive conclusions on the differences in the physical



health of the homeless population compared to the general population. Literature does however suggest that physical health is
worse in those who are homeless, with generally lower rates of vaccinations, oral health problems, womens specific health
problems, and poorer nutritional health. It also indicates multi-morbidity in this cohort, referring to the presence of two or more
long-term conditions. While the proportion of those with long term conditions is reported to be higher in those who are
homeless compared to the national and local average (70.5% compared to 54.6% and 48.2%), uncertainty in the estimate means
statistical difference is not shown. However, smoking prevalence is shown to be significantly higher in this population compared
to the general population (67.1% compared to 14.7% nationally and 15.5% in LLR). This accounts for 570 individuals. Smoking is
a known risk factor for heart disease, lung cancer and strokes.

Table 12: Physical Health Indicators

Indicator Time period Count Inclusion England | Leicester City ICB
Healthcare (04cC)
% with a long-standing health condition 2023 - 70.5% 54.6% 48.2%
Hypertension: QOF prevalence (all ages) 2022/23 38 4.5% 14.4% 12.3%
Smoking: QOF prevalence (15+ yrs) 2022/23 570 - 14.7% 15.5%
% Active smokers (GPPS) 2023 - 54.2% 13.6% 15.7%
% Former smokers (GPPS) 2023 - 26.3% 15.9%
Record of offer of support and treatment 2022/23 419 91.9% 92.3%
in the last 24 months for smokers aged
15+ yrs: QOF
Epilepsy: QOF Prevalence (18+ yrs) 2022/23 16 1.9% 0.8% 0.7%
Diabetes: QOF Prevalence (17+ yrs) 2022/23 34 4.0% 7.5% 10%
COPD: QOF Prevalence (18+yrs) 2022/23 20 2.4% 1.8% 1.3%
Asthma: QOF Prevalence (6+ yrs) 2022/23 79 9.3% 6.5% 5.1%
Cancer: QOF Prevalence (all ages) 2022/23 8 3.5% 1.7%
New Cancer Cases (crude incidence rate) 2021/22 N/A 223 540 331

Source: Fingertips, 2024

Significantly worse than national average
Significantly better than national average
Not significantly different to the national average

- Significantly lower than national average

Significantly higher than national average

Note: Statistical significance is a measure of the likelihood that the observed differences or relationships are not due to chance.
Statistically significantly worse/better or no different to England overall illustrated in red, green or yellow, respectively. Where
there is a large difference, but this finding is not significant, this can be related to small sample sizes leading to uncertainty in the

estimate.

The clinical segmentation tool Patient Needs Groups (PNGs) within the Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) risk stratification system
revealed a significantly worse health profile for Inclusion Healthcare patients than is seen in any other practice’s age/sex-
matched cohort. Inclusion Healthcare patients were found to be identified as high risk with regards to general wellbeing,

management of long-term conditions and complex health issues.

SUBSTANCE MISUSE

146



Data from Leicester’s substance use service, Turning Point, estimates those at risk of or already rough sleeping, who are seeking
treatment for an alcohol and/or drug need. Due to different methodologies in identifying at risk and rough sleepers, Turning
Point data captures those who are within the drug and alcohol treatment group, and not those who are homeless but within
another arm of Turning Point (for example those assigned to the criminal justice team) or those who are not engaged in
treatment. The information below is specifically focused on the cohort of individuals who are part of the ‘Rough Sleepers Project
team’ funded through the Rough Sleeping Drugs and Alcohol Treatment Grant.

Based on routine snapshots captured between April 2022 and March 2023, there were 195 individuals at-risk of rough sleeping,
and 36 who were already rough sleeping who were engaged with the service for drug or alcohol treatment. Overall,
approximately 2,000 people engaged with Turning Point during this time.

Based on the snapshot of cases between January 2023-March 2023, the majority were identified to be males (76%), of working-
age (between 30-49 years) (81%) and of White ethnicity (80%). Based on the same time-period, of those within Turning Point’s
homelessness drug and alcohol team, around 7 in 10 (73%) were in treatment for opioid use (Figure 14).

Figure 14: Substance use type by all Turning Point Cases

Substance type by all Turning Point cases
As per snapshot of cases between January 2023- March 2023 (Q4)

12.5% 9.6%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%
%

B Opiate M Alcoholonly ® Alcohol and non-opiate Non-opiate only

Source: Turning Point, January 2023- March 2023 (Q4)

Note: Opiates are the collective term used to describe drugs like heroin, morphine, opium, methadone and buprenorphine.
Prescription and over the counter medicines, such as codeine, dihydrocodeine and tramadol are also classed as opiates and
opioids.

Note: The findings are based on a single snapshot taken over the 3-month period between (January 2023- March 2023) and are
less likely to be representative of the entire year.

Of all discharges from Turning Point (including those not funded by the Rough Sleepers Drugs and Alcohol Treatment Grant) in
the 2022/23 financial year (between April 2022 and March 2023), 54% were reported to be unplanned, with fewer (26%)
planned, indicating that the individual may have left Turning Point prematurely, before they had rehabilitated. This will include
some individuals at risk of/experiencing homelessness and may be before they have found stable accommodation to move into.
This may increase the risk of another period of homelessness. The high rate of unplanned exits is being investigated locally
through a multi-disciplinary action plan and will feature within the drugs and alcohol strategy and action plan — this proportion is
also reflected nationally; therefore, Leicester is not an outlier. A smaller proportion were transferred to custody (11.8%),
transferred to a mental health facility (2.0%), died (2.0%) and moved out of the area (3.9%). The average number of rough
sleepers upon exit was 6 people.

3.3 HEALTH CARE SERVICE USE

The health needs of the homeless population are multifaceted and often complex. There is a growing recognition of tri-
morbidity within this population, and a need for holistic care which spans mental and physical health and wellbeing.

147



Street homeless individuals, or individuals living in transitory accommodation experience greater healthcare needs but have
limited access to services, exemplifying the inverse care law (whereby the people who most need health care are least likely to
receive it). Barriers include lack of a permanent address, incompatible appointment schedules (e.g., fixed appointments) leading
to DNAs (Did Not Attend), transport costs, inability to miss work shifts (e.g., zero-hour contracts), and lack of phone access (19).
In this way, homeless individuals are more likely to bypass primary care and instead, later present at secondary care services.

Compared to the general population, street homeless individuals are over six times more likely to present at A&E and four times
more likely to be admitted to hospital. They are also more likely to be admitted for emergency episodes and have three times
longer hospital stays (20). This is due to complex healthcare needs, characterised by multiple co-morbidities, later presentation,
and complications with discharge. Together, these factors can make the cost of treatment of this vulnerable population more
expensive (21) (22) (23).

Later presentation to healthcare service presents as a factor in oral healthcare with evidence on service use indicating homeless
people are mainly symptomatic attenders, with dental pain being the most important reason for seeking treatment. (9)

The economic climate significantly impacts healthcare service use among the homeless, particularly during financial austerity.
Street homeless individuals prioritise survival needs over health behaviours and face inadequate living conditions leading to
worsened health conditions and increased hospital visits. Economic downturns worsen mental health problems due to insecure
accommodation and limited affordable housing. Evidence has found that during financial austerity, mental health bed days for
the homeless decreased disproportionately compared to the general population, affecting the most deprived individuals, and
hindering their access to healthcare. Addressing the root causes of homelessness could mitigate long-term impacts and
expenses on this population (23).

Bespoke, specialised services (e.g., GPs) exclusively serving homeless patients are one way of overcoming barriers improving
access to healthcare for individuals who are homeless. Leicester is one of the few places to implement specialised healthcare
services for the homeless (e.g., Inclusion Healthcare; more information in Section 5). There is a body of evidence to demonstrate
the positive impact of these more targeted services; with studies showing these services were rated more favourably by the
homeless than mainstream services, with improved patient management and continuity of care, reduced hospital admissions,
including emergency admissions, reduced outpatient DNAs , and a considerable reduction in healthcare spend, demonstrating
cost-effectiveness (23) (24) (25) (26) (27) (28) (29).

This is supported by a recent study funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) undertaken by Kings
College London and the University of Surrey, published in October 2023. The largest of its kind in the UK, the study compared
different models of primary health care provision for homeless people and found regular GP services struggled to provide levels
of care seen at specialist health services. It compared four models of primary care services: specialist health centres for people
who are homeless, mobile homeless health teams, specialist GP services (regular GP practices with specific services for homeless
people) and regular GP practices (with no specialist services for homeless people). Participants using regular GP practices saw
their GP 5.8 times on average during the 12 month study. This compared to 18.6 times among those attending specialist health
centres. There were no statistically significant physical or mental health differences between the study groups. Regular GP
practices were less likely to provide continuity of care for substance use problems and had a lower satisfaction rate with
homeless individuals compared to specialist GP’s and health centres, which were found to be the most effective of the four
models. (30)

148



4.0 LOCAL STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

4.1 STUDY DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

Between April and June 2023, 13 semi-structured 1:1 interviews were undertaken to understand the views, experiences and
needs of service providers and people who are homeless. The interviewers asked 11 core questions, and an additional 4, if
required. Most interviews lasted at least one hour. A focus group was also undertaken with roughly 30 people who were
homeless. Notes were taken by a scribe and the resulting data was synthesised and thematically analysed. To ensure validity and
reduce potential bias, the thematic analysis was independently reviewed by a Public Health Registrar who concurred with the
approach and findings. A sample of the thematic analysis can be found in Appendix 2.

4.2 RECRUITMENT OF PARTICIPANTS

Participants were recruited using purposive sampling based on advice given by senior public health colleagues. A breadth of
experience and service providers were sought. All quotes are anonymous.

4.3 SUMMARY OF KEY THEMES

There were 8 themes identified: service provision and quality; attitudes and feelings; service barriers and gaps; individual,
structural and/or systemic factors; challenges; substance use culture; policy changes; and integrated care.

4.3.1 SERVICE PROVISION AND QUALITY

Virtually all homeless individuals reported being very satisfied with Inclusion Healthcare’s service operations and provision.
Numerous positive statements were made on staff commitment and competency, with a preference for Inclusion Healthcare
over mainstream GPs.

“Everything good with inclusion”

- "They're really good they've always helped me.”™
- “You fust can’t moan”
- “Normal GPs are very poor They don't fisten to vouw™

- "They're more interested in how vou feel than other GFs.™

The large majority also expressed a positive attitude towards Turning Point (Substance use service) and No. 5 (Day Centre), with
some individuals reporting staff members to go above and beyond expectations.

- “They are second to none”™
- “Tuwrming Poirt are amazing™

- UMy Turning Point worker is brifhant, She filed o missing person report when | was
in prizson, She did more than my family did ™

- "l rote number s

4.3.2 ATTITUDES AND FEELINGS

Many homeless individuals reported feeling grateful for bespoke services: “we’re lucky to have specialist healthcare”. There was
an important social element, with homeless individuals wanting to form relationships with their healthcare providers.

149



Amongst service providers, there was a shared opinion that those working with the homeless need to be tenacious and
persistent with their efforts for engaging and/or keeping individuals engaged. One individual stated “the classic line is ‘they’re
not engaging” which was viewed as an unfavourable expression, with it being the duty of service providers to facilitate
engagement and keep individuals engaged. It was reinforced that many homeless individuals are used to being failed by
authorities, and healthcare professionals need to work hard to disprove this. Homeless individuals were often fatalistic when
thinking about authority figures, and they were guided by previous experiences of being let down by the system.

“Health professionals give up eastly. Homeless people are used to being dropped and
ignored by the authorities and almost expect it Alf people working with homeless
feople need to be more persistent.”

- “The system s ff vou don't turn up veu're thrown awoy™

One healthcare professional cited an instance when a homeless individual intentionally damaged their own accommodation as a
pre-emptive measure. This behaviour was understood to arise from a deep-rooted sense of being consistently disappointed by
the system, leading them to destroy what they perceived as a positive situation before experiencing yet another let down.

Housing staff at LCC spoke positively of the team work ethic and output. The work was described as challenging, and staff were
required to be flexible. However, it was reported that the nature of the work resulted in difficulties for morale.

- “Pecplein the housing team] fee/ joded becouse they feel hlamed for problems
that are not their making. They get a ot of criticism and veny little proise — needs
some morale boost for people working with homelessness service™,

- "Staff are the key resource. What is defivered is off the bock of skills, expernience
and knowledge,”

4.3.3 SERVICE BARRIERS AND GAPS

A greater number of homeless individuals expressed dissatisfaction with A&E; much of this was attributed to the long wait times
making it difficult to access.

More generally in relation to wider homelessness and health services, the lack of weekend service provision presented as a
challenge for many; with individuals reporting a lack of basic needs such as shelter, warmth and food.

- "There’s nothing to do on o Saturday in Leicester”

- "Onthe weekend | hove to shoplift from Greggs. They never charge vou.”

- T hove o shower on o Fridoy and then | hove to go aff weekend without washing™
- "1 hate Soturdoys”

- "There’s stilf fess on the weekend”

- P haote Saturdovs, | oan never get warm”™

Some homeless individuals also felt that there was a lack of support for previous and/or current criminal justice system users:
“probation should do more’ and “prisons aren’t helpful”. It was reported that individuals were often discharged at the end of
the week when there is less support. With no fixed abode, and sometimes little knowledge of the system of service providers in

150

Leicester, individuals had a difficult time post-release.



In interviews with Turning Point, No. 5, The Bridge, Action Homeless, Inclusion Healthcare, Prison services, YMCA, Addiction
services, Midwifery services, the large majority expressed a negative attitude towards current service provision, mainly due to
service gaps and barriers. Concerns were expressed with the system and how it was failing to protect and cater to all homeless
individuals, including those who are banned and those with learning difficulties.

- “People’s experiences of A&F can feel stigmatized A ot of people using the warting
areas to stay warm, which can lead to people being rejected even if they are wnwell”

- "The system is if you don’t turn up, vou're thrown away”™

- "What do people who are banned from services do?”

- “lots of people probably have an LD dhagnosis but cannot secure one. It is too much
For people to organise themselves, if they did have such o diognosis it could fead to

more support’”

The reduction in drop-in services, and the move away from them following the COVID-19 pandemic has been disruptive and
limits access. It was emphasised that many individuals prefer drop-in services over fixed appointment, with appointments
increasing risk of late arrivals and being turned away. Booking appointments via phone was seen as particularly difficult.
Individuals do not prioritise calling due to limited credit on phones, and/or impatience for long waiting times.

Rough sleepers spoke more commonly about sleeping during the day rather than at night as they felt safer, however services
currently prioritise day-time provision. Equally, individuals may prioritise other tasks during the ‘working day’ when services are
available, therefore seeing healthcare services may not be a priority. Professionals felt that drop-in sessions worked best at sites
where there were other reasons for people to attend, such as day centres providing food and shelter.

- "There is more realization that the Jess barriers the better e g. flexibilty arownd
appointme nts, Having the services where people are, making them easy to get to”

- “finclusion health] need to have o whole day drop in service, more flexibility with
apaointment tieming”

- "There is o maove away from drop in services. There are more phone based services, 4 ot

of time s spent on hold waiting to talk to housing, Weaiting on the phone is really difficult

For this group.™

“Timed appointments for homeless memtad health doesn’t wark for evenvone”™

A lot of homeless people hove hod troumas and post issues that cause significant mental

health isswes, If they con’t access mental health provisions quickly ond easily, they won't

engage.”

4.3.4 INDIVIDUAL, STRUCTURAL AND/OR SYSTEMIC FACTORS

There was considerable mention of the shortage of housing stock, and the decline over the past decade. The lack of council-
owned properties and an abundance of private landlords presented as a major issue, as well as the bed shortage from the loss of
hostels in recent years. Individuals were being housed in temporary accommodation for protracted periods of time, resulting in

151



severe disruption to their life; individuals may struggle to get back to work and were always left wondering when they were
going to be moved, which caused a sense of instability.

It was also felt that the bureaucratic nature of the system was difficult to understand, and not equipped to support those with
poor literary skills or complex needs. Some individuals found it difficult to understand why nothing can be done immediately.
Certain healthcare pathways were said to not be adequate for the homeless community and basic healthcare needs were not
always met. For example, “it is very hard to get a dentist” and ““someone tried to get rearrested to get his leg ulcer treated”.

Additional systemic issues that were identified by service providers were the stigmatisation that homeless individuals faced,
often being viewed as ‘too difficult’. When attending A&E, some felt rejection was due to the generalisation that they are only
there for shelter, rather than legitimate causes. Discrimination against LGBTQ+ individuals within the homeless community was
reported as an issue, described as akin to ‘a prison mentality’.

4.3.5 CHALLENGES

Partners reiterated the challenges in breaking the homelessness cycle and the complexity of cases. Many individuals
experienced significant trauma throughout their lives and have trust issues due to repeatedly being failed by the system in the
past. This may mean they self-reject as a coping strategy that might further restrict their options. Those who are banned by the
council or from services for staff safeguarding purposes, are then ostracised and will have difficulty accessing support. This is a
difficult balance for many service providers.

‘Cuckooing’ (when the home of a vulnerable person is taken over by a criminal in order to use it to deal, store or take drugs,
facilitate sex work, as a place for them to live, or to financially abuse the tenant) was said to be a major challenge in Leicester.
Often cuckooing occurs due to “friends of friends” who were invited to stay at an individual’s new flat. Feelings of isolation when
suddenly moving into a flat on their own can exacerbate the risk of cuckooing resulting in vulnerable individuals being abused by
others in the community. Cuckooing can sometimes result in individuals finding it difficult to regain any housing support.

“People don’t get the same gradual step up as they used to and this means that more people go back to being homeless because
they don’t feel like they can make it work for them. This leads to an increase in street lifestyle behaviour because people want to
be part of that community with that support.”

Street lifestyle is a complex topic where individuals can become embedded in the culture surrounding certain aspects of
homelessness. It can lead to more difficulties in maintaining housing and avoiding other negative health behaviours such as drug
taking.

4.3.6 SUBSTANCE USE

Substance use among the homeless was identified as a problem, with many using drugs and alcohol as coping mechanisms,
despite wanting and trying to abstain. Many individuals wanted to avoid The Dawn Centre due to its perceived drug culture.

“The [most common] feedback is difficulties getting housing. And not wanting to go to the Dawn centre. It's because drugs are
more readily available, people want to move away from that lifestyle.”

4.3.7 POLICY CHANGES

It was felt by both service providers and the homeless that longstanding services in Leicester were negatively impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic. One service provider stated: ‘All dormitory accommodation was closed and lots of day centres. No. 5 re-
opened with new protocols in place.” Other changes included the loss and lack of outreach, loss of day centres, and the shortage
of community psychiatric nurses (CPNs) to support with the mental health of the homeless community. It was implied that
provision was not what it used to be in Leicester; service provision and quality had decreased.

4.3.8 INTEGRATED CARE APPROACH

Multi-partnership, co-ordinated working was identified as important to support homeless individuals. Several participants
commented that communication between partners could be improved. Stakeholder buy-in from the police and pharmacies were
noted as very useful; with police bringing heavily intoxicated individuals to No. 5, and pharmacy staff passing on messages for
patients. It was suggested that a liaison nurse between Inclusion Healthcare and the hospital would also be valuable. Others
thought that more could be done, especially integration betweenérimary care, mental health, and housing.



5.0 LOCAL SERVICES

5.1 HOUSING SUPPORT

HOUSING OPTIONS SERVICE

* Responsible for the council’s statutory responsibility for allocating social housing.

e Responsible for the council’s statutory duties to those who are homeless, or at threat of homelessness within 56 days.
This includes provision of advice and assistance, provision of personalised housing plans, assessment of need, and
provision of relevant assistance to discharge legal duties owed.

TENANCY MANAGEMENT/SUPPORTING TENANTS AND RESIDENTS (STAR)

e STAR provide housing support for council tenants/those moving into local authority properties who have been
homeless or are at risk of becoming homeless.

e Housing officers within the tenancy management service ensure that welfare checks are carried out on LCC tenants and
that they are referred to appropriate services to enable people to sustain their tenancies.

e Help with issues which may contribute to becoming homeless or losing council tenancy including problems with money,
low-level debt, rent arrears or benefits, accessing mental health, physical health and/or drug and alcohol services,
support to set up a new home, finding training, education, and a job, and access to energy efficiency schemes to make a
home warmer and cheaper to run.

e A specialist Drugs and Alcohol support team provides intensive support to tenants with very complex needs including
poor mental health.

e A supporting housing manager post will be recruited to gather the evidence base, improve partnership working and
develop supported housing in the city, to increase the number of people going into recovery.

e Trainer flats will be set up in the zip building to train perspective tenants to manage an independent tenancy, before
being allocated their own accommodation in the community.

FLOATING SUPPORT - P3

e Supports those who are aged 16 and over and in private rented accommodation housing association tenancy, or
homeowners to maintain their accommodation and those who are at risk of eviction, or homelessness by helping them
to: manage and clear rent arrears and debts, identify financial support they may be entitled to, resolve issues with
tenancy, improve daily skills, access specialist services, deal with debt, improve mental and physical wellbeing, access
education and employment, deal with addiction issues and improve finances.

e The aim of floating support services is to provide short-term support to enable people to establish and maintain
independent living.

¢ Note: Services by appointment only, navigator hub now closed.

OUTREACH SUPPORT SERVICE

e Encourages rough sleepers to take up offers of/find suitable accommodation or reconnect to their area of origin.

e Services are provided at the Dawn Centre (day centre) on weekday mornings and on the street. The team also offer
surgeries in the Y advice and Support Centre, and the Anchor Centre.

e Provide advice and support on: benefits, GPs and other health services, alcohol, drug and mental health referrals,
accessing hostels and clothing, accompanying service users to appointments and interviews, referrals to temporary
hostel accommodation and Housing Options Centre.

TRANSITIONS SUPPORT

¢ Provide tailored assistance and intensive support to individuals with a history of rough sleeping/repeat homelessness
and/or complex needs.

e The aim of the service is to help those most entrenched in homelessness, particularly those with complex needs,
regardless of whether it is their first approach or whether they are already known to the service.

ROUGH SLEEPING NAVIGATORS

¢ Intensive, tailored support for rough sleepers, helping to ‘navigate’ individuals to the services.

153



¢ Three local charities involved:
o The Bridge to support individuals released from prison;
o Help the Homeless to support higher need individuals;
o One Roof to support individuals with no recourse to public funds/persons from abroad.

MULTI-AGENCY STREET LIFESTYLES GROUP

e Qverseen by the Multiple Disadvantage Strategic Board with Police, Crime and Antisocial Behaviour Unit, Social Care,
Housing, Probation, Prisons, Inclusion Healthcare, Turning point.

e Safeguarding people who are sleeping rough through multi-agency working between police and local partners.

¢ Includes an enforcement team where street lifestyles need to be more robustly managed, for example where
individuals are involved in persistent aggressive begging.

CHANGING FUTURES

e Changing Futures is a four-year programme aiming to improve outcomes for adults experiencing multiple disadvantage
—including combinations of homelessness, substance use, mental health issues, domestic abuse and contact with the
criminal justice system. Leicester is one of fifteen areas nationally who have been funded for this programme.

e The programme was announced in 2020, began work in July 2021 and will continue till the end of March 2025. It aims
to deliver improvements at the individual, service and system level:

o To stabilise then improve the life situation of adults who face multiple disadvantage.

o To transform local services to provide a person-centred approach and to reduce crisis demand.

o To test a different approach to funding, accountability and engagement between local commissioners and
services, and between central government and local areas.

e Programme principles include to:

o  Work in partnership across local services and the voluntary and community sector, building strong cross-sector
partnerships at a strategic and operational level that can design and implement an improved approach to
tackling multiple disadvantage.

Coordinate support, and better integrate local services to enable a ‘whole person’ approach.
Create flexibility in how local services respond to the people who use them, taking a system-wide view with
shared accountability and ownership leading to better services and a ‘no wrong door’ approach to support.

o Involve people with lived experience of multiple disadvantage in the design, delivery and evaluation of services
and in governance and decision making.

Take a trauma-informed approach across the local system, services and in the governance of the programme.
Commit to drive lasting system-change, with sustainable changes to benefit people experiencing
multiple disadvantage beyond the lifetime of the funding.

This includes a dedicated liaison worker with Leicester Royal Infirmary Emergency Department, working with individuals who are
high frequency users of emergency healthcare. Through a cost analysis of a Changing Future’s Beneficiary’s Interaction with
services locally, it has been established that the financial cost over 12 months was approximately £159,000, which through
intensive support being provided to individuals is a potential cost saving to the system per person supported. In addition, the
majority of Beneficiaries of Intensive Support have achieved the following positive outcomes:

e  From majority Rough Sleeping at referral to majority accommodated at closure

e From majority using Drugs and/or Alcohol to a level of severe impairment at referral to majority using only occasionally
or abstinent at closure

e From majority unable or unwilling to engage with services at referral to majority attending appointments regularly at
closure

Changing Futures has provided Intensive Support to 159 people during 2 years of operational activity.

COMMUNITY SAFETY TEAM

e The Council’s Community Safety Team deal with all incidents and cases of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) across all tenures.
They deal with all reports of ASB from residents and tenants in both Council tenancies and private sector housing from
initial report to high level investigations and legal action. Due to the nature of this work the Community Safety Team
has accumulated specialist knowledge of dealing with ASB. The type of cases that Community Safety Team deals with

154



includes issues that can relate to neighbour nuisance, harassment, mental health, substance use related issues, location
based ASB and youth related ASB.

The Council’s Tenancy Management Service within the Housing Division also have a responsibility to ensure that
Leicester City Council tenants adhere to responsibilities and obligations outlined within the Conditions of Tenancy.

The Community Safety Team includes a team which manage the Changing Futures programme where an individual
meets the criteria for Changing Futures support, this support is designed to help those with multiple disadvantages.
Changing Futures is supported by the Crime and ASB officers to carry out enforcement work (such as civil injunctions or
Closure Orders) on cases where a legal sanction is required, such as aggressive begging.

ACTION HOMELESS

Charity tackling long-term street homelessness through providing high levels of support for people with multiple and
complex needs, accommodation for people who are more independent, shared housing for people who require low
support to navigate future housing decisions, and more permanent resettlement options.

Offer accommodation under an Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreement (AST) for families and individuals.

Provider of women’s refuge, Bridge House, which offers accommodation to women and children experiencing domestic
abuse. The project also benefits from a Play Facilitator who specialises in helping children establish positive
relationships and healthy family routines through developmental group play and one-to-one sessions.

ONE ROOF LEICESTER

Charity providing accommodation and supporting homeless and vulnerably-housed people who are ready for semi-
independent living, including destitute refugees, EU migrants, refused asylum seekers, and people with no recourse to
public funds. Accommodate 2-3 vulnerable adults in each house, with shared communal space (e.g. kitchen, bathroom,
living room).

Work to establish immigration status for persons from abroad with restricted eligibility while accommodated.

Signpost to emergency accommodation, food (including a timetable of where to get a hot meal each day), advice and
support services.

Each resident is assigned a support worker who helps them apply for benefits, employment, training, apply for social
housing if eligible.

Support the move to permanent accommodation by assisting with settling into home including decorating, cleaning,
new carpets, white goods, bed and bedding, cutlery and crockery, setting up utilities, registering with a GP, ensuring all
relevant agencies are informed of the change of address and assistance with life skills, including budgeting, to ensure
they can maintain their new tenancy.

HELP THE HOMELESS

Charity supporting higher need individuals including: homeless/ex-homeless including those in temporary or emergency

accommodation; those at risk of homelessness; those with a diagnosed mental health condition; physically disabled;

prison leavers with a probation worker; those in substance use recovery/active substance use; unemployed/financial

hardship; fleeing domestic abuse; care leavers; those with a history of poor engagement.

Work to a psychologically informed environments (PIEs) - where the day-to-day running is designed to take the

psychological and emotional needs of people into account with understanding that people’s experiences could impact

how they relate to services.

Each service user assigned an individual lead case worker.

Ongoing support when housed e.g. registering with GP, dentists and setting up utility bills.

Other services provided include:

o Short term counselling, podiatry, self-care (barbers/hairdressers), other forms of therapy to increase self-worth and
self-value and anything else identified as an immediate, great need to achieve all as outlined.

o Supplying material aid and nutrition e.g. the Wednesday meal, to newly housed service users, rough sleepers, etc.
Free to anyone in need and includes the provision of food, clothing, footwear, sleeping bags, tents, etc.

o Advocacy and accurate signposting to other relevant services e.g. accompanying service users to appointments,
speaking on their behalf if requested, particularly in cases where official help has been limited or denied.

o Assisting access to housing and employment including helping with benefit claims, form filling, obtaining deposits
for accommodation.

155



o Providing short term emergency private accommodation where appropriate for rough sleepers in extreme
conditions (whether the emergency is general, such as a sudden drop in temperature, or personal, such as ill
health).

o Promoting cultural enrichment such as the free loan of books from mobile library.

THE CENTRE PROJECT

Charity with a day service which is accessible to single adults or couples aged 16 and over, people who are housed or at
risk of homelessness and experiencing loneliness and social exclusion and those not rough sleeping.

Supports people to maintain their own tenancies, promote independent living, social, emotional and economic well-
being and greater inclusion in the wider community, and motivate people to build self-esteem and self-confidence.
Supports service users to access a wide range of services. Post pandemic, it also offers a foodbank service.

Activities: One to one discussions/meetings, table tennis, snooker, Rummikub, Scrabble etc, keep fit sessions, walks,
practical support and signposting, relaxation class, access to computers.

The top 3 recorded reasons that people gave for visiting in 2021/22 were: food parcels, socialising and emotional
support. Roughly two thirds of those attending had a tenancy or owned their own property.

THE BRIDGE (HOMELESS TO HOPE)

Charity offering support and advocacy to anyone who is homeless or who is at risk of becoming homeless. Central point
of activity — ‘the Bridge’ hub

Deliver specialist housing related advice, support and assistance services, and accommodation options including:
housing applications, benefits applications, job applications/writing a CV.

Mentoring (through the Lighthouse project) support for 3-6 months, face-to-face support for those facing social
isolation, and telephone support for those isolated in homes and struggle with leaving. Since 2018, the Lighthouse
project has delivered over 1000 hours of mentoring, and in 2021, 100% of mentees said they felt less lonely as a result
of mentoring.

Provides a place for people to wash and dry their clothing, shower, access WIFI, get clothes and toiletries, eat a hot
meal, socialising with others, learn new skills, take part in activities including arts and crafts, music and football, support
with English for speakers of other languages.

Since the pandemic the centre is open as a day centre, with increased recreational arts such as art therapy.

Health services: hosts GP’s to provide an advice-based service approximately once a month; offer house the homeless
mental health team twice a week; Screening drives, e.g. oral cancer screening. Previously hosted quarterly health clinics
which included services such as psychiatrists and dentists. However, this has been more difficult to organise post-
COVID.

THE DAWN CENTRE

Temporary accommodation for single people and childless couples; provision available for disabled people and complex
needs. Emergency beds available out of hours.

Provides support, advice and assistance on housing, health, life skills and education.

Facilities: television lounges, an IT suite, activities room, dining room, quiet rooms and a garden, showers.

Social activities include: IT workshops, arts and crafts, football training, cook and eat classes, life skills workshops, and
anger and anxiety management workshops.

Centre requires payment towards the costs for fuel, light and water charges, meals — discussed on referral.

The centre operates a strict no alcohol rule.

Provider of supported accommodation to homeless young people aged 16 to 25 for up to two years during which time

staff provide the support needed to move towards independent living, employment, education and training.

Support for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children aged 16-17 up to the outcome of their asylum claim. Support

covers education, language, healthcare, finances, and independent living skills.

Each resident at YMCA receives a Transition Coach and a support pathway, ranging from 24-hour high support needs, to

semi-independent, low support. Support includes;

o Mental Health - Complex Needs Workers provide intensive support to young people who have multiple needs.
Embedded into our service as part of broader Shine project.

156



o  Skills - activities and one-to-one sessions to help find a training course, prepare for work, or learn other skills that
will boost confidence and help them to live independently.

o Substance use - aim for a drug-free and alcohol-free environment, with support from specialist agencies such as
Turning Point.

YMCA - THE Y SUPPORT & YASC

e The Y support project is a day centre offering one-to-one support, advice and information to people over 16 who are
homeless, sleeping rough or vulnerably housed.

e Provision for: breakfast, toilets, showers, washing facilities, toiletries, laundry, telephone access, clothes, emergency
food parcels.

e Provide advice and information on accommodation in emergency or longer term, welfare benefits advice and
assistance.

e Health services: information and signposting to specialist drug and alcohol agencies, a year-round health promotion
programme, specialist mental health advice, establishing identification, advice on managing debt.

e In 2021/22 the top 3 recorded reasons for visiting this service were: going for breakfast, asking advice and visiting the
mental health access worker.

ACTION HOMELESS FLORA LODGE

¢ Service for the most entrenched rough sleepers allowing flexibility, for example drinking on the premises, repeat
couples, individuals with dogs and individuals known to be current drug users.

e Project with treatment and interview rooms to enable partners to engage with individuals accommodated including:
mental health services, Turning Point (substance use services), Inclusion HealthCare (primary care services), Turning
Point (substance use peer support) and Action Homeless (team of support staff).

EMH MAPLE PARK

e For families, couples or expectant parents with low-to-medium level support needs who are homeless or under threat
of homelessness, and singles under 25, women who are pregnant or have young children.

e Offer a confidential needs assessment and support plan for each resident.

e Provide advice on benefits, budgets, emotional well-being, basic living and parenting skills, and information on
education, training, and housing.

FRAMEWORK HOUSING ASSOCIATION

e Provide specialist supported housing services to single homeless, young adults, women and families, those with complex
needs, mental health needs and substance use.

¢ Homelessness prevention and tenancy support including: debt, rent arrears, mental and physical ill-health, anti-social
behaviour, benefit problems, poor life skills, and family breakdown.

PARK LODGE

e Charity registered company providing supported accommodation for young homeless people aged between 16-25.

e Support to access key services in health, housing, education and training including information support and advice on
maintaining a healthy lifestyle, managing relationships, understanding risks etc.

e Counsellor access for mental health problems.

e Each young person receives an individual resettlement plan with ongoing support when moved into suitable
accommodation to ensure they live successfully within the community.

NOTTINGHAM COMMUNITY HOUSING ASSOCIATION’S HEATHFIELD HOUSE

e Provides temporary accommodation for adults aged 25 and over who are experiencing homelessness.

e Supporting tenants in maintaining their tenancy and giving them the skills to take forward when moving into their own
accommodation (such as handling utility bills), and to access support services from other agencies.

¢ All residents have a named keyworker who will develop support plans with them.

HITS HOMES TRUST

e Provide self-contained flats for young people aged between 16 and 25.



e Support with: how to manage money, accessing benefits, how to get into education and employment, improving health
and personal well-being and moving into secure accommodation.

HOMEGROUP LEICESTER - UNITY HOUSE

e Delivers supported housing and floating support for individuals with drug and alcohol problems.

e Offers beds for those at risk of homelessness and engaged with Turning Point, with a focus on recovery before
transitioning to independent accommodation.

* Provides floating support to those in independent accommodation facing barriers to independent living due to
substance use.

e Provide emotional support, counselling, recovery groups, maximising income, advocacy, and ongoing support once a
resident has left accommodation.

e The service has developed a recovery community approach where residents have a strong voice in the development of
the programme and house rules and opportunities exist for individuals in recovery to help shape the design and review
of services elsewhere.

REACHING PEOPLE

e A consortium of local Voluntary and Community Sector organisations working across Leicester, Leicestershire, and
Rutland aiming to deliver significant, improved, and lasting impact and outcomes for local vulnerable people, and
enable the development and provision of high- quality interventions providing significant return on investment.

e Facilitate integrated and partnership working across the VCSE and enable the coproduction of solutions to promote
equality, alleviate poverty and reduce health inequalities.

e Deliver solutions to improving health & wellbeing, homelessness, access to information, advice and guidance, and
learning and training.

PROVISION FROM FAITH GROUPS — FOOD, DRINK AND WARM SPACES

e There are a range of groups who provide food and drink throughout the city. In the winter they often also provide warm
spaces. These are most commonly run by faith groups.

¢ They include Midland Langar Seva Society, Hunters Lodge — Community of Grace, Triangle at Holy Trinity Church, Sound
café at St Martins House, Rachel’s table, Lighthouse Saturday kitchen, Church of the Martyrs Tomatoes Café, Chroma
church, St Peter’s lunch club, Robert Hall Church, Open Hands.

More information on support provided for specific groups including, families, single people, young people, domestic abuse
and ex-offenders is available in the homelessness review 2022.

158



Respite Rooms

The Respite Rooms Pilot Programme provided single gender, single sex short stay supported accommodation for victims of
Domestic Abuse (DA) and Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) experiencing, or at risk of, street homelessness. The
pilot programme was a policy response to the needs of a diverse group of highly vulnerable people, who require intensive,
trauma informed support to help them make choices and decisions around next steps for recovery. The programme started
operation in October 2021 in 12 English Local Authorities (LAs). In 10 of the 12 LA’s the project continues, while in Leicester
the project ran for 18 months; despite considerable effort funding was not secured to extend.

Evaluation commissioned by DLUHC through IFF Research found Respite Rooms had a significant positive impact on service
users. On average, Respite Room service users received a greater number of services than those in the comparison group.
This is particularly important considering all individuals had complex needs with most (as reported by staff) suffering acute
trauma when they first arrived. This included 93% with emotional needs, 92% with housing needs, 73% with financial need,
73% with counselling need and 40% with substance use needs as examples. Other needs included mental health, criminal
justice support, education, sexual health, language skills, and dental health. Two-thirds of Respite Room service users moved
to safe or secure accommodation after leaving a Respite Room, compared to under half of the comparison group after three
months. Respite Rooms was also successful in reducing the likelihood of users continuing (or starting) to sleep rough or live
in homeless hostels or night shelters. In Leicester 0% moved on to street homeless following a stay at the respite room.

Service providers felt that the Respite Room filled a gap in provision locally, between homelessness services and Domestic
Abuse services. The level of engagement from service users, and the proportion of successful outcomes from service users
with complex needs was higher than expected. Both the LA representatives and Panahghar (charity who led the specialist
support) felt that the project had been successful in bringing in individuals who would not have been reached by
conventional services. Service users expressed positive views on the staff, support and accommodation, and described
impacts including: feeling able to make plans for the future, recognising needs for support, acknowledging addictions, caring
for themselves, improved wellbeing, and rebuilding family relationships.

Findings further indicated that although dedicated move-on provision was better in Leicester than in some other areas,
difficulties with move-on included the lack of local services with low or medium support, finding housing providers who were
willing to take service users with a history of rent arrears or debts, and pressure on housing stock in some areas. Leicester
also had a higher-than-average number of women with no recourse to public funds (NRPF), which made move-on options
more limited.

Overall, the Respite Rooms provided an opportunity both to enhance specialist provision and to understand more about
women’s homelessness and ethnic minority homelessness. Panahghar noted that although they did not have funding to
continue the Respite Room in its current form, the experience it has given them, with both women and the relationships they
have built with other organisations, has given them the confidence to work more with women with more complex needs and
so broaden their organisation's offering. In the future, they can envisage drawing on their links with substance use
organisations to be able to collectively work with women with complex needs, who they would previously have turned away.

Source: Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities, Respite Rooms Pilot Programme Evaluation Final Report, July
2023LA

5.2 HEALTHCARE SERVICES

5.2.1 PRIMARY CARE - GP

Primary Care services for people who are homeless in Leicester is provided through a specialist service, delivered by Inclusion
Healthcare. Located near the city centre, the main premises of Inclusion Healthcare is Charles Berry House. They offer GP, ACP
and nursing clinics from Monday to Friday. While based primarily at the city centre location of Charles Berry House, the team
also provide outreach clinics at drop-in centres and aim to be flexible and responsive in meeting the needs of the homeless
population. In addition to the usual GP services offered by practices, the following services are also provided: midwife
appointments, specialist support for people with alcohol or drug related difficulties, extended appointment times to
acknowledge complex needs, physiotherapy, visiting secondary care health professionals for example ADHD nurses and a
proactive approach to preventative healthcare e.g, vaccinations and screening. Health Care Support Workers (HCSW) also

159



undertake new patient checks gathering information and initial identification of health needs, complete routine health checks,
blood pressure, weight, phlebotomy, wound care and provide vital links to partner agencies.

Literature indicates that primary health care programmes specifically designed for homeless individuals are more effective
compared to standard models/mainstream GP practices. Impacts include enhanced patient engagement and better long-term
outcomes, cost-effectiveness, increased likelihood to timely healthcare attention, reduced barriers and facilitated access to
primary care, preference for bespoke services such as specialised GPs over mainstream primary care, and alleviated burden on
secondary healthcare services (24) (25) (26) (27) (28) (29) (30).

The practice was last inspected by the CQC in November 2014 and rated as outstanding, with key findings highlighting their
responsiveness to patient needs and use of up-to-date guidance. Future plans include to employ a peer mentor to collaborate
with frequent A&E attenders and a homeless engagement nurse for the role of liaison between UHL and community, including
identifying patients from hospital systems, and working with matrons in planning discharges and community- based care. A
health care assistant is also in place to accompany patients to appointments and provide reminders.

5.2.2 SECONDARY CARE — UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS OF LEICESTER NHS TRUST (UHL)

DUTY TO REFER

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places a statutory duty on hospital trusts to refer anyone who is homeless or at risk of
homelessness within 56 days to the relevant housing authority for an assessment. UHL worked with LCC to develop a homeless
hospital discharge protocol, which includes a referral to the Housing Options Service. In September 2022 Healthwatch Leicester
published ‘The Experiences of Hospital Discharge and Post-Discharge Care’. The report found:

“Most of the people we spoke to did not recognise that any form of assessment under DTR [Duty to refer] had taken place whilst
in hospital or that any plan had been drawn up to address their housing or on-going health needs following discharge.” (31)

To address this and related issues, Healthwatch provided 7 recommendations for action. This report is available here:
Homelessness: experiences of hospital discharge and post-discharge care | Healthwatch Data

HOSPITAL HOUSING AND ENABLEMENT SERVICE

The Hospital Housing Enablement Service (HHET) is a collaborative effort among Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT), UHL,
LCC, and other district councils in Leicestershire. Established in 2014, HHET prevents discharge delays for patients with housing
issues. They work with people who are well enough to leave hospital but have no accommodation to return to or their current
accommodation is no longer suitable. The team assesses patients, refers them to housing authorities if needed, and aims to
address housing issues before discharge. They mediate with families, complete housing applications, and assist those who have
no recourse to public funds to support with the transition from hospital to home

5.2.3 SUBSTANCE USE

TURNING POINT

Provide drugs and alcohol treatment services for children, young people and adults in Leicester. This includes treatment, advice
and guidance, recovery support, access to rehab and harm reduction services such as needle exchange and blood borne viruses
prevention and treatment, peer mentors, group work sessions, and relapse prevention work.

A Homeless Outreach team was set up in early 2019 and expanded over 2022-3 through the Rough Sleepers Drug and Alcohol
Treatment Grant. The additional funding increased clinical and administrative support and increased the number of recovery
workers from 4 to 11, enabling more outreach and in reach to hostels and day services, up to 7 days a weekThe service has been
able to move away from an appointment-based system and professionals are able to spend time building relationships and trust
with individuals who are or at risk of rough sleeping.

DEAR ALBERT

Community helping individuals with alcohol and drug use through group work, 1-2-1 and consultancy options. Dear Albert also
delivers a peer-led facilitation programme called ‘You do the MAFs’ (Mutual Aid Facilitation sessions). ‘You do The MAFs’
effectively directs and assists participants into a variety of local, regional and national positive support networks, as well as

160


https://nds.healthwatch.co.uk/reports-library/homelessness-experiences-hospital-discharge-and-post-discharge-care

becoming a peer-led support group itself. Courses are particularly effective at the beginning of a service user’s treatment
pathway as they can be used as a vehicle to facilitate complete engagement within existing treatment programmes, although
sessions can be used throughout any stage of care/recovery planning.

NO.5 RECOVERY HUB

Managed by Inclusion Healthcare, this recovery hub/day centre offers services to individuals with a street lifestyle and
substance use issues. The service aims to reduce the harms for those with complex needs and to support them into treatment,
and offers the following services: harm reduction advice, homeless mental health support, health and well-being services and
advice including mental health support, housing support and debt and benefits advice.

The centre has a wet room where those with alcohol dependency issues can drink under supervised conditions to ensure safer
drinking, and to create an environment to engage them with treatment services. The service also provides health interventions
(e.g., flu jabs), skill-based sessions (e.g., computer skills, nutrition, employment), recreational activities and on-site access to
other services such as Department for Work and Pensions. It offers a daily Monday to Friday drop-in service for those on the
streets who are struggling with alcohol and other substance use problems. Food is served from 8am in the morning and there
are washing and laundry facilities available, access to a telephone, access to the internet, showers and clothing store.

5.2.4 MENTAL HEALTH

HOMELESS MENTAL HEALTH SERVICE

The homeless mental health service offers engagement, personalised mental health assessment, treatment and referral support
services including social care, GP, drugs and alcohol services and housing outreach/services. The service is aimed at anyone age
16+ who is experiencing homelessness or are within three months of commencing a new tenancy from being homeless. To
enable flexible access to the service, definitions of ‘homelessness’ and ‘mental health’ are kept purposefully broad.

The team consists of mental health nurses, an occupational therapist, support worker, three psychologists and a psychiatrist.
Together they offer both informal support via drop-in sessions every weekday morning and appointments - usually for short
term mental health problems such as anxiety, low mood or stress relating to current circumstances and formal support for long
term mental illness conditions such as psychosis, clinical depression or personality disorder. They also offer a central access
point number which operates 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Interventions include mental health assessment, short-term
supportive counselling and coping strategies, access to brief psychological talking therapies and psychiatric treatment and
signposting to other relevant support services. More recently, grant funding has enabled greater outreach provision in day
centres, hostels and on the street.

The service works takes a psychologically informed approach to working with people to form ‘psychologically informed
environments’ (PIE), in line with PIE guidelines. This accounts for individuals’ personal histories and trauma, which can influence
the way they act in relationships, with other people and with services. This is considered when designing services and when
responding to people often deemed ‘difficult to manage’. 2023 saw 10 years of PIE in homeless services across the city,
celebrated by regular PIE multi-agency training sessions, reflective practices across 6 different organisations, psychologically
informed street outreach, and ad hoc psychology consultations and debriefs. The development of a pilot ‘psychology in hostels’
(PiH) Project based on a model developed in London and recommended by Public Health was also seen.

ACTION HOMELESS COMMUNITY TRANSITIONS PROJECT

Commissioned by LPT, this project offers housing and support to individuals leaving mental health wards who are at risk of
homelessness. It provides tailored support in achieving individual goals. This includes assistance with accessing eligible benefits,
repayment plans, advice on reintegrating into society and facilitation to do so. The wrap around support provided seeks to
prevent homelessness and facilitate individuals to settle into the community.

5.2.5 HEALTH VISITING FOR FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN UNDER 5

LEICESTER PARTNERSHIP TRUST - HEALTHY TOGETHER SERVICE

161



The Housing Team has a pathway in place to notify the Healthy Together Service. All families with children under 5 are
vulnerable to housing issues. This enables children’s needs to be assessed with support provided in a timely and appropriate
manner. The Public Health Nurse (Health visitor) monitors and promotes the physical and emotional health of mothers, babies
and general health of families. The service is currently working on strengthening links with partner agencies, providing advice
and support on: general health, nutrition, behavioural difficulties, child development including specialist developmental needs,
postnatal depression and emotional wellbeing, domestic abuse, social issues such as housing and finance and child protection.

PROJECT LIGHT

The charity Project LIGHT (Leicester Initiative Good Health Team) is an interprofessional student and staff partnership providing
health promotion and advice to Leicester’s homeless population. LIGHT started in 2010 and now includes medical, nursing,
pharmacy, social work, psychology and other students.

Students are required to complete the Volunteer Training program which is offered by experienced professionals and includes
the following topics: Introduction to Homelessness, Mental Health, Drugs and Alcohol, First Aid, Physical Health, Managing
Conflict and Preparation for Volunteering. Upon completion trainees receive a certificate and are eligible to volunteer with
service provider organisations serving the homeless in Leicester.

LIGHT seeks to:

e Raise awareness of homelessness in health and social care students and professionals

e  Promote interprofessional working in health and social care through education and volunteering with the project
e Improve the health of Leicester’s homeless people

e Reduce barriers to homelessness

e Reduce stigma in healthcare

LIGHT has continued to serve homeless people for over 12 years because the project works in partnership with statutory
(Inclusion Healthcare) and voluntary (Action Homeless and The Bridge) organisations and is part of the city Homeless Charter.
The Project was set up and is overseen by the University of Leicester Medical School. Student volunteers from the medical
school and from health and social care courses at De Montfort University run health promotion and health advice sessions for
local homeless people in voluntary sector premises in Leicester. Law students from University of Leicester have also been
involved in providing legal advice. A coordinator is employed by the Medical School to liaise between the university, student
volunteers and the voluntary sector partners. Our research on the project has shown enormous benefits as referenced below
and we are currently analysing the recorded lunch-time support given at the Bridge between September 2018 and March 2020.
The students are also part of a local research project to reduce admissions to A&E departments in the city.

5.3 INTEGRATING THE APPROACH ACROSS ORGANISATIONS

Leicester's Homelessness Charter was launched in November 2018 as a call to action to unite stakeholders including the
statutory and voluntary sector bodies, faith groups, businesses, and universities. It provides a vision, values and principles that
can be shared by all of those working to prevent homelessness in the city, and to support those affected by it. Its first signatories
were the City Mayor, the Bishop of Leicester, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Dean of Leicester. Many others,
including the Lord Lieutenant also pledged their support. Citizens of Leicester, charities, the local authority, healthcare and other
public services, faith groups, businesses, institutions and other organisations are asked to adopt the principles and values of the
charter, pledge their support and work together with others to tackle key challenges and to prevent homelessness in the city.
There are 150 signatories and 36 organisations working together to tackle homelessness.

Key objectives are to:

e Ensure that anyone with no recourse to public funds has access to safe accommodation;

¢ Increase the availability of affordable accommodation for those in housing need;

e Tackle rough sleeping to ensure no-one is sleeping on the streets;

e Improve local systems for homeless people through better partnerships and co-ordination;

e Ensure the voice of those with lived experience is at the heart of designing services for people who are homeless.

162



The charter has initiated a range of city-wide initiatives, including a multi-agency review for individuals experiencing
homelessness with no recourse to public funds, in depth local research into affordable housing, as well as regular networking
and development events that bring the sector together to address any emerging trends or challenges. In partnership with local
Social Enterprise, Dear Albert, the Charter also offers the HOPE forum, a peer network led by Dear Albert. The Charter also
initiated MyPlace, a fund in partnership with Dear Albert, De Montfort University, and Barclays, aimed at providing support to
individuals settling into new homes and re-integrating back into the community.

In 2023, the Charter produced a city-wide service provision map, which identifies the services available to rough sleepers and
those experiencing homelessness. These have been issued widely across the city to improve communication around what
services are available. The Charter also worked closely with LCC on the Homelessness Strategy and are an integral part of its
action plan.

Service provision map available here: https://www.leicesterhomelessnesscharter.co.uk/news/launch-of-leicesters-

homelessness-resource-map

163


https://www.leicesterhomelessnesscharter.co.uk/news/launch-of-leicesters-homelessness-resource-map
https://www.leicesterhomelessnesscharter.co.uk/news/launch-of-leicesters-homelessness-resource-map

6.0 PROJECTED HOUSING NEED AND OUTCOMES

6.1 HOUSING LANDSCAPE

6.1.1 HOUSING STOCK

An adequate supply of affordable housing is a preventative factor for people from being at risk of or experiencing homelessness.

Up to 2031, Leicester requires 1,692 new homes per year (33,840 over the period 2011 to 2031) to meet demand. Each year 786
of these should be affordable dwellings to meet the need for affordable housing. (32) Due to funding restrictions, LCC have not
been able to meet this affordable housing target over the last 5 years, with 366 new affordable homes delivered between 2021-
22. This is not an isolated issue, with national housing stock falling consistently below the target of 300,000 new homes
annually, over the past decade.

Table 13: The delivery of new affordable homes, 2017/18-2021/22

Year 2017/18 | 2018/19 | 2019/20 | 2020/21" 2021/22

Affordable new homes delivered 81 224 340 137 366

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

The Council was approved the addition of £70m for the purchase of properties and the extension of the Council’s new-build
programme; the 2021/22 budget increased this to £100m. An additional £100m was approved in the 2022/23 Capital
Programme to enable the momentum of house building to be maintained, with further amounts expected to be added as part of
future years’ programmes.

6.1.2 HOME OWNERSHIP AFFORDABILITY

The ratio of house prices to income is an indicator of the relative affordability of a household to be able to afford to buy a home.
The average price of Leicester’s homes has increased by 23% between 2018 (£193,000) and 2022 (237,000), with prices
continuing to increase in the city, following the national trend. The average cost of homes remains lower in Leicester than
nationally, although Leicester has a lower level of average earnings compared to the national average and therefore this is
relative to earnings. The 2021 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings show Leicester employees to have a median annual income
of £21,237 compared to £26,192 for England (33).

Guidance (2007) suggests that households should spend up to 25% of their gross income on housing costs, with mortgages
based on 3.5 times income. In Leicester, an individual earning the average gross annual pay can borrow £88,742, which is below
the average property prices in the city, including flats and maisonettes (£127,633) in 2021. The ratio of lower quartile house
prices to lower quartile work-based earnings in Leicester has increased from 6.62 in 2017 to 8.07 in 2021, indicating the growing
difficulty for those in the lower income bracket to afford a home. Leicester's ratio surpasses the ratios for England, Derby, and
Nottingham (2)

6.1.3 SOCIAL HOUSING

The housing register is a list of households who meet the eligibility and local connection rules and wish to apply for social
housing. Social housing is housing rented from a Housing Association or from the council.

The number of applications for social housing (council and housing association homes) in Leicester outstrips supply. Information
available in the ‘Who Gets Social Housing 2022 — 2023’ report demonstrates this. As of April 1%t 2023, there were 6,008
households on the Housing Register, with overcrowding being the biggest reason for households joining the housing register.
However, there were only 1,079 lets (i.e supply) from the housing register (itself, a net decrease of 9% from the previous year).
Of those 6,008 households, 1,199 (20%) were in possession of a homeless priority award, i.e. people who are homeless or
threatened with homelessness. Of those 1,079 lets, 558 (51%) went to applicants in possession of a homeless priority award.
This shows homeless households achieve a significant proportion of lettings compared to their proportionate presence on the

164



housing register. This is due to the way that the policy and other processes prioritise different types, severities, and urgencies, of
housing need.

Despite this, the housing register is often not in a position to provide the number of homes required, nor at the speed required
due to high demand and large waiting times as outlined in Figure 15. This shows that there can be significant wait times for
certain types of properties. The applications for housing range from very low-level housing issues through to more critical needs
such as homelessness and harassment. Bandings applied (1-3) denote level of housing need; band 1 refers to the highest need
and band 3 refers to a lower priority of need. Since the homelessness review in 2016, average waiting times for family size
accommodation have increased. For a band 2 household seeking a two-bedroom house or flat, waiting times have increased
from 18 months to 29 months, and for those seeking a four-bedroom property waiting times have increase from 39 months to
48 months.

Although the data relates to all housing needs represented on the housing register, and not just homelessness, the information
serves to illustrate the enormous demand that social housing is under, and the lack of available supply to meet that demand.
Lack of social housing, and long waiting times, is a contributory factor to homelessness as it limits available housing solutions to
both prevent and recover from homelessness. Therefore, the primary need in this area is an increase in investment and supply
of social housing. LCC is doing what it can within constraints and continues to seek to maximise the supply of new affordable
housing in the city via both new build and acquisitions and through producing new council homes itself and supporting the
provision of new affordable homes by Registered Providers and other Providers. The council delivered 1,100 new Council and
Registered homes in the previous 4 years and have committed to a target of 1,500 new and acquired properties over the next 4
years.

Figure 15: Average wait times for social houses in Leicester by property type, by month

Average waiting times (months) for different property types*®

Total Applicants on Total Lettings April *Figures quoted are average waiting times for individuals who are bidding regularly across all areas of the city
1st April 2023 2022 to March 2023 General Needs Homes Wheelchair Accessible Homes
1BED 2BED 3BED 4BED 5BED 1BED 2BED 3BED 4BED 5BED
6,008 1,079 BAND1 5 11 11 10 18 BAND1 30 30 60 51 60
BAND2 20 4g*  48* 60* 60* BAND2 37 60* 60* 60* 72*
Demand for housing v Supply
2500 BAND3Z 31 72¢  72* 72* 72* BAND3 72%  72* 72* 72* 84*
® Demand
2 W Lettings Accessible Homes with Level Access Shower Ground Floor Homes
1500
1BED 2BED 3BED 4BED 5BED 1BED 2BED 3BED 4BED 5BED
1000 BAND1 6 6 14 48* 60* BAND1 6 13 68 60* 72*
500
I I BAND2 7 20 15 60*  60* BAND2 7 18 48* 0% 72*
x [ I | .
TEed ZEed amed (AN Mg BAND3 20 30 48*  60*  60* BAND3 36*  48* 60*  60*  84*

*Estimated waiting times as no actual data available during this period
For further information visit our website at www leicester gov uk/housingapplications

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

HOUSING MANAGEMENT

The Council is the biggest landlord in the city and will generally be the most affordable rental option for many people. Figure 16
illustrates how private rented properties have been increasing over the past four decades, while the availability of affordable
and stable housing through council rentals have decreased. The increasing reliance on private rented properties could
potentially lead to challenges such as higher rental costs, less secure tenancies, and limited access to support services.

165



Figure 16: The changing role of Leicester City Council as a landlord

Rise in private rented, a reduction in council properties
and a steady but underwhelming number of
housing association properties

B Owner occupier M Council rented M Private rented B Housing associations

8.3% 7.7%
2%

6.9%
||

49% 50.9%

Nt | Se—— | m———  Wm—

1981 1991 2001 2011 2017
98,500 households 104,000 households 111,000 households 123,000 households 135,500 households

Source: Leicester City Council (Housing Services; Overview Select Committee), 2021

COUNCIL HOUSING EVICTIONS

One of the key responsibilities for LCC, as a social landlord, is to help people sustain their tenancies. Therefore, LCC scrutinises
all potential council eviction cases to ensure that all avenues of maximising tenant income and sustaining tenancy have been
explored. This includes ensuring that any vulnerability has been identified and the necessary referrals to supporting agencies are
considered well in advance of any eviction process being followed. The eviction route is pursued as an ultimate last resort and
after all efforts to sustain the tenancy has been demonstrated and exhausted. In 2021/22, of the 7 evictions from council homes
that took place for rent arrears, 1 was a family and the other 6 were singles. In all cases, the tenants had abandoned their
homes, with almost half of the tenants known to have moved abroad.

Recognising the increasing pressure on council tenants in the current economic climate and the rising numbers presenting with
complex needs, LCC have introduced new support initiatives, including:

¢ Extending the support provided by the Income Management Team.

¢ Revised eligibility criteria for STAR services, implemented in May 2021, which prioritises those at risk of homelessness
with multiple disadvantage.

¢ Tenancy management have introduced a sensitive lets and tenancy support procedure, which helps to identify suitable
housing for tenants who are vulnerable and have complex needs and ensures tenants have the right support they need
to manage in their tenancies.

e Tenancy management working with Adult Social Care to develop housing options for tenants with complex needs who
require long term support.

6.1.4 PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR

The private rented sector (PRS) provides a housing alternative for low-income households who cannot access owner occupied
homes, and for whom the shortage in social housing means there is no realistic prospect of securing a home from the housing
register. Barriers to accessing the PRS for households on low incomes include issues relating to benefits, initial deposits, fees
required, referencing requirements, high rents and in some cases landlords’ reluctance towards letting to benefit claimants.

The Department of Communities & Local Government guidance (2007), suggests that to be considered affordable, rental costs
should not exceed 25% of gross income. Based on resident median gross pay in Leicester in 2021 for a full-time worker and the
average market rents, rental costs would be 29.7% of their gross monthly pay. (2) Based on 2021 data, for individuals who are in

166



the bottom 25% of earners (work-based) in Leicester, their rental costs for an average private rented home would be 36.2.% of
their gross monthly pay. For those individuals who are in the bottom 25% of earners looking to rent a lower quartile priced
rental property, the ratio of rent to income is 28.5%. These figures relate to the earnings of those in work. The affordability
issues will be much more significant for those who are not in work.

Private rental prices paid by tenants in the UK rose by 2.1% across 2021. The East Midlands saw the highest annual growth in
private rental prices (3.8%), while London saw the lowest (0.2%). The private rents table below is Official National Statistics
(ONS) data which is an estimate based on a sample of properties, some of which are sampled in 2021 (2)

Table 14: Average monthly private sector rents in Leicester (April 2021 — March 2022)

Year Average of all bedroom sizes 3-bed average

2021/22 £661 £747

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

National research and the local experience of officers in the LCC Private Sector Relations Team suggests that PRS rents have
been increasing significantly over the past 18 months, suggesting these figures are likely underestimated. This is mainly due to:

e the supply of housing in the private rented sector not matching demand.

e increased mortgage interest rates.

e changes to taxation law for private sector landlords.

e costs of stamp duty and raising funds for a deposit, along with rising house prices are making it harder for people to get
onto the property ladder.

Recent research carried out by the PRS Team indicates that rents have risen to a point where properties are unaffordable for
people on low incomes or in receipt of benefits. The average rent in Leicester is currently 30-50% above the Local Housing
Allowance (LHA), and without any financial assistance to bridge the gap these tenancies would not be sustainable.

All average private market rents are higher than local housing allowance (LHA) rates and even lower quartile rents, 1 bed and 4+
bed market rates are above LHA levels. The experience of the Private Rented Housing PRS Team confirms that there is a lack of
private rental accommodation available at LHA rates to meet the demand for it by those who are in need. It is the tenant’s
responsibility to finance any shortfall between LHA and their rent. Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP’s) can help with this
shortfall however these payments are made for a 13-week period after which you have to reapply. Therefore, these payments
are not a long-term solution. LHA rates will be frozen for 2022/23 at the rates for 2020/21. Prior to this, they were frozen at
2016 levels until 2020. As a result, rental affordability is likely to be a continuing and increasing issue for more households. As
the amount of LHA received depends on household income, savings and any non-dependents living in the same property, as a
household’s circumstances change this could lead to their accommodation becoming unaffordable - as tenants are bound by a
tenancy agreement, they might be unable to move for some months despite their change in circumstances.

Table 15: Market rents compared with LHA, snapshot at February 2023

Within LHA 10% higher | 10-25% 25-35% 35-50% 50-75% 75-100% More than
rates than LHA higher higher higher higher higher 100% higher
% of
2% 2.5% 9.5% 19% 24% 30% 9% 1%
sample

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

The council can provide short term financial support in the form of Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to some people to
help meet the shortfall in their housing costs. The scheme can assist people who have had their benefits capped, help with rent
payments (for arrears or future shortfalls), and support those at risk of homelessness. However, DHP funding has been
decreased by the government to £100m for 2022-23, compared to £140m that was made available in 2021-22.

Table 16: Number of DHP applications made over the past 4 years



Year Number of DHP Number of awards made | % of successful
applications applications
2018/19 2,879 1,969 68.39%
2019/20 1,694 1,329 78.45%
2020/21 3,073 1,626 52.91%
2021/22 2,926 1,693 57.86%

Source: Leicester City Council, 2022

In 2021/22 although there were less DHP awards than in 2018/19, the total value of awards increased. There are a number of
households claiming this award to sustain their accommodation and who would be potentially at risk of homelessness if they did
not receive these payments.

The council has several initiatives in place to help improve the circumstances of households who are living in the PRS or
struggling to access private rented housing:

e PRS Strategy to ensure that housing in Leicester is the best standard it can be for those in need of housing.

¢ Landlord incentive schemes where private landlords are being offered a package of support and help, including financial
incentives, secure rental income, and trouble-free letting. Recent changes have resulted in a significant increase in PRS
tenancies available for let to homeless households, now averaging around 200 new tenancies per annum. The use of
DHP to bridge the affordability gap has been crucial to achieve this. A short to medium term solution is in place with the
enablement of DHP awards for longer than 13 weeks. Pathways have been put in place to mitigate issues arising in the
longer term.

e LCCisintroducing a private sector licensing scheme for three areas of Leicester. The scheme will protect tenants from
rogue landlords whose properties do not meet required standards.

e Securing additional funding through the accommodation for ex-offenders’ programme to help secure private sector
accommodation for individuals released from prison with appropriate support.

6.2 COST OF LIVING CRISIS

The ‘cost-of-living crisis’ refers to the fall in disposable incomes that the UK has experienced since late 2021. It is being caused
predominantly by high inflation outstripping wage and benefit increases. This is likely to further increase the number of
individuals at risk of or experiencing homelessness both nationally and locally. The combination of rising living costs and
stagnant wages means that individuals are and will find it increasingly difficult to bridge the gap between their income and
expenses, with many households spending a disproportionate amount of their income on housing, leaving them vulnerable to
homelessness. In addition to this, the inflated costs of housing have meant that many individuals are forced to live in
substandard conditions (34).

The financial austerity brought about by the cost-of-living crisis places immense strain on the resources of local authorities and
supporting organisations on a national scale. These entities are already stretched in assisting those experiencing homelessness,
and the escalating demand for affordable housing and support services is outpacing the available supply. Consequently, waiting
lists for assistance are growing longer, leaving individuals with limited options for finding the help they need. The economic
disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have had a lasting impact on employment and income stability; many people
have lost their jobs or experienced reduced working hours, leading to a decline in income and increased financial vulnerability.
There is slow economic growth and uncertain forecasts for upcoming years, which coupled with welfare reforms impacting
households on benefits, presents significant risks to the ongoing success of homelessness prevention efforts.

Leicester is the 32" most deprived local authority in England, out of 317 lower tier local authorities. Over a third (35%) of
residents live in quintile 1 (most deprived 20% of areas nationally) for the IMD (35). In addition to this, Leicester has a lower
median annual pay compared to comparator authorities and the national average (Figure 17). Estimates also suggest that nearly
a third (27%) of Leicester residents are within low paying jobs, which is higher than comparators (36). Because of this, Leicester
is more likely to experience the impact of the cost-of-living crisi’%aémany other local authorities. In 2022, Leicester was



ranked 8" out of 307 local authorities in the cost-of-living vulnerability index. The poverty rank determines existing levels of
poverty while the work rank relates to those in the labour market but on the cusp of poverty (36).

Figure 17: Median annual pay (gross £), Leicester and comparator authorities, 2021

Median Annual pay - Gross (£) - For all employee jobs Leicester, England, and ONS
Comparators (2021)

30000

25000

21237
20000
15000
10000
5000
0

Leicester UA  Nottingham UA Bradford Birmingham Luton UA Coventry

mmm Median e=England: £26192

Source: ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), 2023

169



7.0 UNMET NEEDS AND GAPS

HOUSING

Access to affordable housing:

An adequate supply of affordable housing is a preventative factor for people at risk of or experiencing homelessness, with high
prices being a barrier to home ownership and private rented properties. Both nationally and locally in Leicester, the demand for
affordable housing far passes supply, with the need for affordable housing growing further still.

Data and focus group findings indicate private rented properties have been increasing over the past four decades, while the
availability of affordable and stable housing through council rentals has decreased. The increasing reliance on private rented
properties could lead to challenges such as higher rental costs, less secure tenancies, and limited access to support services.

Simultaneously, it is becoming increasingly difficult for people receiving benefits and on low incomes to access private rented
accommodation. Barriers to accessing the PRS for households on low incomes include issues relating to benefits, initial deposits,
fees required, referencing requirements, high rents and in some cases landlords’ reluctance towards letting to benefit claimants,
with welfare changes having had and continuing to have an impact. The current cost-of-living crisis could further exacerbate
these issues with rental affordability likely to be a continuing and increasing issue for more households, unless there is central
government intervention in the form of rent control, unfreezing LHA rates or other interventions.

Inaccessibility to house ownership and private rented accommodation results in a reliance on social housing. High demand for
social housing leads to significant waiting times for housing applicants. Waiting times for most property types in Leicester have
more than doubled since 2019, with waits for certain types of properties up to 5 years. The number of annual lettings from the
housing register is not sufficient in preventing waiting times increasing year on year.

Focus group findings indicate individuals housed in temporary accommodation for protracted periods of time or accessing
available short-hold tenancies in the private rented sector find this disruptive, pertaining to be a barrier to stable employment,
and causing a sense of instability.

Appropriate housing size:

In Leicester, more people live in overcrowded households than in its comparator cities and compared to the national average.
This is due to multiple issues including affordability and availability of appropriately sized housing stock. 12.4% (45,706) of
households have fewer bedrooms/rooms than required (with an occupancy rating of below 0).

Although overcrowding rarely constitutes homelessness in itself, it does indirectly impact on homelessness as described at 3.2.2.
Tackling overcrowding within the city is likely to result in a positive impact on the number of homelessness approaches.

A change in LCC’s Housing Allocations Policy, made in 2019, has resulted in 445 (to date) of the most severely overcrowded
households in the city being moved to appropriately sized accommodation. The city council continues to be committed to
reducing overcrowding, and has several strategic objectives related to developing solutions to improve supply, prioritisation
methodologies, and support.

UNDERSTANDING PREVALENCE

Data estimating hidden homelessness: Estimating the number of hidden homeless individuals at a local level is challenging. A
proxy measure such as the number of people registered with Inclusion Healthcare is valuable, although may not capture
everybody, and does not allow for comparison to comparator areas. Developing methods to identify and enumerate this
population may enable further understanding of support needs. This would need to include those who may not make
themselves known to authorities because they have no recourse to public funds.

Data collection for rough sleeper’s demographics: Approximately a third of rough sleepers in Leicester did not disclose their age
or nationality — a higher proportion unknown compared to national averages. This increases the paucity of data around rough
sleepers in Leicester.

Data across systems: Although it is possible to assess the usage of an individual service, it is not currently possible to assess how
those same patients interact with other services, leaving a gap in understanding an individual’s experience of the system. This

170



also applies to an individual’s healthcare journey, which will span beyond their time of homelessness, with a continuity of
support needed regardless of accommodation status.

HEALTH CARE SERVICE PROVISION

Simplify healthcare pathways: Focus group findings suggest pathways are not adequate for the homeless community and basic
healthcare needs were not always met. Some individuals have resorted to extreme measures to get healthcare attention, with
an example of a homeless individual intentionally getting arrested so that he could receive treatment for his leg ulcer. Findings
suggest this has been particularly exacerbated since COVID-19 with a lack and loss of outreach contributing to the issue.

Access to dentistry: Focus group findings indicate dental care was particularly difficult for homeless individuals to access.

A&E: There is a low level of satisfaction with A&E amongst homeless individuals, partly due to long wait times, and partly due to
perceived stigmatisation. Service providers also felt some people were being rejected due to a generalisation that they are there
for shelter rather than legitimate reasons.

Mental health: Data from individual services, including LCC funded accommodation services, GP’s Quality Outcome Framework
indicate a high level of need for mental health support. This was also reflected in focus group findings where a shortage of
community psychiatric nurses to support the mental health of the homeless was reported. It is possible this has increased since
COVID-19 following the trend in the general population. The high proportion of people reporting a mental health problem,
particularly depression, indicates that this extends beyond the cohort of people with tri-morbidity.

Integration between health services and housing: Focus group findings indicate a need for further integration between housing,
primary care, mental health and secondary care. One suggestion included a liaison nurse between Inclusion Healthcare and the
hospital.

Learning disability (LD) diagnoses: “Lots of people probably have an LD diagnosis but cannot secure one. It is too much for
people to organise themselves. If they did have such a diagnosis it could lead to more support” [Interview with stakeholder as
part of focus group findings]. There is also limited understanding about neurodiversity in the homeless population.

Abstaining from drugs: There is a perceived drug culture in those who frequently attend the Dawn Centre, with individuals
attempting to abstain or reduce their exposure to substances finding this problematic when attending, indicating a possible risk
of relapse.

Asylum seekers: There has been an increase in the number of asylum seekers being directed to Inclusion Healthcare whose
healthcare needs are different from the otherwise known homeless population. Concerns are that this could negatively impact
on the accessibility of ‘traditional’ homeless population to primary health care, leading to them seeking their health care via out
of hours or emergency services or not seeking it at all. This is an emerging issue that Inclusion Healthcare are currently working
with partners on.

THE WIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH/WRAP AROUND SUPPORT AND SERVICES

Maintaining support networks: Social and community networks are a recognised wider/social determinant of health. Transition
between stages in the homelessness journey are often times at which people may be vulnerable to losing existing networks and
fall victim to cuckooing. Focus groups findings suggest that this is a problem in Leicester, and also that without adequate step-up
support, more people are choosing homelessness and street living.

Prison release support: Focus group findings indicate people are released from prison at times where there is limited emergency
provision, for example on the weekend. Feedback suggests people are often discharged with no fixed abode, which proves
particularly difficult for those who do not know the system of service providers in Leicester. LCC are currently working closely
with the Prison Service, Probation, Leicester Homeless Charter, and other partners, to review and improve the Prison-Release
and Ex-Offender Pathway. This work will place a focus on identifying and resolving gaps in the current pathway, ensuring that
advice and assistance is offered up-stream, and ensuring a collaborative approach to accommaodation solutions during pre-
release planning.

Weekend provision: Feedback from homeless individuals indicates a lack of weekend service provision, resulting in many
‘dreading’ the weekend. Individuals report a lack of basic needs such as shelter, warmth, food and other basic needs, sometimes
resorting to shoplifting to meet needs.

171



Drop-in/ Day centre provision: Focus group findings suggest the lack of and move away from drop-in services following the
COVID-19 pandemic has been disruptive and limits access. It was emphasised that many homeless individuals would prefer
drop-in services over fixed appointments. Those working with the homeless felt that drop-in sessions worked best at sites where
there were other reasons for people to attend like day centres providing food and shelter. It is noted that drop-in services have
been gradually re-opening since these focus groups were undertaken, and No.5 did not close throughout the pandemic in
partnership with the Y.

Service provider attitudes: In interviews with Turning Point, No. 5, The Bridge, Action Homeless, Inclusion Healthcare, Prison
services, YMCA, Addiction services, and Midwifery services, the large majority expressed a negative attitude towards current
service provision, mainly due to service gaps and barriers. Concerns were expressed with the system’s perceived failure to
protect and cater to all homeless individuals, including those who are banned from elements of service provision, and those with
learning difficulties. Further, those rough sleeping reported sleeping during the day as they feel safer than at night, although
services, including health services, currently prioritise day-time provision. It was felt that longstanding services in Leicester were
negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, with closed accommodations, loss of day centres and new protocols for No. 5
when re-opening. Other changes included the loss and lack of outreach, loss of day centres, and the shortage of community
psychiatric nurses (CPNs) to support with the mental health of the homeless community. It was implied that provision was not
what it used to be in Leicester; service provision and quality had decreased.

SYSTEM WORKING

Communication and partnerships: Focus group findings presented mixed views on partnership working in the city. While some
felt there was adequate joint-working, others noted a need for improved communication and collaboration between service
providers and partners, especially for difficult cases. Views were expressed around the need for strengthening partnerships and
co-ordinated working between primary care, mental health, and housing sectors, as there is recognition that an integrated care
approach is effective. Stakeholder buy-in from the police and pharmacies was noted as very useful; with police bringing heavily
intoxicated individuals to No. 5, and pharmacy staff passing on messages for patients.

Complexity of the system: The bureaucratic nature of the system can be challenging to navigate, and there is a need for
information that is clearer for those with poor literacy skills, learning difficulties and poor health literacy.

Flexibility in appointments: Feedback from focus groups suggests that flexibility around appointments would increase
accessibility with fixed appointment times increasing the risk of late arrival and being turned away. Mental Health Services were
specifically mentioned with a view that appointments for mental health do not always work and that if people who are homeless
cannot access mental health provision quickly and easily, they are unlikely to engage.

Flexibility in appointment booking via telephone: Booking appointments via phone were reported as a barrier to access, due to
long wait times and limited credit to call.

Individuals banned from services: Focus group findings suggest support for individuals who are banned from services or
provision becomes quickly limited, and further exacerbates distrust in the system.

Stigmatisation: Service providers have reported an associated stigma of homeless persons being viewed as ‘too difficult’.

Discrimination against LGBTQ+: Focus group findings suggest discrimination against LGBTQ+ individuals within the homeless
community is an issue, with the discrimination described as akin to ‘a prison mentality’.

Cost-of-living: Inflation is currently at a forty-year high and living costs, including energy costs, have been increasing
significantly, disproportionally affecting low-income households, increasing the risk of homelessness for those who cannot
afford to sustain their tenancies. This is compounded further with Leicester having a lower level of average earnings compared
to the national average, while costs for goods, services, and energy continue to increase.

172



8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

All Homelessness

Leicester City Organisations/

No. | Recommendation . ICS Teams
Council

Housing

Lobbying and advocating at national government level for investment into more affordable housing, extending
the 2-year arrangement for LA's keeping 100% of Right To Buy funds, and easing of the constraints LA's are under

)T

1. | with regard to making most effective use of funding. X
Y 5 Lobbying and advocating at national government for more controls on private rent levels and annual increases to X
U~ | 30th percentile of the Local Housing Allowance rates.
D
Review current housing allocations policy and development of a Housing Strategy to increase, where possible,
proportion of affordable housing in all sectors in the City, including reviewing different types of housing to ensure
3. | different needs are met, for example supported housing. X
Continue to build a better private rented sector and opportunities to access the sector in a sustainable and
economical way through the delivery of the Private Rental Sector Strategy and the Action Plan. X
4,
For Housing and Domestic Abuse leads to continue to work in partnership and co-ordinate activity to meet gaps in
5. | safe accommodation and housing need for DA survivors. More detail is provided in the DA needs assessment X

Understanding Prevalence / Knowledge Gaps

Utilise the unique position of Changing Futures and community networks for further insight and knowledge into
the local picture through the delivery of the programme and driving system change.




Develop methods to identify and enumerate the hidden homeless population; this would need to include those
who may not make themselves known to authorities because they have no recourse to public funds.

7.
Improve data collection for rough sleeper’s demographics, particularly disclosure around age and nationality and
outcomes for housing, mental health, physical health and substance use delivery services.

8.
Use available data sources and a population health management approach to assess whether it is possible to

9. identify those at highest risk of homelessness, to enable targeting of early intervention to prevent homeless
occurrence or re-occurrence.

10. | Explore the scale of the problem of cuckooing in Leicester.

Health Care Service Provision

11. | Continue provision of specialist general practice provision for homeless in Leicester.
H N . .
~ To further understand the complexities of the healthcare system for homeless people, including how people are
D affected and how pathways could be simplified for better outcomes and access, and use lived experience in
12. designing services e.g. consider ways around appointments being more flexible.
To follow up the seven recommendations from the Healthwatch ‘Homelessness Experiences of Hospital Discharge
and Post-Discharge Care’ report, including a specific focus on the ‘Duty to Refer’.
13.
14. | For LLR Oral Health Promotion board to prioritise addressing oral health needs for homeless people and their
families.
15. | Work with homeless people to improve diagnosis of learning disabilities, including neurodiversity, and to offer
appropriate support with mental health needs.
16. | Explore perceived drug culture at Dawn Centre and how far it is a barrier: to access, and to abstaining from drugs.

Build on collaborative approaches when developing new housing offers to ensure wrap around approach to
healthcare support via primary care, secondary care and mental health services is available and accessible. For




example, considering pre-identified need around mental health care, drugs and alcohol services etc to ensure

appropriate signposting/service offers are in place, and a liaison nurse between Inclusion Healthcare and

17. hospitals.

Wider Determinants of Health/ Wrap Around and Support Services

18. reporting staff members to go above and beyond expectations.
Consider ways to facilitate fostering and strengthening community support and support networks, particularly
during transitional stages to enable people to reintegrate into society to prevent social isolation. This could
19.

include formal and informal networks, and opportunities for employment. For example, using the community
connectors to facilitate social inclusion.

GLT

Consider ways to enhance support for homeless individuals with previous or current involvement in the criminal
justice system including reviewing wrap around support as part of discharge planning (i.e. access to housing
services/accommodation, wider determinant of health considerations, and mental and physical health service

20 information for a smoother transition post-release).

21. | Explore views expressed around limited weekend provision and further promote existing provision.

22. | Explore the availability of drop-in services for homeless people since COVID-19 and if this needs to be reviewed.

Recognise and respond to specific needs (including health needs) for women rough sleeping with gender

informed approaches, including recognition and implementation of learning from the Respite Rooms project as

23. applicable to providers across the system.

24. | To lobby for an extension of the Changing Futures Programme

System Working

evaluate whether practice is in line with the recommendations in the guideline, and to support planning activity
25. | to meet recommendations.

Continue the good work of current services: Focus groups findings indicate homeless individuals felt satisfied with
service provision in the city, particularly with Inclusion Healthcare, Turning Point and No. 5, with some individuals

Use NICE baseline assessment tool for integrated health and social care for people experiencing homelessness to




For organisations running homelessness support services to consider further ways to support staff morale and

26. )
wellbeing.
Collaborative system working to improve attendance at, and experience of, outpatient services for those coded as
7 homeless. This should include ensuring communications are in an accessible format, additional support given to
" | ensure attendance, provision of patient advocates for appointments if desired, alternatives to telephone booking
for appointments and support to engage with necessary follow-up and treatments.
)8 Undertake work to reduce stigmatisation of people who are homeless with professionals e.g. through training
" | provision.
29 Further explore discrimination amongst the LGBTQ+ community in the homeless population and consider ways to
" | counteract this, and signpost to appropriate support networks as required.
30. | Monitor the impact of cost-of-living crisis on housing insecurity.
31 To acknowledge the strength and value in the voluntary sector, and to continue to work in partnership to build
= " | efficiency and capacity.
~

32.

To consider inclusion of recommendations from this JSNA to inform the homeless draft strategy action plan, once
reviewed.




9.0 REFERENCES

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.
15.
16.
17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Partnership, Healthy London. (2018). Homeless Health Needs Assessment toolkit. Available at: London-Homeless-

Health-Needs-Assessment-Toolkit.ppsx (live.com)

Leicester City Council. (2022). Homelessness Review.
Local Government Association. (2017). The Impact of homelessness on health. Available at: local.gov.uk
Hwang, Professor W. (2021). The Downstream Health Effect of Upstream Barriers for People Experiencing

Homelessness. Homeless hub. Available at: The Downstream Health Effect of Upstream Barriers for People

Experiencing Homelessness | The Homeless Hub

Office for National Statistics. (2021). Deaths of homeless people in England and Wales. Available at: Deaths of

homeless people in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)

Bines, W. (1994). The health of single homeless people. York: University of York, Centre for Housing policy. Available

at: The health of single homeless people - University of Northumbria

Grenier, P. (1996). Still dying for a home: An update of Crisis' 1992 paper investigation into links between

homelessness, health, and mortality. London: Crisis. Available at: Single homelessness

Groundswell. (2017). Health Mouths. [Online] Available at: www.groundswell.org.uk

Public Health England (2021) Inequalities in oral health in England [Online] Available at: Inequalities in oral health in

England (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Bradley, N., Heidari, E., Andreasson, S. et al. (2023). Models of dental care for people experiencing homelessness in the
UK: a scoping review of the literature. British Dental Journal, 234, 816—824. Available at: Models of dental care for
people experiencing homelessness in the UK: a scoping review of the literature | British Dental Journal (nature.com)

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. (2022). Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2022.
Available at: Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Homeless Link. (2023). Making Women Count: Challenging the systems that keep women's rough sleeping unseen.
Available at: ‘Making Women Count’ — challenging the systems that keep women’s rough sleeping unseen | Homeless
Link

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. (2022). Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2022.
Available at: Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Leicester City Council (2023) Prevention and Safer Communities.

Leicester City Council (2024) Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment

Census (2021) Available at: Census (2021)

Garvie, D., et al. (2021). Everyone in: where are they now? Shelter. Available at: Everyone In: Where Are They Now? -
Shelter England
Office for National Statistics (2023) Hidden Homelessness in the UK. Available at: "Hidden" homelessness in the UK:
evidence review - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)

Hwang, S., & Burns, T. (2014). Health interventions for people who are homeless. The Lancet, 384(9953). Available at:
Health interventions for people who are homeless - PubMed (nih.gov)

Department of Health. (2010). Healthcare for Single Homeless People. Available at: Healthcare for Single Homeless
People (housinglin.org.uk)

North West London NHS Trust. (2013). Rough Sleepers: health and healthcare. Available at: Rough Sleepers Health and
Healthcare Annex.pdf (jsna.info)

Ritchie, C. (2010). Supported accommodation commissioning plan: rough sleepers and single homeless. Available at:
Rough Sleepers Health and Healthcare Annex.pdf (jsna.info)

McCormick, B., & White, J. (2016). Hospital care and costs for homeless people. Clinical Medicine, 16(6). Available at:
Hospital care and costs for homeless people - PubMed (nih.gov)

Wright, N., & Tompkins, C. (2006). How can health services effectively meet the health needs of homeless people?
British Journal of General Practice, 56. Available at: How can health services effectively meet the health needs of
homeless people? - PMC (nih.gov)

Davies, A., & Wood, L. (2018). Homeless health care: meeting the challenges of providing primary care. Medical Journal
of Australia, 209(5). Available at: Homeless health care: meeting the challenges of providing primary care (mja.com.au)

177


https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.transformationpartnersinhealthandcare.nhs.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2018%2F09%2FLondon-Homeless-Health-Needs-Assessment-Toolkit.ppsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.transformationpartnersinhealthandcare.nhs.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2018%2F09%2FLondon-Homeless-Health-Needs-Assessment-Toolkit.ppsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/970380/Inequalities_in_oral_health_in_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/970380/Inequalities_in_oral_health_in_England.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.
36.

Zeitler, M., et al. (2020). Comparing the Impact of Primary Care Practice Design in Two Inner City UK Homelessness
Services. Journal of Primary Care and Community Health, 11. Available at: Comparing the Impact of Primary Care
Practice Design in Two Inner City UK Homelessness Services - PubMed (nih.gov)

Hewett, N., Hallgian, A., & Boyce, T. (2012). A general practitioner and nurse-led approach to improving hospital care
for homeless people. The BMJ, 345. Available at: A general practitioner and nurse led approach to improving hospital
care for homeless people - PubMed (nih.gov)

Lane, R. (2010). The road to recovery: A feasibility study into homeless intermediate care. Homeless Intermediate Care
Steering Group. Available at: The Road to Recovery - feasibility study into homelessness and intermediate care -
Resource Library - Resources - Housing LIN

Dorney-Smith. (2013). Nurse-led homeless intermediate care: an economic evaluation. British Journal of Nursing,
20(18). Available at: Nurse-led homeless intermediate care: an economic evaluation - PubMed (nih.gov)

National Institute for Health and Care Research (2023) Specialist GP healthcare models shown to help care for
homeless more effectively than regular services. [online]. Available at: Specialist GP healthcare models shown to help
care for homeless more effectively than regular services | NIHR

Leicester Healthwatch. (2022). Experiences of Hospital Discharge and Post-Discharge Care. Leicester: Healthwatch.
Available at: Healthwatch Homelessness Report - what happens when you are discharged from hospital? — Engaging
Communities (weareecs.co.uk)

Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and economic development needs assessment. (2017). Available at:
leicester.gov.uk/media/183589/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessment-main-report.pdf

Office for National Statistics.( 2022). Employee earnings in the UK: Available at: Employee earnings in the UK - Office
for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk).

Office of National Statistics (2023) Impact of increased cost of living on adults across Great Britain - Office for National

Statistics (ons.gov.uk)

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) (2019) indices-of-deprivation-in-leicester-briefing-on-implications-2019.pdf
Centre for progressive policy: The levelling up outlook, 2022 Statistics, Office for National. NOMIS. [Online] 2021.
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/datasets/asher.

178


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/expenditure/articles/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritain/september2022tojanuary2023
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/expenditure/articles/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritain/september2022tojanuary2023
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/x33jvoab/indices-of-deprivation-in-leicester-briefing-on-implications-2019.pdf

Appendix 1. Barriers and facilitators to housing

3
8

*  Ongoing management iss
of continuity or follow up

+  Complications with discharging
homeless individuals

. rtive communication & listening to patient

ck of cooperation in clinical decision making/incongruence
Dismissal of the issues

Overprescription

Healthcare providers being rude or mean

Source: Ramsay et al., 2019

179



Appendix 2. Thematic analysis

File Home Insert Page Layout Formulas Data Review  View Automate Developer  Help T Comments £ Share
L o i AR ==E % Bume Genel | E B ad Gocd BB R | 2 - Ay O @]
[ Copy ~ e Fill
Paste . t v Ao . =. O <0 oo | Conditional Formatas Neutral Calculation Check Cell - Insert Delete Format Sort& Find & | Analyze
2° G BT Y & rapREm = || B 65 O B8 | i T || o st | o
Clipboard Ll Font = Alignment Ll Number = Styles Cells Editing Analysis ~
L4 - ¥ 2
4 A B E F G I [+
Quotes - | service ~ | Secondary theme ~ | Tertiary theme (for write-up) | - | Other -

Inclusion Health users Service operations.
Service operations.
Accessibi
Services

Service operations.
Service operations.
Service operal
Service operations.
Service operations.
Service operations.
Service operations.

_|Everything good with inclusion
Very nice and very helpful Inclusion Health users
Getting an appointment on the phone is difficult —especially on pay-as-you-g0 phones

1
2

3

4 Inclusion Health users
5 |They're more interested in howr you feel than other GPs.

6

7

[)

Inclusion Health users
They seem like they're actually a team Inclusion Health users
They're really good, they've always helped me.

It's very easy to get an appointment, not like normal doctors.
9 |We're lucky to have specialist healthcare.

10 |Some Inclusion people come here.
11 |1 had 3 DVT and they came straight out to me.
12 |¥ou can't moan.

Inclusion Health users

Inclusion Health users ns
Inclusion Health users

t's 50 easy. It means they see people that wouldn't normally go. Inclusion Health users

Inclusion Health users
Inclusion Health users

13 |You can just ring up and go down Inclusion Health users Positive Service operations.
14 |Normal GPs are very poor. They don't listen to you Inclusion Health users N/A Service operations.
15 |ARE is “quite good” ARE Somewhat Positive Service operations.

16 |its notso good Iately. ABE Negative Service operations
17 | I¥'s pretty good, they always help me. AgE Positive Service operations
18 |t takes ges. AgE Negative Service operations
19 |The waits are so long, you know they re doing their best but it takes ages. agE Negative Service operations
20 |1 don'tgo there ABE N/A N/A

21 |1 wouldn't rule out going but I'm put off by the queues. ABE Somewhat Positive Service operations
22 |The Dawn Centre is a bit ke prison [due to drug taking culture] Dawn Centre Negative substance misuse
23 | Turning Point are amazing Turning point Positive Service operations
24 They're very helpful Turning point Positive Service operations

25 | My Turning Point worker is brilliant. She fil more than my family did.

26 |They are second to none.

d = missing person report when | was in prison. She Positive Service operations.

Positive Service operations.

27 it took me 3 days to get my medication which is too long Turning point Negative Service operations
28 |They are bri Turning point Positive Service operations
291 rate number 5 Mumber 5 Positive Service operations
30 |1 come every day, it's part of my routine Number 5 Positive Service operations
31 |I¥'s a social thing as well. Mumber 5 Positive Service operations
32 |it's great The Bridge users. Positive Service operations
33 |1 sometimes go at lunchtime and | know everyone there. They're really helpful The Bridge users Positive Service operations
34 |1t is very hard to get a dentist Other Negative Service operations
35 | There's nothing to do on a Saturday in Leicester. Other Negative Service operations
36 |On the weekend | have to shoplift from Greges. They never charge you Other N/A

37 |1 have a shower on a Friday and then | have to g0 31l weekend 2. There used Iub but that's gone now. Other Negative Service operations
38 |1 hate saturdays. Other Negative Service operations
39 | “There's Dear Albert open on Sundays, didn't you know?” [Person 1] Other

40 | “There's still less on the weekend” [Person 2] Other Negative N/A

41 |1 hate Saturdays, | can never get warm. Other Negative Service operations
42 |Prison aren't helpful. You're already out and things don't happen Other Negative Service operations

Phone appointments
Better than GPs
Coordination and Collaboration

Service gaps and barriers

Appointments
Attitudes and experiences
N/A

Accessibility

Attitudes and experiences. Better than GPs

Service gaps and barriers Wwait times
Service gaps and barriers Wait times
/A

Service gaps and barriers wait times

substance misuse culture

Attitudes and experiences.

Appointments - dentist

Service gaps and barriers
Service gaps and barriers
Service gaps and barriers
Service gaps and barriers

Service gaps and barriers
Service gaps and barriers

Service gaps and barriers

Data cleaned | OGData | (@ [




181

Selective Licensing

Housing Scrutiny
12t November 2024

g W3l



81

Performance Metrics
Gem Tde |oesepton

1 Selective licence applications Total number of ‘duly’ received licence applications.
received (duly = correctly completed with all required documents and
payments)
2 Progress towards target of 85% A target of 85% of licensable properties to be licensed by
of properties licensed October 2024
3 Time taken to receive, process A target of 49 days (7 weeks) from receipt of a duly received
and issue a licence application to issue of a draft licence
4 Disrepair Number of Category 1 hazards (risk of serious harm) and number

of Category 2 hazards (lower risk) found

5 Enforcement Action - disrepair Number of formal enforcement actions to rectify
disrepair/improve conditions (Improvement Notice, Emergency
Remedial Action, Prohibition etc.)

6 Enforcement Action —failureto Number of formal enforcement actions taken to deal with failure
license to license a property



Applications received and progress towards target
(Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)

e Target: to have received 85% of
. . . . . ) Actual applications todate against projections
appI|Cat|OnS Wlthln the flrSt 2 0 end discoun ts raise
. . - fee £1290
years = 6,800 applications

* September 2024: 4,882
applications received. A shortfall
of 1,918 applications to meet the
target

e Influx in March/April 2024 due to
removal of discounts and
increase in licence fees.

Scheme 1 year old

End early Bird discount



81

Cumulative information — Applications, Inspections and Hazards
(Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)

5000

Applications received to date (Oct 22 to Sept 24)

4571
4500 4283
Total applications received 4882 4000
Total 'duly received' 4571 o Jo71
3000
Total awaiting additional 2500
documentation 111 2000
» 4,283 properties have been inspected 0
. 1000
* 3,159 properties had at least one hazard
* 2,971 properties had only CAT 2 Hazards . 26 2
0

* 26 properties had only CAT 1 Hazards

] S \\‘eb waée C‘eé 13(55 1’3‘6‘3 1;&‘65
* 162 properties had both CAT 1 and 2 Hazards R oM o % o A
5O S (NS C C N
. . W o0 & o o A
* 1,124 properties were without any hazards b po? ¢ & e
o o S
Qo Qe &



G81

Number of Hazards per Property

Oct 2022 to Sept 2024

Number of Properties with Hazards

850
800
750
700
650
600
550
500
450
400
350
300
250
200
150
100

50

817

730

3 4

Number of Hazards per property

B Number of Properties with CAT 2 Hazards

B Number of Properties with CAT 1 Hazards

678

5 or more



081

Most Common Hazards Found (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024

TYPE OF HAZARDS

2000
1850
1700
1550
1400 1243
1250
1100
950 797 757
800
650
500
350 302 200 245 213
200
o = = E =

-100

722

556
388
194 218 253 %
= = % =

Carbon Collision  Damp & Domestic Electrical Entry by Excess Cold Falling Falling on  Falling on Flames, hot Food safety Personal Position & Structural
Monoxide and Mould hygiene, hazards Intruders between level stairs etc surfaces etc hygiene, Operability collapse
entrapment Pest and levels surfaces Sanitation of and failing
Refuse and Amenities elements
Drainage etc.




Impact of key dates and events on the applications

Application received from March 2024 to September 2024

250

Landlord
Liaison

meeting

(05/09/2024)

Drop-in sessions
for landlords,

24/07/2024 and
12/09/2024

End of
Discounts

| |‘

200

187

150

100

50

0



881

Enforcement Actions — Disrepair and failure to license
(Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)

Action Total
» | Improvement Notices HFoIIowing a service request 7 10
HFoIIowing inspections 10
HFoIIowing joint working with police 19
b Prohibition Orders HFoIIowing service requests 10 39
HFoIIowing inspections 10
kurrently at evidence gathering stage 16
: Investigations “Concluded and resolved without any further action| 17 35
HNumber of landlords interviewed under caution 2

An improvement notice requires a landlord to carry out work to deal with a Category 1 or 2 hazard, or both.

A prohibition order can be made where there are more serious Category 1 or Category 2 hazards. A
prohibition order stops the use of part or all of a building or restricts the number of people living there.




681

Expected number of applications for each area
from approximately 8,000 combined total

A . f . .. P f
Expected number of private properties for each Iic::::;lenu::b::t(i)es Applications . ?ircc.—;\etri::Ee‘ d(:" )
area (Data from BRE Housing Stock Model) i 'duly’ made PP y

after adjustments received
East (Spinney Hills and Stoneygate) 1146 976 580 59.43%
West (Fosse, Westcotes, Braunstone o
9l @ Taley Fid] 7764 6694 3804 56.78%
¢ South (Saffron) 420 325 187 57.54%
Total 9330 8000 4571

After adjustments of boundaries in Saffron and Westcotes wards, and taking out the estimated Mandatory
Licensable HMOs, the number of properties requiring a Selective Licence is approximately 8,000



06T

Drop-in
sessions - for

the C

adisac

igitally
vantaged

and those who

want

to talk!

31 Drop-in Sessions held which have
proved to be very popular with landlords.

232 landlords attended the drop-in
sessions

Processing 191 Licence applications from
attendees

Follow up with landlords that attended
but did not apply for a licence.



161

What are we doing?

We have door knocked 2,719 properties and obtained details of 210 landlords. This
exercise is on-going. Based on the information received, landlords are being contacted
directly.

Letters are sent to landlords at their home/business address advising of need to license
their property.

Letters were sent to letting agents in mid 2023, we are now scheduling visits to their
offices.

Continuous partnership working with Police and Fire Service

We have undertaken 19 Emergency Prohibition Orders following Police raids on
properties found to be growing cannabis

Landlord Liaison Meeting held in September 2024 — over 75 attendees in person with
guest speakers, further meeting to be arranged in February 2025

Continue to attend landlord meetings and events including ARLA, EMPO, NLA



Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification

Falls associated with Stairs and Steps Clearance of shared alleyways




col

Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification

Cooker without worktops on its sides

New worktop installed on both sides of the cooker




141"

Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification

Damp and Mould in bedroom Cannabis Grow




The Selective Licensing
Team’s work with the Fosse
Nelghbourhood Police won
@an award from the
Leicestershire Police
Problem Solving Awards.







Iltem 9

Building Safety

Housing Scrutiny Commission
Date of Meeting: 12" November 2024

Lead Member: Clir Elly Cutkelvin

Lead director: Chris Burgin

197



Useful information
B Ward(s) affected: Wycliffe & Castle

B Report author: Simon Nicholls
B Author contact details: simon.nicholls@leicester.gov.uk
B Report version number: v.1

1. Summary

This report has been prepared to update members of the Housing Scrutiny Commission
how we manage building safety in our high-risk blocks.

2. Recommended actions

That the Housing Scrutiny Commission note the content of this report.

3. Detailed report
Executive Summary

The purpose of this Report is to provide an overview of the safety measures, risk
assessments, and management systems in place at the five buildings that are in scope of
the Building Safety Act. The buildings are: Framland House, Gordon House, Maxfield
House, Clipston House and St Leonards Court. This report will focus on the four blocks
located on St Peters Estate, the same principals and processes are relevant to St
Leonards Court.

Building Information
Building Type: Residential High Rise
Construction Date: 1971

Number of Floors: 18
Number of Units: 86

198



Brief overview

Each block has 18-storeys of occupied floors, with a height of approximately 52m and
contains 86 residential units. There is one staircase, and two lifts. One lift serves the
ground floor and odd-numbered floors, the other lift serves the ground floor and even-
numbered floors.

Each block is a high-rise block of flats, 18 storeys including ground floor, with a single
staircase which is used as the means of escape.

Excluding the ground floor, each floor has 5 flats per floor, a total of 86 flats. Flats are
accessed via a ventilated lift lobby and an unventilated second lobby. Travel distance to
the protected staircase is within prescribed limits. The staircase is protected at each level,
except ground floor, by 3 fire resisting door sets. These are flat entrance door, doors to lift
lobby and a door to the staircase. There are permanent open vents at the head of the
staircase and additional ventilation can be provided by opening the door to the roof.
Interlinked automatic fire detection with battery back-up is provided in each flat, covering
the hallway, kitchen, and living room. An annual inspection is to be undertaken to ensure
that the detectors are in place, they are operational, and are not damaged/covered. On
activation of the communal fire alarm system, the lifts ground, the doors open, and the fire
and rescue service are able to take control of the lift. Annually this is checked when the
fire alarm and fire detection is serviced.

The blocks were built in 1971 and fully refurbished between 2013 and 2019.
Compartmentation at this time was upgraded to current standards, each flat is its own 30-
minute fire compartment, there are then 4 further compartments — the area outside the
flats, the lift lobby area, the bin store, and the escape staircase. These areas are all 30-
minute compartments and weekly checks of these areas are completed by the Building
Responsible Officer.

Viewed externally, the cladding material is a mix of brick masonry, and pebble-dashed

render. Where it is brick faced, it is part of a brick and block cavity wall system. Where it is
rendered, the wall is a cavity wall. The wall cladding systems perform the function of

199



distributing wind loads from the envelope to the primary concrete frame. They also provide
a degree of protection to the primary structure as part of the overall fire compartmentation
of the building. The concrete frame of the building contributes towards the fire
compartmentation of the building, with the concrete elements providing 120 minutes fire
resistance, as is indicated on the fire compartmentation plans.

There is surface parking and garages around the high-rise towers and other low-rise
residential buildings. The surrounding area is otherwise developed primarily with low-rise
housing with close proximate commercial units.

Ground Floor & Services Entering Plan

MAIN
WATER

I; L I_l |—|NCD“|‘IG
— — a I
] — ’—_IJ T N
= [ - h - i
D e I ~—-
- —L - 1= EFV ”EII]]]'
— =1 =]
] k\J = __=]. = |
- . . L — l:
RN > .
s ~ ":. /_ =| L|]= fR—
N N e I

Floor layout & compartmentation plan

200



EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Loungs: ‘H

'“r1l

EEEEEEE

Hydrant Location Plan

201



56

?uf.—.' 4£___; 64 ¢
= = U <

ITITT]

"
__l__
|=
S—— F”-
fil |
iE
i ]
|
=
o

L

_'ll TING GROUND
FLOOR FLAM - FEEF

r
-
=
ﬁ
i
[H
Ll
' IEEII:IIHB]EE“H g
; b {5
i
P

48~

Floor plans above show the incoming utilities for water & electrics, as well as their shut off
locations. They show the floor plan for the ground floor & all floors above, including the
compartmentation plan. There is no gas within the blocks and the flats are heated through
a district heating system. The plant room for this system is located on the ground floor and
is shown on the ground floor plan. Only authorised persons have access to this room. All
of the above plans have been shared with Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service and are
also available on site in the Property Information Box.

There have been no fire related incidents of note at any of the blocks and there are no
enforcement notices. Leicester City Council is the only Principle Accountable Person and
the only accountable person for this block of flats.

Responsible Persons

Building owner — Leicester City Council
Building Responsible Officer — Sabira Husein
Building Safety Manager — Philip Carruthers
Technical Services Team

Neighbourhood Housing Officers

Housing Team

Maintenance providers

Risk assessments summary- for the purposes of this report Framland House has
been used as an example, all blocks have followed the same processes.

The following risk assessments have been completed which assess building risk and have
produced action plans to reduce risk levels.

202



e Fire Risk Assessment (FRA) — completed by our in-house fire risk assessor who is
a qualified risk assessor with time served in the industry as verified by our
recruitment process.

¢ Building Risk Assessment — completed by a group of qualified housing
professionals and lead by Building Safety Manager with NEBOSH certificate in fire
safety and time served in the industry.

e Structural Survey — completed by Civic Engineers, an accredited structural
engineering company. Competencies of whom were checked during our
procurement process.

Fire Risk Assessment (FRA)

The overall level of risk identified by the FRA is Tolerable. A number of remedial works
were identified in the FRA. The FRA has been issued to the Building Responsible Officer
who is responsible for arranging all works required and following them through to
completion as well as providing any paperwork identified as missing at the time of the
assessment. 24 actions were identified at the time of the assessment.

It was noted from the FRA that that none of the risks were life safety critical. The main
concerns being the breaches in compartmentalisation which are being addressed
currently and whilst these works are being completed, we have the added protection of the
cause-and-effect fire alarm which will alert residents to escape to a place of safety should
the fire spread vertically or horizontally.

Building Risk Assessment

An exercise was completed by our Building Safety Manager and other housing
professionals who have on site knowledge of Framland House and its potential risks.
During this exercise the group looked at potential risk of the spread of smoke which may
not have been looked at in the fire risk assessment. Discussions were held with Housing
Officers, Building Responsible Officers, and Technical Staff to discuss this risk. There
were no significant risks found that were not already discussed in the FRA. There is the
possibility that a resident could breach compartmentalisation in their own flat, to reduce
this risk Leicester City Council send out safety information annually to the residents to
advise against this and to report any issue with their property and we therefore feel that
we have mitigated the risk as far as is reasonably practicable.

Other risks identified were fire doors being propped/wedged open or the fire door itself
being unable to be shut due to repairs issues. Weekly fire inspections are completed by
our Building Responsible Officer and these doors are checked at this time, there is the risk
that a defect could occur between these visits, to reduce this risk residents are made
aware of the importance of reporting these issues and therefore the likelihood of this risk
occurring is low.

There can be an issue with communal fire doors not closing fully due to the wind strength
in the lift lobby. This again was noted as minimal risk as the ventilation is in situ to remove
smoke from the area should there be a fire and different latches have been put on the
doors to aid secure closure. This risk has been managed to the lowest we are able; the
doors were found to only struggle to shut in windy conditions and when the door was
attempted to be shut from a small distance. Under normal operation it was found that the
door would close sufficiently to protect the staircase. This was discussed with the Fire
Service during a site audit, so we feel this risk is low and no further action is required.

203



In total 20 risks were identified and discussed. A copy of this risk assessment has been
distributed with relevant staff members and will be updated annually. The Building Safety
Manager retains control of this document, it is made available electronically and on review
will be another group exercise. The risk assessment method used was the likelihood or
risk x by the severity of risk. This risk was scored both uncontrolled and then again
following the discussion of the control measure we have in place.

Of the 20 risks none were identified as being high risk, 10 as a medium risk and 10 of a
low risk.

As part of our action plan following this building risk assessment we plan to;

1. Investigate the possibility of holding Fire Safety Workshops — as part of our
Resident Engagement Strategy we will consult the residents regarding this. The
plan will be to hold one meeting for all 4 of the St Peter’s blocks in a central location
— the afro Caribbean centre which is located within walking distance of all 4 blocks.

2. Introduce a permit to work system for all works in communal areas of the blocks.
This will enable us to ensure all contractors are made aware of the fire safety
measures in place and what process/procedure they must follow — we plan to
implement this within the next 6-12 months.

3. Meet with relevant parties — Fire Risk Assessor, Building Safety Manager,
Technical Staff & Fire Engineer to discuss the Evacuation Strategy and look to
remove the cause and effect system in place and operate only a stay put policy —
meetings have already commenced on this and a new evacuation strategy will be in
place within the next 3 months.

4. Discuss the possibility of removing the bin chutes to remove the risk. This will
require consultation and further discussion and therefore will not be given a
deadline at this stage.

Structural Survey

A structural survey was commissioned by Leicester City Council through our consultancy
framework and Civic Engineers Ltd (Civic Engineers) were appointed to complete this
survey. It provides a structural engineering review and risk assessment of Framland
House.

This report includes:

Section 1: Building Structural Information - Key descriptive information pertaining to the
existing building.

Section 2: Materials or construction techniques observed with known challenges -
Identification of materials or techniques known to be in use at the time of the building’s
construction.

Section 3: Structural Condition Assessment - Observations regarding the condition of the
existing structure as far as could be ascertained from

non-intrusive investigations.

Section 4: Building Safety Risk Assessment - Identification of structural incident scenarios
in relation to building safety risks for those within and in the vicinity of the building.

The risk assessment did not note any immediate defects or raised any concerns that
require immediate attention. It has identified a number of risks which require further
investigation, management, and action in order to further assess them and before they
can be considered to have met the criteria for a tolerable level of risk.

204



The key areas for further assessment are outlined in the structural survey in detail. Furter
internal discussion are required to discuss the findings and decide what we believe to be
proportionate before commissioning any further investigations. We will assess the report
from our structural surveyors before deciding what our next course of action, if any, will
be.

Managing risks summary

A communal fire alarm system is provided with a heat detector in each flat and within
communal areas. An activation on each floor level will activate all sounders on that floor,
the one above and the one below. Every activation will sound on the ground floor and all
upper storey plant rooms/work areas.
All activations will:

1. Notify the Alarm Receiving Centre (ARC) that there has been an activation.

2. Take lifts out of operation and send all cars to the ground floor and ‘park’ with the

doors open.
3. All door entry-controlled doors will be unlocked.

Upon receiving the notification of activation, the ARC will notify the Duty Manager who will
be responsible for overseeing this activation and taking all necessary actions required.
This approach has been adopted as once an alarm is triggered, the ARC is notified
immediately meaning there is no delay in alerting the Fire Service and Leicester City
Council. Although all our properties are compartmentalised to contain or protect the
resident from fire for 30 minutes, the sounding of the alarm implements further safety
measures such as taking the lift out if operation, unlocking all exit doors and alerting the
ARC.

In terms of passive fire protection, the communal door sets, and flat front doors are 30-
minute fire resisting door sets. Internal doors within a flat are minimum 30-minute
notionally fire resisting. Therefore, any fire within a flat is unlikely to compromise the
communal corridor immediately outside the flat, which offsets the issue of not having
smoke ventilation in the corridor which serves the flats. Smoke ventilation is provided in
the adjacent lift lobby area which provides access to the escape stairway which is
protected by 30-minute fire doors and is compartmentalised.

Thumb turns are provided on all flat entrance doors to ensure ease of escape should it be
required.

Travel distance from the flat front door to the staircase door is approximately 9m, which is
in excess of the one-way travel permitted in guidance. However, both the passive fire
protection and communal fire alarm system adequately compensate for the additional
distance to travel. The default position is to 'stay put’ in the event of a fire and therefore
although travel distance is a consideration, it is not a major issue in this block of flats.

Each flat is a fire resisting compartment. Service cupboards are housed in fire resisting
construction. Service penetrations have been adequately fire stopped. Bin chute rooms
are provided with 30-minute fire resisting door set and suitably fire resisting hatches along
with automatic fire detection.

Fire action notices are displayed in communal areas and all residents are given an
induction at sign up on evacuation procedures. Information regarding the evacuation

205



procedure is reviewed annually and re-issued to all residents via hard copies posted to
their address.

Resident information regarding fire safety is updated annually and re-issued to all
residents via hard copies posted to their address. As part of our resident engagement
strategy, residents will be consulted on any changes and discussion will be undertaken on
other ways of relaying this information. Information will be sent in a format that is required
by the resident.

Smoking is prohibited in communal area; signage is in situ and this policy is enforced by
the Building Responsible Officer and Housing team. Should persistent smoking be
discovered then action would be taken under the tenancy agreement to ensure the safety
of all other residents.

There is a zero-tolerance policy for the storage of items in communal areas to ensure that
escape routes are both sterile and accessible in the event of an emergency and to ensure
that all risks of ignition are removed from the communal areas. The Building Responsible
Officer and Housing team inspect the communal areas on a weekly basis and any items
identified are removed with 24 hours.

Emergency Lighting is installed within the communal areas to enable a safe escape route
to be maintained.

Way finder signage is present in both the stairwells and lift lobby. This has been installed
within the specified guidance to enable the fire and rescue service to identify both the floor
number and the flats on that floor in the event of an emergency.

A property information box has been installed at ground level which includes drawings of
the layout of the building, the environment around the building and the location of the fire
hydrants. A list of all residents with an active PEEP is also provided within this box and is
also sent to the Fire Service.

A dry riser is installed within this block for use by the Fire Service enabling them to have
access to water at each floor level.

Lightning protection is installed within the building to protect from any potential fire risk
that could be caused by a lightning strike.

Framland House is heated by district heating meaning that no gas is installed in the

building and the risk of a gas explosion has been removed. The plant rooms are inspected
monthly by a member of the repairs team to ensure they are kept safe and secure.

Safety management system

ltem Frequency of | Contractor/Person | Contract Lead
Service/checks | Completing

Churches Fire &
Fire Alarms inc. detectors | 6 Monthly Security LTD Technical Services

206



Monthly flick
test & annual Churches Fire &
Emergency Lighting drain down Security LTD Technical Services
Pressure test
annual, visual

check 6
Dry Risers monthly AT Services Technical Services
Flat detectors Annually DSO Repairs
Fire Dampers Annually AT Services Technical Services
Tech Services
Lightning protection Annually Lowes Shared folder
Lift & Engineering
Lifts Monthly Services EBS

Inspections and servicing of the above items are scheduled in accordance with current
guidance. Inspections/servicing is undertaken by the contractor detailed in the table
above. Checks were made on all contractor competencies during the procurement
process and before appointing them including their history of undertaking work in high-rise
residential buildings and confirming their registration. All required certificates and
documentation were received and stored to ensure that they are competent to complete
the works required. This documentation is re-checked annually.

Reports are reviewed by relevant responsible person detailed in the table above.
Recommendations are either actioned (if within allocated budgets) or discussed at
management meetings if capital expenditure approval is required. This can be fast-tracked
if urgent work is identified. Interim measures are considered to ensure safety in the
meantime. If any recommendations are not implemented, a note explaining why is added
to the records for the inspection. Team members are competent to manage these
contracts and understand works arising. These competencies are checked during the
recruitment process and further training is provided throughout their employment to
ensure they have the correct skill sand competencies to oversee the serving required.

The continued servicing of these systems and monitoring of the contracts ensures that all
of our fire safety measures are maintained to working order and that any downtime is kept
to a minimum. These actions reduce the risk of any failures of service and ensure that the
building and residents are protected.

A process is in place for reporting of out of service lifts and fire safety equipment to the fire
and rescue service. This process ensures the effective management of out of service
equipment and ensures it is monitored until it is completed.

Contract Management is overseen by the contract lead. This includes monthly operational
meetings, where KPIs, any access issues and any works not yet completed are
discussed. During the procurement stage of this contract site inductions are provided for
the contractor. These detail our safety measures in place on the site and how we manage
our fire safety. It is discussed at this point around what we expect from the contractor.
What fire stopping works are required should compartmentation be breached and how we
expect fire safety measures to be kept in place (such as fire doors not removed, etc). It is
discussed that temporary fire safety measures would need to be discussed and agreed by

207



the contract lead should current fire safety measures need to be temporarily taken out of
service. This is reviewed annually with the contractor.

Identifying and Reporting a Fault to Fire Safety
Equipment

Fault identified

Will FSE be out of
service for more
than 24 hrs

BRO to monitor
repair through to
completion and Tech
Services to file
paperwork

BRO report fault to
LFRS via website

Is FSE now back in BRO update LFRS with
service further timescales

BRO advise LFRS
that FSE is now back
in service

2. Fault identified on FSE
3. Faultis reported to repairs desk

4. BRO reports the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link: https://leics-
fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-2022/

5. BRO provides daily updates on the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link:
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-
2022/

6. BRO reports completion of the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link:
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-
2022/

208



Identifying and Reporting a Fault to a Passenger Lift

Fault identified

Will lift be out of
service for more
than 24 hrs

EBS to monitor
repair through to
completion and

file paperwork

EBS report fault to
LFRS via website

Is lift now back in EBS update LFRS with
service further timescales

EBS advise LFRS that
lift is now back in
service

2. Fault identified on lift
3. Faultis reported to EBS help desk

4. EBS reports the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link: https://leics-
fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-2022/

5. EBS provides daily updates on the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link:
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-
2022/

6. EBS reports completion of the fault to Leicester Fire Service using the link:
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/your-safety/business-safety/fire-safety-regulations-
2022/

209



Passive Fire Protection

Communal fire door inspections are completed every month by the Building Responsible
Officer (BRO), who undertakes online training provided by Leicester City Council. Any
works identified to these doors are issued to the relevant contractor and monitored
through to completion by the BRO. Should this work remain uncompleted at the next
inspection then this is escalated to Technical Services and the Building Safety Manager.
All documents related to these inspections are saved within Housing Managements
shared folders.

All fire action notices, no smoking signs, way finder signage and property information
boxes are inspected by BRO. Weekly for the notices and quarterly for the property
information box. This enables us to ensure that all safety signage is present and can be
easily identified to aid in the escape. Property Information Boxes (PIBs) store the
information as required by the Building Safety Act and we inspect them to ensure that this
is still present and relevant. PEEPS are identified in the PIBs to aid the Fire Service in
evacuations.

Flat fire doors are inspected on an annual basis by our Direct Services Organisation
(DSO). The DSO manage a schedule of these doors to ensure they are completed
annually. Should there be an issue with access then they would involve the housing team
and access is attempted on several occasions. There is a No Access procedure that is
managed by our Housing Team. No access is recorded, and the no access procedure
implemented by Housing Management to attempt to gain access or take relevant steps as
required. Paperwork is completed for all inspections detailing what has been inspected.
Should any works be required this is raised as a new order and managed through to
completion by the DSO managers. All documents related to these inspections are saved
within repairs shared folders.

Building Responsible Officer and their deputy complete weekly and monthly inspections. A
schedule of weekly and monthly inspections is completed by the Building Responsible
Officer or their deputy. These fire inspections ensure that all the fire safety features are
inspected to ensure they are working as they should be. Visual inspections are completed
to ensure there have been no breaches in compartmentalisation or structural issues. A
reporting process is in place to ensure any issues identified at these inspections are
reported to the relevant contractor and that all works are completed. Building Responsible
Officers have also built up a rapport with the residents and will discuss any fire safety
issues or concerns with them as required on these visits.

A Mandatory Occurrence Reporting Policy is in place to ensure that all relevant persons
understand what must be reported and how to report these safety critical issues. This
policy is in place to ensure any safety critical issues are correctly reported to the Building
Safety Regulator and to ensure that these issues are highlighted and rectified.

E-scooter information has been provided to all residents in the form of a hard copy leaflet
and posted to their address. This leaflet has been produced to educate the residents on
the risks and safe storage/charging of these scooters.

Ongoing work and building improvement (Change Management)

We are working on a policy and procedure to implement a permit to work system for all
works to our high-risk buildings, this will ensure that any repairs work that might affect

210



compartmentation or other measures to control building safety risks are managed and that
any necessary temporary controls are put in place and existing controls reinstated once
the work is complete.

The installation of a fire suppression system is underway and in the final stages of
installation. This system will complement the ‘stay put’ policy that we have in place and
will increase the protection for our residents.

Planning for emergencies

The evacuation strategy for the blocks during an emergency is ‘stay put’. This approach
has been chosen as all flats have been compartmentalised for 30-minute fire protection.
All residents are advised of the fire evacuation strategy at sign up and are also sent fire
safety information annually. A communal fire alarm is installed so that any residents, staff
or contractors not within a 30-minute compartmentalised area are alerted to evacuate the
building. This alarm system is also used as an early warning system as detailed
previously.

When completing the Building Risk Assessment, we also discussed the possibility of risk
from a failure with the evacuation procedures. We have minimised this to low risk by
discussing evacuation procedures to new residents at sign up and then refresher
information annually. BROs also speak with the residents on regular basis. We also have
a cause-and-effect alarm system in place which on the discovery of a fire alerts the
residents on the fire floor, 1 floor above and one floor below to evacuate meaning that
those at most risk will be evacuated.

Our Housing Team run a quarterly report that reviews the tenant profile at each block. It
details a number of possible vulnerabilities of the tenants at this block and as such
enables us to review our evacuation procedures. This list is held in the PIBs so it is
accessible to Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service in the event of an emergency. Our
corporate policy is to send all correspondence in English, with the facility to translate. The
Neighbourhood Housing Officers at Framland House speak a range of community
languages, and the Tenants and Residents Association assist in explaining to the
residents when we do a letter drop.

As part of our Resident Engagement Strategy, we will be consulting on the implementation
of a building safety workshop on which we can discuss any safety issues the tenants may
have, discuss the evacuation procedure, their understanding of it and what we could put in
place to aid the residents. We will look to do this meeting every 6 months and this will
enable us to engage better with our tenants and to review the evacuation procedure. It
also gives us the opportunity to provide important fire safety advice to tenants on how they
can keep themselves and their neighbours safe.

Resident Engagement Strategy

A resident engagement strategy has been put in place and has been communicated to all
residents. This policy will enable residents to have a say in how their building and home is
kept safe. It will give them information and the voice to raise concerns about fire safety
and to ensure that it is dealt with in a timely manner. This policy also details the
complaints procedure.

211



As part of our RES, we will be consulting with our residents on the fire information they
receive. This will enable us to improve the information they are given and to help us
understand how they perceive the information given to them. We are also planning to
consult with our residents on the possibility of forming a building safety residents’ group to
discuss any issues that could arise and to discuss any improvement works we are
considering. We are looking at the potential of offering a quarterly Safety Information
workshop in which we will offer safety advice and hope to invite guests such as the Fire
Service to discuss fire safety with the residents of the block. This again is something we
will be consulting on with our residents through the RES.

A profile of our residents is stored on our system and reports can be ran on this, so we are
aware of the vulnerabilities of the residents.

The report is run against the following markers.

Disability
Vulnerability
PEEP
Language

N

The vulnerabilities listed on the current report are:

Deaf or hard of hearing
Facial disfigurement
Head injury

History of debt

History of tenancy failure
Learning difficulties
Long standing illness or injury
Mental health

Mobility issues
Perceived disability
Physical impairment
Reading difficulties
Speech difficulties
Visual impairment
Writing difficulties

Vulnerability ae reported where at least one occupant within an address has at least one
vulnerability marker, so it will cover more than just the tenants.

We do not have the same level of info about leaseholders — we will only have PEEP
information for them as we do not hold demographics on owners.

This information is only as robust as the information the occupiers have divulged to us. If
there is a person in the household that we do not know about, or we have not been
informed has a vulnerability of any sort, then we will not have updated the records.

Our Housing Officers employed at the blocks speak a range of the community languages
and we also have a Tenants and Residents Association that operates at our St Peters

212



blocks, and they are consulted when we give the residents information and they help with
any issues this may cause.

Golden Thread

Our aim is to have all information relating to fire safety in one place, this will include.
o Fire Safety equipment servicing (fire alarm/emergency lighting/dry riser/lightning

protection)

Fire safety equipment repairs

Lift servicing

Lift repairs

Fire safety inspections

Fire door inspections

EICRs

FRAs

FRA reviews

Currently this information is held on different folders as these areas are managed by
different teams. A working group has been set up and a plan is being put in place to
ensure these are all accessible through are information at work system. Currently the fire
inspections are completed electronically but a new fire module is in the process of being
set up to collate these reports and store them in a centrally located server.

Updating our safety case report

We will review the building safety case report on an annual basis or upon a significant
change within the building or the regulations.

Next Steps.

The building Safety Act expects us to operate our high-risk buildings this way, it is
expected that the Act will be extended to include lower risk buildings, we are already

working towards this and putting in place processes to ensure we meet the requirements.
We will also be looking at similar proportionate process for our low-rise low risk blocks.

6. Financial, legal, equalities, climate emergency and other implications

6.1 Financial implications

This report provides a detailed description of the management of building safety within high
rise residential blocks. As such there are no direct financial implications arising from this
report. Capital and revenue budgets to support this work are made available through the
annual HRA budget report which is presented to full Council in February each year.

Stuart McAvoy — Head of Finance
4t September 2024

6.2 Legal implications

213



The report has comprehensively set out different risks and scenarios that require no
repetition.

In general, the Building Safety Act 2022 was enacted to provide greater protection to
residents of high-rise blocks with the cost having to be borne by the building owner rather
than being passed on under the usual service charge regime.

Part 4 of the Act defines a “higher-risk building” as one that “(a) is at least 18 metres in
height or has at least 7 storeys, and (b) contains at least 2 residential units.” Any building
owned by the Council falling within this definition is protected by the 2022 Act.

Failure to comply with the Building Safety Act can give rise to notices and/or criminal
charges as has been referred to throughout the report.

Zoe lliffe, Principal Lawyer (Property, Highways & Planning)
30/10/24

6.3 Equalities implications

Under the Equality Act 2010, public authorities have a Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
which means that, in carrying out their functions, they have a statutory duty to pay due
regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
any other conduct prohibited by the Act, to advance equality of opportunity between people
who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t and to foster good relations
between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don't.

Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.

The report provides an update on how Housing manages building safety in our high-risk
blocks. Tenants/residents will be from across a range of protected characteristics and the
Resident Engagement Strategy can ensure equality considerations are taken into account
and residents/tenants feedback is sought. Any communication or engagement should be
accessible and meet the needs of residents/ tenants, it also needs to be fair and
proportionate. It is important that people are aware of the evacuation process for each of
the high risk blocks, particularly those who have a disability, and this ties in with ensuring
tenant profiles are up to date and accurate.

Sukh Biring, Equalities Officer
29 August 2024

6.4 Climate implications

The are no significant climate emergency implications directly associated with this report.

29 August 2024
Aidan Davis, Sustainability Officer, Ext 37 2284

214



215






LT¢C

Housing Scrutiny Commission

Work Programme 2024 — 2025

Meeting Date

Item

Recommendations / Actions

Progress

11 July 2024

Housing Overview

Housing Regulator

Rent Arrears Annual Report

Information to be circulated to Members on
demands of new Government to protect
HRA and allow builds.

Temporary Accommodation and progress
on spend of £45m to be added to work
programme to update Commission.

Latest data on Who Gets Social Housing
to be shared with the Commission.

Data on percentage of applicants that
apply to the housing register but do not
meet eligibility criteria to be circulated.

The Commission recommended that
housing enquiries from tenants, councillors
and members of the public be responded
to in ten working days.

The Commission requested to be involved
in tenant involvement discussions.

The Commission noted the report and
commended the work of the service.

Open letter to the Secretary of State and
Interim Report provided.

Added to work programme to seek
updates.

Information provided and updated report
due to be discussed at 27 August 2024
meeting.

Information circulated.

With officers to review the
recommendation.

Ward Councillors to be invited to
sessions and added to work programme
for further discussion.

OT W3l



8T¢

House Builds & Acquisitions
Update

Environmental Budget & Public
Realm Works 2024-25

The Commission requested a site visit be
arranged.

The Commission noted the report.

Site visit arranged and Members invited.

27 August
2024

Repairs & Maintenance
performance report

Homelessness Services update

Information to be shared with the
Commission on the updated
communication regarding damp and mould
and options when assessing a property.

The Commission requested the City Mayor
write to new Ministers regarding the impact
and requirement for additional funding for
asylum cases.

The Commission requested officers speak
with Leeds about their policy to not use
B&B’s as temporary accommodation.

Data to be provided on the impact of
services on people rough sleeping or
entrenched street lifestyles being
successful in retaining tenancies.

Information to be shared on a snapshot of
families residing in temporary
accommodation for longer than 6 weeks.

Links to private rented sector team
schemes to incentivise landlords to
continue for tenancies to be sustained to
be shared.

Information circulated.

Benchmarking undertaken and
information provided to Members.

Information circulated.

Information circulated.

Information circulated.




61¢

DFG / Adaptations update

Who gets Social Housing?

Impact of adaptations to be added to work
programme for members to receive
information on new feedback form.

Adaptations Strategy to be added to work
programme.

Breakdown of adapted homes as part of
new build programmes to be shared.

Information to be shared on numbers of
properties that have been adapted and not
permitted to be sold through RTB.

Information to be shared with the
Commission on breakdown of housing
demand/need by ward.

Information to be shared on formal
scheme of options/incentives for moving to
more suitable sized accommodation.

Information circulated.

Added to the work programme.

Information circulated.

Information circulated.

Information circulated.

Information circulated.

12 November
2024

Homelessness & Complex Needs
Inquiry Day Findings

Selective Licensing

Housing Safety




0¢cc

Suggested items tbc:

7 January

2025 Housing Revenue Account Budget
Proposals 2025/26
General Fund Budget Proposals
2025/26
District Services

18 March Suggested items tbc:

2025 Maintenance Charges update
Tenant Involvement proposals
Housing Crisis update

22 April 2024 Suggested items tbc:

Apprentice Programme & WIC
Supported Housing proposals

Forward Plan Items (suggested)

Topic Detail

Proposed Date

The Commission requested to be updated on development of

Adaptations Strategy an adaptations strategy. Further request that a report include

the impact of adaptations to be discussed.

Channel Shift Update




1éc¢

Damp & Mould — PRS Online Portal

It was highlighted at meeting on 19 September 2023 that portal
is in development and agreed to come back to update the
Commission.

Housing Allocations Policy

Housing Capital Programme Update

The Commission requested that they receive regular updates
on progress regarding new build developments.

Housing Crisis Action Plan

The Commission requested to be kept updated on action plan.

Housing Support

Local Plan

Migration Update

Overcrowding Strategy Update

Private Rented Sector Strategy Update

Temporary Accommodation

The Commission requested to be kept updated on the
utilisation of the £45m agreed at Council to increase temporary
accommodation units.







	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Homelessness and Complex Needs Inquiry Day Findings
	Housing
	Slide 1: Households contacting homelessness services for help
	Slide 2: Increasing numbers in TA
	Slide 3: Homelessness Services Commissioned Temporary Accommodation & Support Services
	Slide 4: Support needs of clients in TA
	Slide 5

	Dear Albert
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4

	Inclusion Healthcare
	Slide 1: INCLUSION Practice & ASSIST Practice
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: INCLUSION Health Care Values
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: APMS practices
	Slide 6: Inclusion PRACTICE
	Slide 7
	Slide 8: What we provide today…
	Slide 9: Working in Partnership 
	Slide 10: MuLTi-Agency Meeting's
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14

	The Bridge
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: What we do
	Slide 5: THE PICTURE IN LEICESTER
	Slide 6: What we do 
	Slide 7: What we do 
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: K’s story
	Slide 10: The Lighthouse project outcomes
	Slide 11: Our volunteers
	Slide 12: Psychologically informed environment
	Slide 13: Our guests and mentees
	Slide 14: Aims of a  Psychologically informed environment
	Slide 15: Volunteering opportunities 
	Slide 16: Thanks  for listening

	Turning Point
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Rough Sleepers Team
	Slide 3: What this means in practical terms
	Slide 4: People who rough sleep are more likely  to exhibit:
	Slide 5: Assertive Outreach
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8

	LPT Homelessness Mental Health Team
	Default Section
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Mental Health and Homelessness
	Slide 3: HMHS are commissioned to provide
	Slide 4: Team Members
	Slide 5: Areas covered
	Slide 6: Flexible access to the service
	Slide 7: What do you get?
	Slide 8: What Do We Do? 
	Slide 9: What Do We Do? 
	Slide 10: Approaches: Informal     vs     Formal
	Slide 11: Activity Data snapshot
	Slide 12: LPT CAP and Hub
	Slide 13: LPT Mental Health Hub
	Slide 14: How to refer
	Slide 15: Any questions?


	Homelessness (Health) JSpNA - Presentation
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: What is a Health Needs Assessment?
	Slide 3: Why do we need an HNA?
	Slide 4: Why is homelessness important to our work in Public Health?
	Slide 5: Not everyone experiences health equally
	Slide 6: The Kings Fund specifically highlights people experiencing homelessness as a group at risk of inequalities:
	Slide 7: Content of the document
	Slide 8: Who is at risk? 
	Slide 9: Who is at risk? - Leicester
	Slide 10: Why homeless individuals are at risk of poor health outcomes
	Slide 11: Level of Need: Prevalence
	Slide 12: Level of need: Health Needs/Prevalence Patient experience at GP/ access to healthcare
	Slide 13: Level of Need: Health Needs/Prevalence Mental Health
	Slide 14: Level of need: Health Needs/Prevalence Physical Health
	Slide 15: Level of need: Support needs of accommodation service users
	Slide 16: Level of Need: Healthcare Services
	Slide 17: Stakeholder Engagement
	Slide 18: Stakeholder Engagement
	Slide 19: Stakeholder Engagement 
	Slide 20: Stakeholder Engagement 
	Slide 21: Stakeholder Engagement
	Slide 22: Projected housing needs
	Slide 23: Unmet Needs, Gaps and Recommendations

	homelessness-jspna-2024
	CONTENTS
	Abbrevations
	Glossary
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	AIMS OF THE JOINT SPECIFIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSpNA)
	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Defining Homelessness
	1.2 Legislation, Policy, Guidance, and local strategies
	1.2.1 Legislation
	Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977:
	(Part 7) Housing Act 1996:
	Homelessness Act 2002 and the Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) (England) Order 2002:
	Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (and Duty to Refer)
	Domestic Abuse Act 2021
	Health and Care Act 2022

	1.2.2 Policy
	1.2.3 Guidance
	1.2.4 Local strategies


	2.0  WHO’S AT RISK AND WHY?
	2.1 Who is at risk of homelessness
	2.2 why homeless individuals are at risk of poor health outcomes

	3.0 THE LEVEL OF NEED IN THE POPULATION
	3.1 prevalence
	3.1.1 Rough Sleeping
	3.1.2 Known to local authority – HOMELESS PREVENTION AND SUPPORT
	Demographic breakdown

	3.1.3 kNOWN TO LOCAL AUTHORITY – DOMESTIC ABUSE SERVICES
	3.1.4 known to primary care
	3.1.5 Overcrowding
	3.1.6 Concealed households
	3.1.7 known through “Everyone In” Initiative during the covid-19 pandemic
	3.1.8 Sofa Surfing

	3.2 Health Needs/ prevalence
	3.2.1 Patient experience at GP & wIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH
	3.2.2 Mental Health
	Support needs of accommodation service users

	3.2.3 Physical Health
	Substance misuse


	3.3 Health care service use

	4.0 LOCAL STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
	4.1 Study Design and Methodology
	4.2 Recruitment of Participants
	4.3 Summary of Key Themes
	4.3.1 Service Provision and Quality
	4.3.2 Attitudes and Feelings
	4.3.3 Service Barriers and Gaps
	4.3.4 Individual, Structural and/or Systemic Factors
	4.3.5 Challenges
	4.3.6 Substance Use
	4.3.7 Policy Changes
	4.3.8 Integrated Care Approach


	5.0 LOCAL SERVICES
	5.1 Housing Support
	Housing Options Service
	Tenancy Management/Supporting Tenants and Residents (STAR)
	Floating Support – P3
	Outreach Support Service
	Transitions Support
	Rough Sleeping Navigators
	Multi-Agency Street Lifestyles Group
	Changing Futures
	Community safety team
	Action Homeless
	One Roof Leicester
	Help the Homeless
	The Centre Project
	The Bridge (Homeless to Hope)
	The Dawn Centre
	YMCA
	YMCA - The Y support & YASC
	Action Homeless Flora Lodge
	EMH Maple park
	Framework Housing Association
	Park Lodge
	Nottingham Community Housing Association’s Heathfield House
	HITS HomeS Trust
	Homegroup Leicester - Unity House
	Reaching people
	Provision from Faith Groups – Food, drink and warm spaces

	5.2 Healthcare Services
	5.2.1 Primary Care – GP
	5.2.2 Secondary Care – University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL)
	Duty to Refer
	Hospital Housing and Enablement Service

	5.2.3 Substance Use
	Turning Point
	Dear Albert
	No.5 recovery hub

	5.2.4 Mental Health
	Homeless Mental Health Service
	Action Homeless Community Transitions Project

	5.2.5 Health Visiting for Families with Children under 5
	Leicester Partnership Trust - Healthy Together Service
	Project Light


	5.3 Integrating the Approach Across Organisations

	6.0 PROJECTED HOUSING NEED AND OUTCOMES
	6.1 Housing Landscape
	6.1.1 Housing Stock
	6.1.2 Home Ownership affordability
	6.1.3 Social Housing
	Housing management
	Council Housing Evictions

	6.1.4 Private Rented Sector

	6.2 Cost of Living Crisis

	7.0 UNMET NEEDS AND GAPS
	Housing
	Understanding prevalence
	Health care Service Provision
	The Wider Determinants of Health/Wrap around Support and Services
	System working

	8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
	9.0 REFERENCES


	8 Selective Licensing
	Slide 1: Selective Licensing    Housing Scrutiny   12th November 2024
	Slide 2: Performance Metrics
	Slide 3: Applications received and progress towards target (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)
	Slide 4: Cumulative information – Applications, Inspections and Hazards  (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)
	Slide 5: Number of Hazards per Property  (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)
	Slide 6: Most Common Hazards Found (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)
	Slide 7: Impact of key dates and events on the applications
	Slide 8: Enforcement Actions – Disrepair and failure to license (Oct 2022 to Sept 2024)
	Slide 9: Expected number of applications for each area from approximately 8,000 combined total
	Slide 10: Drop-in sessions - for the digitally disadvantaged and those who want to talk!
	Slide 11: What are we doing?
	Slide 12: Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification
	Slide 13: Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification
	Slide 14: Photos of Hazards, Issues and Rectification
	Slide 15: The Selective Licensing Team’s work with the Fosse Neighbourhood Police won an award from the Leicestershire Police Problem Solving Awards.  

	9 Housing Safety
	10 Work Programme



